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Significant events in 2011SJ in brief

Profit for the Group. The Group reports a profit of SEK 36 million, 
down SEK 258 on the figure for 2010.

Punctuality. Punctuality is the most important promise we make to 
customers, and we continued to work on bedding down processes 
and routines to improve punctuality in 2011. In the latter part of the 
year, punctuality in our train services improved.

Investments. Investments in property, plant and equipment and in-
tangible non-current assets during the year totalled SEK 869 million 
(844), of which SEK 746 million (749) was in rolling stock.

Expansion of mandate in Mälardalen region. Following a new pro-
curement round, SJ was again engaged to operate the Sörmlands-
pilen and Nyköpingsbanan services until 2016.

X31. In an arbitration settlement, five model X31 trains were sold at 
a loss to Skånetrafiken and Hallandstrafiken at the end of March.

Study. In March, the government commissioned Trafikverket to con-
duct a study of the need for an increase in capacity of the railway sys-
tem. A final report from the study is to be delivered to the government 
in February 2012.

Ådalsbanan. Start-up of services on the Ådalsbanan line between 
Sundsvall and Långsele has been delayed until August 2012.

Company’s Board of Directors and Management. At SJ’s Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) held on 28 April, a new Board of Directors was 
elected. On the occasion of an Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) 
held on 25 August, Jan Sundling was elected to serve as new Chair-
man of SJ AB. On 29 November, Caroline Sundewall resigned from 
the Board. Jan Forsberg will leave the position of CEO of SJ AB  
in summer 2012.

Significant events in 2011SJ in brief

 SJ provides 55 percent of all train services in Sweden.

 Every day, 100,000 people travel by SJ on 700 trains.

 SJ has about 4,000 employees.

 SJ’s fleet consists of 121 electric locomotives, 113 
fast train sets and 498 passenger carriages.

 Financial results for 2011 showed a net turnover of 
SEK 8 billion. The Group’s equity/assets ratio was 
49.6 percent. The return on equity amounted to 0.8 
percent.

 All travel by SJ trains in Sweden is marked with the 
ecolabel Good Environmental Choice. SJ purchases 100 
percent renewable electricity from hydropower and 
wind power sources to operate its trains in Sweden.
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• Net turnover amounted to SEK 8,038 million (8,627).

•  As a result of not tendering for certain procured services, SJ lost 
SEK 650 million in income; in addition, a loss of confidence in 
the rail system led to a slight fall in passenger numbers.

• The Group’s operating profit was SEK 60 million (439). Profit 
for the year totalled SEK 36 million (294). 

• In the early part of the year, severe winter conditions, service 
disruptions and service reductions fed through into lower in
come and higher costs for maintenance, replacement servic
es and travel time guarantee compensation.

•  As a result of a settlement with the Tåg i Bergslagen regional 
train service, SJ incurred a cost of SEK 150 million.

•  In the latter part of the year, profit for the Group showed a 
positive trend. 

•  In the last quarter, profit was SEK 170 million higher than in 
the preceding year, as a result of particular attention being 
focused on active cost and resource management. 

•  Costs for damaged vehicles, travel time guarantee compen
sation and replacement services also fell during the latter 
part of the year.

Profit for the year

 SEK 36M

Equity/assets ratio

49,6%

Financials 2011

Key ratios for Group, amounts in SEK million

Financial ratios 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net turnover 8,038 8,627 8,741 8,992 8,230

Operating profit 60 439 629 795 814

Operating margin (percent) 0.7 5.0 7.2 8.8 9.9

Profit for the year 36 294 460 525 493

Return on equity (percent) 0.8 6.7 11.2 13.5 13.8

Equity/assets ratio (percent) 49.6 48.4 41.0 40.4 36.6

Investments 869 858 595 1,011 380

Average number of employees 4,041 4,262 4,439 4,539 4,053

Key operating ratios

SJ supply and load factor 

Passenger kilometres (millions) 6,431 6,774 7,038 7,156 6,467

Seat kilometres (millions) 12,056 12,534 12,915 13,263 12,510

Load factor (percent) 53 54 54 54 52

Number of journeys (millions) 31.1 37.8 36.3 40.1 38.4

Investeringar 858 1011 380
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The year was dominated by efforts to reestablish trust in SJ’s operations, in which 
the focus was on quality and reliability in our train services. 

and improvements 
Focus on trust 

Early 2011 was a challenging time at SJ, and our 
activities were affected both operationally and 
financially. During the first few months of the 

year, snow and freezing temperatures held Sweden in 
an unyielding grip. The rail network was exposed to 
severe strains, leading to major disruptions. Many of 
our locomotives and carriages suffered damage, and 
we were forced to reduce services. Our customers 
suffered from delays and cancelled services. Our costs, 
including extra train maintenance, replacement 
services and travel time guarantee compensation 
increased to a total of around SEK 200 million.

Later in the spring, the service situation stabilised 
then gradually improved over the rest of the year. This 
development is gratifying and demonstrates that our 
business not only has the capacity to recover, but also 
the vigour to restore profitability. I would especially like 
to highlight our performance in the last quarter of the 
year, in which we even delivered a profit on a par with 
SJ’s record years 2007 and 2008. To be able to round 
off the year in this way feels both satisfying and like a 
hard won victory for everyone at SJ who has worked so 
diligently to improve our operations. It is also the result 
of the efficiency programme “Competitiveness 2010”, 
which ended in 2011 and which reduced SJ’s costs by 
about SEK 550 million.

Trust and punctuality
One area that we focused very strongly on during the 
year was restoring trust in SJ. As a result of two ex
treme winters of service disruptions, many customers 
have begun to doubt not only us but also the railway 
system in general. Against that background, we have 
conducted major communication campaigns to set out 
clearly what we are doing to improve our performance. 
My feeling is that we have got our messages across and 
that SJ has had a positive response from customers. 
They appreciate that we are clear about our ambitions, 
but at the same time expect us to implement fully the 
improvements that are promised.

Present improvements are summarised in our 
“80point” programme. The main points are improved 
punctuality, better customer service and higherquality 

service information, as well as new and more efficient 
routines during service disruptions. It is equally im
portant to secure the technical quality of our vehicles 
to enable us at all times to offer train journeys in line 
with the service programme promised.

Among the improvements we are striving to 
achieve, I would particularly like to emphasise our ef
forts to improve punctuality. Our goal is for 95 percent 
of all trains to arrive and depart on time. In 2011, nine 
out of ten trains arrived on time. We are aware that 
punctuality is by a long way the most important meas
ure of quality to passengers, and for that reason we are 
mobilising our forces in this particular area. In con
crete terms, this means that we have, for example, im
proved the technical reliability of our trains, increased 
the margins in our service programme, recruited more 
employees, improved service information and invested 
in new trains. We have already expanded our service 
management to include a special Customer Group, 
which focuses exclusively on mitigating the effects of 
disruptions. This is done by quickly dealing with ques
tions about, for example, replacement services, re
freshments, accommodation and information. As a 
 result, attention to basic quality also feeds back into 
the issue of trust. By accepting clearlydefined respon
sibility and satisfying customer requirements in the 
event of service disruptions, trust in SJ and our work 
will be strengthened.

Ensure availability
Infrastructure issues have also been the subject of in
tensive debate during the year.  SJ is extremely de
pendent on a high standard being maintained in the 
Swedish railway network. In the current situation, how
ever, maintenance requirements are considerable. 
Trafikverket’s (the Swedish Transport Administration) 
own analysis indicates that around SEK 30 billion 
would be needed over a tenyear period to tackle the 
shortcomings. We welcome the debate that is taking 
place and take a positive view of the SEK 800 million in 
extra funds granted to Trafikverket in 2011. For the 
period up to 2013, a further SEK 3.6 billion has been 
granted for infrastructure investments. We hope and 
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believe that this will improve availability, which will not 
only favour SJ but also bolster the credibility of the entire 
railway sector.

New fast trains
Among our own investments, I would particularly like to 
single out our new fast trains. On February 6, 2012, the SJ 
3000 set out on its maiden journey, from Stockholm to 
Sundsvall. This brought into service Sweden’s most upto
date train, and expanded our fast train capacity by 30 per
cent. The new trains feature an infotainment system com
prising both entertainment and information facilities. The 
SJ 3000 is by far Sweden’s most ecofriendly train and, 
when the day comes, will be 98 percent recyclable. This 
strengthens the environmental profile that is a critically, im
portant competitive factor to SJ and to rail travel in general.

Another new development in 2012 will be the expan
sion of our fast train service to Norrland, with the opening 
of the Stockholm–Umeå line. We are also looking into the 
possibilities of developing rail connections with the 
 Continent. By cooperating with other train companies in 
ticket sales and destinations, we will be able to create new, 
attractive and valueformoney options to travel out in 
 Europe. One important component of this venture will be 
SJ’s hub in Copenhagen, where we have been operating 
our own travel centre since 2010. In another type of part
nership, we have developed combined travel options with 
airline operators. We are increasingly seeing air travel as 
complementary rather than competitive, with possibilities 
for combined travel concepts that will benefit customers.

Another handy service that we developed in 2011 was 
a mobile app that makes it considerably simpler for cus
tomers to get information about rail and their other travel 
arrangements. We also launched a budget price calendar 
for people who want to find the cheapest rail option quick
ly and simply.

Promising opportunities
2012 will be the first year of full deregulation for the 
Swedish rail market. This may bring increased competi
tion to SJ, but equally opportunities and the possibility of 
expansion into new markets. One example could be re
gional services, where we will now be able to conduct op
erations under our own management. This is just one of 
the opportunities for growth that will open up to us in the 
future. Nevertheless, the greatest potential that I identify is 
in our existing longdistance and regional train services. 
Here, we will increasingly focus on the basic quality of be
ing able to grow and continue to develop rail travel in a 
way that benefits us all.

In conclusion, I would like to thank you, our custom
ers, for the trust you have placed in us, and I hope that SJ 
will continue to see you using all our services. I would also 
like to thank all of our employees for the huge efforts they 
have made in the past year.

Jan Forsberg, CEO
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The train – a winning  

What are the most important future issues facing SJ 
and the rail industry in general?

What we see in Sweden today is above all that the big 
city regions are growing, more and more people are 
commuting to work and the volume of travel in general 
is rising. In this situation, the train must retain its place 
as a competitive option. At the same time, we live in an 
age of deregulation and increased competition, in 
which it is sometimes said that the competition for cus
tomers is between different rail operators. But that 
does not accurately summarise the situation, in any 
case not yet. The competition for customers is more 
about making rail travel sufficiently attractive com
pared to other modes of transport. The train should be 
part of the customer’s journey, which perhaps starts by 
car, goes on by train and then also includes other 
modes of transport. In this chain, the train cannot be 
the weak link, but provide a natural choice of attractive 
products and concepts as seen by the customer. This 
principle should set its stamp on SJ’s way of working 
and communicating with its customers.

SJ is focusing very closely on improving punctuality. 
What’s your take on this issue?
It’s actually quite simple. Our customers want to travel 
between A and B in a safe, reliable and costefficient 
way. So SJ has to set its priorities accordingly. Our task 
is to function as a serviceled business, and the best 
service we can provide is to offer a safe and punctual 
system of transport. To meet this goal, our focus on 
quality must characterise the organisation, with all that 
this implies in the way of regular surveys, followups 
and unrelenting improvement initiatives. Against that 
background, the point is to be more “industrial” in the 
way we operate. And that does not necessarily mean 
changing things; what it does mean is that what we are 
already doing can be improved.

As I see it, punctuality is at the heart of our work on 
quality. This work is then then combined with good 
service, friendly customer care, complete, clean trains 
and all the other competitive advantages. Of course, we 

can try and improve punctuality in other ways, for 
example by investing our way out of the problems and 
tackling the shortages of capacity in the railway 
system. But that takes time, and SJ already needs to 
demonstrate to our customers today that the train is an 
attractive option. That’s why we have to deliver more 
and perform better under the circumstances that exist 
now.

Trust in SJ was also in the spotlight in 2011 – what 
are your thoughts about this?
I believe that SJ basically is both a wellknown and 
popular organisation. We are building up this apprecia
tion among 100,000 customers every day by doing a 
good job out there. We have an organisation that knows 
what is required and so we need to supply those in
volved with the tools and resources needed to fulfil 
their function. We know that an awful lot of people want 
to use the train, not least because it is such an eco
friendly alternative. But if there are shortcomings in re
liability of service, this will of course also affect custom
er trust. When that happens, it is important to find 
ways of making improvements. So we at SJ also have to 
act, which means we must be bold and selfcritical and 
have the courage to make improvements.

What do you identify as the biggest challenges for 
the rail industry?
One of our challenges is to improve how the various op
erators in the rail system work together. 
Put simply, this system is made up of two parts – the in
frastructure and the train services that we and other op
erators offer. Obviously, the operators have to compete 
with each other through their services, but where infra
structure issues are concerned, we have to cooperate. In 
order to get better at this, we will have to practise, for ex
ample, coordinating timetables, payment systems and 
ticketing etc.

Some people say it was better in the past, where 
everything worked together within one and the same 
organisation, but that’s not true. On the contrary, 

concept for the customer 

Comments from the Chairman 
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profitability, punctuality and safety was lower in those 
days. In addition, the old system would not have coped 
with the volume growth we’ve observed in train 
services. However, with the breakup of the industry we 
need to spend a lot of time on managing the interfaces 
between the different parts. Any company in the 
railway system that does not take this on board runs 
the risk of damaging their customers service levels.

Another challenge is that the rail industry must 
stand out as an attractive investment opportunity. 

Both politicians and taxpayers must perceive the 
railway to be important and successful so that they are 
prepared to support us. Here, too, I think that we’re on 

track. This is confirmed by the increased levels of 
infrastructure investments now being made to create a 
sustainable system of logistics. Over the next few years, 
around SEK 4.5 billion extra is to be invested in the 
railways. 

In my mind, that reflects that people believe in the 
railway system, in the activities that we operators 
conduct and in the transport needs that will have to be 
satisfied if we want to build a successful and competi
tive Sweden.

Jan Sundling, Chairman of the Board



The action programme launched in 2010 was brought to completion in 2011. The 
measures taken aimed to equip and prepare SJ far better not only for any severe win
ters that may lie ahead but also for other major traffic disruptions.

work on improvement
Two years of 

 SJ’s most important actions:

The past two winters were a strain for many of our 
customers, who suffered from delays and service 
cancellations. This also created major challeng

es to the rail industry in general and SJ 
in particular.

Ultimately, the issue is about be
ing able to deliver on our customer 
promise of punctuality. 

Passengers must be able to trust 
that they will arrive on time. For that 
reason, the most important initiatives 
on every level have been aimed at re
ducing the risks of delays.

In 2010 and 2011, we invested 
around SEK 200 million on measures 
to improve our winter performance to 
enable us to take better care of pas
sengers during major disruptions and 
to develop other aspects of our emer
gency response capacity.

Focus on consideration
A journey with SJ should be pleasant 
and from 

this perspective  our improvement 
programme comprises 80 actions 
to introduce improvements in 
five categories: Service pro
gramme, Service information, 
Customer Services, Service man

agement and Roliing stock tech
nology. 

Despite every effort, situations of 
disruption can still arise and then it is 
important for us to continue to take care 
of our passengers in the best way. “Sat
isfied customer – my responsibility” is a 
motto that applies to everyone at SJ. It 
makes clear that every employee has a 
responsibility for ensuring the customer 
is satisfied, and is empowered to make it 
happen. During the year, a large number 
of emergency management exercises 
were carried out with the aim of better 
equipping employees at the frontline. 
New roles and areas of responsibility 
were developed. As a result, the service 
managers, who are responsible with 

 Better service information via SMS messages 
and improved availability via our new app.

 Extra staffing and extended opening hours 
at stations and in travel centres where 
required.

 Better facilities for taking care of our pas
sengers during situations of disruption.

 Emergency response organisation in opera
tion all year round.

 Expansion of deicing capacity.

 Wider train service margins built into the 
timetable, reducing sensitivity to disruption.

 Expansion of lathe capacity for repairing 
damaged wheels.

 Technical improvements to SJ 2000 and 
X40 bringing increased reliability and less 
winter damage.

Approxi- mately 150,000 users 
have down-loaded the 

“My Journey” app.
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their colleagues for onboard service, acquired greater 
scope and better facilities for assisting customers.

 
Service management
The result of the service management initiative has been 
improved productivity and faster information to cus
tomers and employees. The organisation has been bol
stered and can provide 24hour emergency response.
 
Customer Group
The responsibility of members of the Customer Group 
is during disruptions to ensure that passengers are 
taken care of in the best possible way. Their job is to as
sist and support their colleagues on board the trains in 
for example, quickly developing arrangements for in
formation and replacement services. The most impor
tant purpose of the Customer Group is to ensure that 
customer services is maintained irrespective of the de
gree of severity of the disruption.

Service information
In order to bring the right information at the right time, 
using the right channel and on the right occasion SJ has 
focused strongly on further improvement and develop
ment of channels for service information. To improve the 
quality and availability of this information, SJ, Trafikver
ket and industry representatives are working together to 
find solutions and common areas of endeavour. 

For example, SMS text alerts are now being used to 
advise customers of changes in services. Two million 
text messages were sent out in 2011, 1.8 million more 
than in 2010. In September, our “My journey” app was 
launched, enabling passengers themselves to find 

service information on various routes. We have also de
veloped the information carried on the sj.se website, 
and customers can now subscribe to SMS notifications. 

All onboard personnel carry smart phones and 
during the year SJ developed its own internal app as a 
further aid to uptotheminute communication. This 
enables all employees to receive regular updates on, 
for example, the service situation and connections.

Our vehicles – better winter performance
Following the extreme winters of recent years, we have 
reviewed the winter performance of our trains. In 2011, 
a further SEK 150 million was invested in improving 
the operating characteristics of the vehicles. Toilets and 
water supply, as well as doors and steps, have been in
sulated against the cold. Heating has been installed on 
the steps to prevent them from freezing solid. Capacity 
for dealing with wheel damage has been expanded in 
the engineering workshops. As a result of investments 
in our deicing facilities, we can now also deice several 
trains at the same time.

Reductions in service programme
SJ has developed an action plan for adapting services 
in extreme weather conditions. On receipt of informa
tion from SMHI and decisions from Trafikverket or 
other public authorities, we can quickly adapt our serv
ices. For example, by reducing the number of depar
tures, lengthening trains to accommodate more cus
tomers and switching to a twohourly service. The re
sult is higher margins and more trains arriving on time. 
All operators providing rail services have similar action 
plans.
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SJ operates with the customer’s best interests at heart. Consideration is a guiding principle 

for us, as is the ability to meet and ultimately try to exceed customer expectations. Achieving 

this might take more time, but the goal is set and the driving forces behind achieving it are 

the innovation, consideration and responsibility that our employees show in their daytoday 

work. SJ shall contribute constructively to solving problems and achieving improvements 

that are beneficial to train users.

Core values

To get everyone on board

Efficient and ecofriendly travel 

SJ’s vision encapsulates the scope and quality we intend to be associated with. The vision 

also signals consideration and the desire to take care of our customers when they choose 

SJ for safe, reliable and comfortable travel. This may be for work or leisure, and in some 

cases travel can be part of a greater experience. Irrespective of occasion or budget, we have 

a number of options that get customers to want to take the train in general and choose SJ 

in particular.

Vision

Business concept

SJ offers modern travel that is practical and efficient for the customer, as well as competi

tive and climatesmart compared with other modes of transportation. We ensure efficiency 

through continual development of products and services, as well as investments in new 

and improved trains. Development is also based on different forms of collaboration, where 

partners – who broaden and complement our own offering – are playing an increasingly 

important role. Efficiency also includes added environmental values, in which the sustain

ability of rail travel is helping to further boost SJ’s competitiveness.

Innovation, Consideration and 
 Responsibility
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and Expansion
Quality, Efficiency 

I n order to achieve commercial objectives set, SJ 
has developed strategies in three areas – Quality, Ef
ficiency and Expansion. Quality is based on operat

ing via reliable and stable procedures, in which re
sources are employed in an optimal way and deliveries 
to customers are always characterised by high preci
sion. The principles of our approach to efficiency are 
concepts such as load factor, productivity and profit
ability, which ensures that profitability targets are 
achieved and future investment plans can be imple
mented. Our expansion will take place primarily within 
the scope of our existing offering, under our own aus
pices or in association with selected partners. Through 
this expansion, SJ’s business volumes will increase 
while we are developing new products and services.

Quality
Punctuality is by far the most important issue to our 
customers and as such is a main aspect of SJ’s focus 
on quality. To ensure quality in this area, continuous 
improvements are made to the routines and proced
dures that affect whether our trains depart and arrive 
at the time promised. These measures include not only 
areas that SJ can influence directly but also separate 
improvement projects in partnership with Trafikverket. 

SJ is also required to provide a high level of service 
and professional customer care to ensure that journeys 
with us are felt to be both safe and pleasant. We put a 
lot of work into communication and information so that 
both customers and employees always have access to 
relevant and uptodate information. In this work, we 
employ the latest technology, which enables informa
tion always to be available in a way that suits the re
ceiver and via the channels that our customers prefer 
to use. While SJ has made great progress in customer 
communication, this is an area that we are continuing 
to develop and improve. 

Current quality initiatives:
• Programme to deal with failings in punctuality.
•  Initiatives to optimise employee and vehicle planning, 

enabling us to increase the quality of delivery.
•  Communication projects via the sj.se website, apps, 

SMS services and Facebook and Twitter feeds.
•  Actions to ensure the reliability of the train fleet, in the 

short and long terms.

Efficiency
Efficiency is the determining factor in enabling to com
pete and operate rail services profitably in the long 
term. It is also a prerequisite for us to achieve our 
 targets in terms of quality and future expansion. In 
practice, this means effectively using and adapting all 
production resources to customer requirements, 24 
hours a day. It is equally important that we should be 
cost efficient in other parts of the organisation, to help 
make SJ financially strong and prepared for the invest
ments to be made in the future.

Current efficiency initiatives:
•  A programme intended in 2012 to reduce costs by at 

least SEK 300 million, with full impact in 2013.
•  Maximise vehicle utilisation for every given service 

programme.
•  Introduction of new financial control structure, plus 

balanced scorecard for the entire organisation.

Operating efficiently will create opportunities for im
proving and developing the business and our service of
ferings, and, in doing so, create customer satisfaction.

Expansion
By expanding in both new and existing markets, we are 
meeting customer needs, growing our competitiveness 
and improving SJ’s profitability. We are developing and 
enhancing our concepts and launching new initiatives 
for new business and attractive customer offerings. In 
the Swedish market, we are taking aim at increased ca
pacity, which may also mean expansion into new mar
kets. Beyond Scandinavia, our growth will be linked to 
strategic alliances with selected partners. SJ is also fo
cusing on more proactive customer development and 
sales in order to increase volumes in our main segments, 
business and leisure passengers, as well as commuters.

Current initiatives in expansion:
•  Launch of 20 new, latestdesign fast trains in 2012, 

which will pave the way to expansion of fast services 
in Sweden.

•  Evaluation of new alliances both in and outside Sweden.
•  Expansion of selfservice, for example via the sj.se 

website and ticket machines.

SJ has selected three strategic areas to work on in order to live up to passenger expec
tations, but also to ensure that our owners’ requirements for the business are satisfied.
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When SJ customers rank what is most important to them, punctuality always comes first. 
That is why it also lies at the heart of our work on quality assurance, in which we focus 
closely on securing the routines and procedures that improve punctuality in our services.

Prioritised punctuality

Being able to rely on their trains arriving on time 
is of crucially important to SJ customers. This 
makes punctuality SJ’s most important cus

tomer promise by a wide margin. That train services 
should be perceived as reliable is important not only to 
individuals but also businesses, organisations and other 
players in the community. They are all dependent on 
good communications and an efficient infrastructure.

Different reasons
SJ’s target for punctuality in its train services is 95 per
cent. According to the industrywide standard adopted 
in Sweden, fast trains must arrive within 15 minutes of 
the time indicated. The requirements are tougher for 
regional services. In this case, trains must arrive no 
later than five minutes after the time indicated in order 
to be deemed punctual.

There are many different reasons why delays arise. In 
SJ’s case, roughly two thirds of all delays are linked to ex
ternal factors that are beyond our direct control. These 
are mostly related to limitations in the infrastructure. Rail 
traffic has been growing sharply for several years, but ex
pansion of the track system and other infrastructure ele
ments have not kept up with this growth. With higher vol
umes and more trains having to coexist out on the track, 
there is a greater risk of queuing and undesired interrup
tions in the service.

At the same time, approximately a third of all delays 
are for reasons directly within our control. SJ has focused 
substantial resources on measures to improve aspects of 
its own organisation. One of the most important measures 
has been to improve planning. In turn this should deliver 
lasting results and ensure that over time punctuality will 
be in line with our targets and customer expectations.

Targeted measures
In the harsh winters of 2010 and 2011, punctuality in 
our rail services deteriorated. Measured over the whole 
year 2011, punctuality for fast services averaged 89 
percent and for regional services 88 percent. Punctual
ity is recorded for all trains, 24 hours a day, all year 
round. Based on the values recorded, SJ can carry out 
analyses and institute the appropriate measures. 
Within the framework of our improvement programme, 
we are focusing on the following issues, among others:
•  Vehicle planning helps to maintain a high quality of de

livery. Our internal routines and procedures are being 
reviewed to ensure that vehicles are used as efficiently 

as possible. For example, effective vehicle planning en
ables trains to be turned around smoothly and creates 
scope for the preparations and service initiatives neces
sary to prepare the train for receiving new passengers.

•  Departure punctuality is important since small delays 
at departure tend to create bigger delays later during 
the journey. For that reason, we make sure for example 
that the train leaves the depot and arrives at the plat
form on time, and that our employees have checked in 
and are ready for service. We are also reviewing rou
tines for catering and other ancillary services and are 
creating standard procedures.

•  Following the extreme winters of recent years, man
agement of service disruption has grown in import
tance. In both 2010 and 2011, we increased our ca
pacity and staffing levels during situations of disrup
tion. The results to date indicate that we have become 
faster and more efficient.

Cooperation important
We are working with Trafikverket and other players in 
order also to deal with external faults and shortcom
ings to the greatest extent possible. We regularly check 
with each other to try and resolve and prevent prob
lems that are related to the technical infrastructure.

SJ also cooperates with Trafikverket on targeted in
itiatives to improve punctuality in regional services in 
the Mälardalen area, central Sweden. Passengers large
ly use these services for commuting to work and are 
dependent on the train. In regional services, vehicle 
planning is one of the most important areas for im
provement measures. In concrete terms, the task is to 
ensure that supply equals demand throughout the 
 operating day.
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SJ punctuality in Fast Train and Regional services shows a positive 

trend in 2011, above all in the later part of the year.
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Our trains 

Our trains must be comfortable, reliable and safe, and they should enable people to 
use their travelling time for something useful, pleasant or productive.

Better, more comfortable trains

To assure the quality and reliability of locomotives 
and carriages, major initiatives are being imple-
mented. These consist of investments in brand-

new trains, such as the SJ 3000, as well as in mainte-
nance, service and upgrades to the existing fleet to en-
sure that it meets the requirements set for comfort, 
convenience and punctuality. 

We have developed procedures to obtain optimal 
logistical and process flows. Through preventive main-
tenance and regular upgrades, reliability has been im-
proved considerably. 

Compared to 2009, the total number of roliing 
stock malfunctions has fallen by two thirds. At the 
same time, the number of delay minutes attributable 
to roliing stock malfunctions has been cut by 75 per-
cent.

Efficient and fault-free
Major efforts are being made in the work of mainten-
ance and upgrades. In 2011 alone, around SEK 1 bil-
lion was invested in above all preventive maintenance. 
The objective is clear – our trains should spend as little 
time as possible in the repair workshop. When they are 
there, repair operations should be effective, so that the 
trains can be returned to service without delay. 
To meet this objective, we conducted a review of our 
workflows in 2010/2011 and introduced efficiency im-
provements. As a result, production capacity rose by 
around 40 percent and today we obtain much more 
maintenance for the resources deployed. 

As regards preventive maintenance, extra resources 
were focused on the SJ 2000. The number of rolling 
stock malfunctions was reduced, contributing to a sharp 
improvement in the reliability of fast train services. Com-
pared to 2010, the number of “service-halting” malfunc-
tions fell by 52 percent. Major actions taken include:
•  Replacement of electronics in drive systems for the 

trains
•  Securing of tilting system
•  Pantographs were equipped with auto cut-out, reduc-

ing the risk of damage to the overhead contact lines
•  Replacement of transformers, compressors and up-

grades to toilets and public address systems

All SJ 2000s were also equipped with “remote diagnos-
tics”. As a result, our maintenance specialists can 

monitor the trains during their journeys throughout the 
country, take readings from the various technical sys-
tems and plan maintenance accordingly. Our locomo-
tive-hauled trains were also uppgraded during 
2010/2011. The biggest programme was an upgrade 
of 160 passenger carriages at a cost of around SEK 
350 million. The investment provided better comfort 
including a new fabric covering for the seats, new light-
ing and renovation of the toilets; in addition all seats 
were equipped with power sockets.

Modern and comfortable
We are striving to meet various needs for additional 
services, to enable people to read, rest, work, browse 
the Internet or eat on board. As a result, the design, col-
our scheme, form, lighting and connecting areas in the 
cabins have to be adapted to make journeys a pleasant 
and usable time.

Our new SJ 3000 fast trains were placed in service 
in early 2012. The concept “a productive time on 
board” has undergone further development, providing 
passengers with access to updated travel information, 
better connection facilities and new entertainment 
services, including facilities for watching films and lis-
tening to radio. The next stage will be to investigate 
how we can develop this offering on our other trains.

Improvements
SJ 2000
•  Control malfunctions in the trains’ engines 

95 percent rectified
•  Rolling stock-related delay minutes reduced 

by 70 percent
• Pantographs replaced

Passenger carriage fleet
•  160 locomotive-hauled trains uppgraded for 

improved comfort
• Pantographs replaced

X40
•  Winter insulation for internal and external 

doors
• Replacement of nosecones
• Improvements to toilet system
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Our trains 

Better, more comfortable trains

SJ trains
38 x SJ 2000s
20 x SJ 3000s
48 x multiple units
45 x locomotivehauled units
9 x sleeper and couchette cars
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The SJ 3000, is specially designed for medium
distance services. The train will be used on the 
routes from Stockholm to Östersund, Sundsvall, 

Gävle, Falun and Karlstad. In the long term, the train 
will also serve the routes to Umeå, Jönköping and 
Uddevalla. The SJ 3000 is capable of accelerating and 
braking quickly and as such is the type of train best 
suited to routes with many halts.
 
Sustainability
The SJ 3000 is Sweden’s most ecofriendly train. The ma
terials used are recyclable and have been developed to 
meet the latest environmental requirements. Every car
riage is equipped with recycling units for presorted waste. 
The train consumes minimal energy and returns 12 per
cent of the energy it uses to the national grid. LED lighting 
on board reduces electricity consumption. When the time 
comes to scrap the train, 98 percent will be recycled.

Comfort and service
In the SJ 3000 concept, we have focused on conven
ience, comfort and customer service. A spacious car
riage with a new type of seat offers increased legroom 
and extra luggage space for every seat. Every seat has 
been equipped with a power socket to enable custom
ers to work or relax with their laptop. The trains have a 
Nordic look with the SJ colour scheme, grey and silver. 
Vestibules are generously dimensioned and are 
equipped with digital screens displaying information 
about the journey. A special mobile phone corner is 
provided to cater to the need for onboard phone calls. 
The toilets are spacious. The SJ 3000 is based on the 
same service concept as the SJ 2000, with inseat serv
ice in first class and a wellstocked bistro.

New information and entertainment system
Infotainment is a new system comprising information 

modern train
Sweden’s most 

SJ’s new fast train, the SJ 3000, went into service at yearend. 
It is Sweden’s most modern and most ecofriendly train.

Facts about the SJ 3000 
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and entertainment facilities. It is distributed via digital 
screens in the vestibules, as well as via the Web portal 
which is accessed from the passenger’s own laptop. 
The system provides customers with updated service 
information, including times for arrivals and connec
tions. Via their laptops, customers can obtain more 
detailed service information, and can also choose 
from a wide selection of films and radio stations etc.

Access for all
The carriages are equipped with a centrally located 
wheelchair lift at ground level. At a simple push of a but
ton, it raises and rotates the wheelchair. As a result, the 
wheelchair passenger can board the train entirely inde
pendently. The gangways are wider and the carriages 
have been designed to accommodate two wheelchairs/
Permobils. Another adaptation is extrawide toilets with 
turning space for wheelchairs. Modified spotlights in the 

ceiling provide better lighting for the visually impaired, 
and the seats feature Braille guides. The SJ 3000 not 
only increases passenger capacity but also enhances 
the travel experience.

Red Dot Design Award
The Red Dot Design Award is one of the bestknown de
sign competitions in the world. The SJ 3000 was award
ed the “Red Dot High Design Quality” distinction in the 
personal transport category. In all, 1,800 manufacturers 
from 58 countries presented 4,515 products in the dif
ferent categories. The various entries were judged by 30 
different experts making up the international jury.

Facts about the SJ 3000 



Contact with SJ should be a positive experience from the first meeting until arrival at 
the journey destination. Available, committed and responsible – that’s how we want 
customers to perceive SJ employees. As a result, we focus on areas such as service 
and customer care. 

     a difference
Service that makes 

Customer care is an issue that affects all of our em
ployees in contact with customers – on board the 
trains, in our travel centres and on the phone. For 

that reason it is important that everyone in contact with 
customers in their daytoday work should be equipped 
to help make the passenger’s experience of SJ the best 
possible. The “Satisfied customer – my responsibility” 

motto at SJ makes it clear that everyone is responsible 
for the customer experience. In our dealings with pas
sengers, we must show ourselves as being available and 
service minded. Our customers must feel that they are 
taken notice of and are well looked after when they trav
el with us.

One of the train’s unique advantages is that 
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Service and customer care 



passengers can use their travelling time as they wish, 
for reading, resting, working, browsing the Internet or 
eating. With this in mind, we are working on improving 
the onboard experience of passengers, whether they 
are travelling on business or for leisure purposes. A 
friendly reception is an important factor in retaining 
customers and attracting new ones.

Finding the right solution
Interaction with the customer is a crucial part of a trav
el company’s business. In our work on service, the cus
tomer and the customer’s needs take centre stage. We 

must be avail
able and making 
contact with us 
must be easy. We 
must also be 
clear about our 
responsibilities 
and act openly 
and construc
tively in dealing 
with questions 
and any prob
lems. To enable 

us to respond rapidly and in a solutionled way, our 
employees must work to clearlydefined mandates. 
Everyone must be empowered to take responsibility.

We have striven to clearly define our roles in inter
action with the customer. We have developed new 
channels for reaching the customer directly and have 
expanded our technical facilities in order to provide rel
evant and clear information during the journey. 

Employee and leadership training
To create a consensus on customer care and service, SJ 
has implemented a number of changes aiming to im
prove the organisation, develop leadership and sup
port employees. Many of our training initiatives focus 
on these areas. The objective of these training initia
tives is to ensure that all employees are on common 
ground with regard to service. Most of these initiatives 
are conducted at the SJ Service Academy.

Leadership is another important building block. 
We have started work on a leadership training pro
gramme for managers on the front line, with the em
phasis on coaching. 

Special courses have been conducted for our em
ployees in regional services since these differ from the 
longdistance services. Around 100 employees under
went this program, which provided special training in 
engaging in dialogue and problem solving. Customer 
surveys indicate that clear improvements have been 
achieved.

Focus on information and sales
In addition, access to the right information at the right 
time is a decisive factor in determining the ability to 

deliver good service. Service information must be fast, 
relevant and simple.

Since the beginning of December 2011, all on
board personnel have been issued with smartphones. 
In addition, SJ has developed an internal app that 
makes it simple to obtain information and maintain 
contact with SJ’s service management. The app not 
only aids during service disruptions but also improves 
access to important customer information such as ar
rival times, train changes, connections and so on. An
other important aspect of the passenger’s perception 
of service is being able to buy food and drink, news
papers and other items during the journey.

SJ Prio
Since its launch in 2007, the SJ customer loyalty pro
gramme SJ Prio has acquired around 800,000 mem

bers. SJ Prio members gain points from journeys and 
purchases; the points can be used for new trips, food in 
the bistro, use of the Internet on board or for offers 
from SJ or our partners. The principle is simple – the 
more you travel, the more benefits you get. Higher 
membership levels include benefits such as access to 
SJ’s lounges and free onboard coffee. One muchap
preciated partner is the Foundation Min Stora Dag (My 
Big Day), to which SJ and Prio members donate points 
so that seriously ill children can travel free by train to 
experiences arranged by the Foundation.

 SJ Prio – for extra value

 SJ Prio has three levels of membership: White, Grey 
and Black.

 The higher the level of membership, the better and 
more valuable are the benefits; these include quick 
ticket check via the SJ Prio card, a free Expressen 
newspaper on Sundays and a free cup of coffee during 
the journey.

 Membership offerings and details of the passenger’s 
point account and information on other various mem
bership issues and journeys are sent by email or can 
be accessed by logging into Min sida (My Page).

  We have around 1,200 employed 
train hosts.

  Our trains are staffed with a 
driver and between one and 
three train hosts, depending on 
type of service.

  Around 600 employees meet our 
customers in our travel shops 
and via Contact Centres.

 Other info
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We engage in dialogue every day with our customers to acquire information about 
needs, expectations and preferences. We then use the findings obtained as a basis for 
our efforts to improve.

the grades
Our customers set 

Every day, SJ’s employees come into contact with 
around 100,000 passengers. Conversations, 
meetings and dialogues take place every day on 

board trains, in our travel centres and via our call cen
tres. We listen to our customers and try to find out how 
they feel about their journeys. In this, SJ can follow up 
on how services are perceived and set the right prior
ities for developing our services. SJ attaches great im
portance to improving our services and offerings and 
to makeing them relevant, irrespective of age, budget 
or purpose of journey. 

SJ invests considerable resources on regular sur
veys of customer satisfaction via a CSI (Customer Sat
isfaction Index). In the course of 2011, 20,000 passen
gers took part in our surveys and gave their views on 
their experience of punctuality, comfort, information 
and service, as well as on how they perceive SJ and 
what expectations they have. The CSI for 2011 was 68 
(70), which is equivalent to a score of “Good”.

Frequent dialogue 
SJ also meets passengers, decisionmakers and other 
stakeholders regularly to discuss important issues. Their 
comments, ideas and complaints enable us to review 
the ways in which our operations can be improved. 

During the year, we went to meet regional and local 
representatives and opinion leaders to take part in ac
tive discussions on important issues in the regions and 
the counties. These meetings took place throughout 
Sweden, from Luleå in the north to Malmö in the south. 
The purpose was to discuss the needs of the regions as 
well as common issues and challenges.

SJ also maintains active dialogue with the Mälar
dalen commuter association, and as a result SJ took 
measures to improve, for example punctuality, the 
number of departures during peak hours and the 
number of trains available.

SJ at the forefront in the social media
Social media are becoming an increasingly important 
part of communication both for individuals and 

businesses. SJ is active in the social media. To us, the 
social media are important channels for ensuring open 
communications with our customers. Two years after 
launching on Twitter, we have acquired more than 
10,000 followers and are ranked as one of Sweden’s 
most important organisations within the social media. 
With our presence and availability via these channels, 
not only can we act quickly but also field comments, 
which helps to maintain open and transparent 
 dialogue.
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How we take care of our customers

SJ’s Twitter page. Twitter is one of the social media used 
by SJ to conduct active dialogue with its stakeholders.
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SJ Fast Train in 2 minutes

In a year, SJ fast 
trains travel a 
distance equal 
to nine times 
around the world

 Over a year, around nine million journeys are 
made on SJ’s fast trains.

 SJ operates fast trains on seven routes; the 
most popular of which is Stockholm-Gothen-
burg.

 SJ offers approximately 100 fast train depar-
tures every day, making around 30,000 depar-
tures per year.

  The fast train fleet consists of SJ 2000s, plus 
SJ 3000s from the start of 2012. On entering 
service, the SJ 3000s brought the number of 
train sets in our fleet to 60.

  SJ fast trains are powered by wind power and 
hydropower electricity and carry the eco-label 
Good Environmental Choice.

  SJ 3000 trains have the capacity for 245 
 passengers.
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fast train service departures took place in 2011 – 50 percent higher than in 2005

Commuting, 10 %
Business, 
   25 %

Leisure, 
65 %

Purpose of journeys by Fast Train

Resor per trafikslag 2011
Exklusive resor till och från Norrland

17   26   53   4
Flyg 17 %Buss 4 %

Tåg 26 %
Bil 53 %

28,595
Highlights
•  Preparations for the launch of the new SJ 3000 fast 

train, which entered service on 6 February 2012.

•  In 2011, the classic fast train concept was rebranded 
SJ 2000.

•  Improvements were introduced to the system for 
pre-ordering meals in both 1st and 2nd Class. Pas-
sengers can now enjoy the convenience of ordering 
food and drink when buying their tickets.

•  Sales in 1st Class increased. Customers can now 
order food and drink at their own seat.

•  To increase customer satisfaction, SJ introduced 
service managers on all fast trains. Service managers 
supervise and allocate work on board to ensure that 
we provide good service every journey.

•  Over the year as a whole, punctuality on SJ Fast Train 
services was measured at 89 percent.

•  The outcome for the SJ Service Index was 76, 
 corresponding to a score of “Very Good”.
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Bus, 3 % Air, 22 %

Rail, 23 %

Car, 52 %

Source: Turistdatabasen

Market shares for modes of transport in 
2011, journeys of more than 300 km



fast travel
SJ offers 

Stockholm is the hub of our fast train services, 
which extend to seven different routes over the 
whole country. The routes Stockholm–Gothen-

burg and Stockholm–Malmö–Copenhagen account for 
the major share of all SJ Fast Train services. We also 
operate fast trains between Stockholm and an addition-
al four destinations – Karlstad, Uddevalla, Östersund 
and Sundsvall, as well as on the route Copenhagen–
Malmö–Gothenburg. In 2012, our offering is being 
expanded to include the Stockholm–Falun route.

SJ Fast Train offers around 100 departures every 
weekday. This represents 30,000 fast train departures 
and approximately 9 million passenger journeys per 
year.

Increased passenger numbers
Travel on our fast trains has increased sharply. Between 
2005 and 2010, the increase was approximately 50 
percent. When the SJ 2000 was launched around 20 
years ago, it was a concept focusing clearly on business 
passengers and their needs. The services are now run 
24 hours a day, seven days a week, and as a result 
leisure passengers are increasingly travelling on fast 
train services. Travel patterns and passenger choices 
are influenced by price, travelling time and the comfort 
and service offered. Over the years, the number of leis-
ure passengers using fast train services has increased, 
and today they represent our biggest customer group.

On the longer-distance inland routes, SJ Fast Train is 
primarily competing with airline services and the car. 

SJ Fast Train services offer time-efficient journeys between the big cities in Swe-
den. The concept is our premium product - the fastest and most comfortable 
option for inland travel in Sweden - via a combination of high speed and few 
stops during journeys. Our best known fast train, the SJ 2000, was joined in 
2012 by the SJ 3000, enabling us to further advance our positions.
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The car is clearly the main competitor on journeys of 
more than 100 km. On several of SJ’s most important 
routes, our fast trains hold a strong position and are 
highly competitive. This applies, for example, to the 
Stockholm-Gothenburg route, where six out of ten pas-
sengers today opt for rail in preference to air. On this 
route, SJ offers the fastest average speed by a clear mar-
gin. Our customers travel from city centre to city centre, 
where journeys with SJ offer the added advantage that 
time on board can be used for working or relaxing.

Punctuality
To be an attractive option, punctuality is critical. 
For that reason, we focus actively on punctuality and 
our own capacity to influence service disruptions that 

may affect punctuality. We achieve this, for example via 
preventive maintenance and an intensified focus on 
departure punctuality. In two years, the total number of 
rolling stock malfunctions has fallen by two thirds. SJ 
also works with other parties who affect our delivery 
capability, where we ourselves only have an indirect 
influence. For example, we have developed our coopera-
tion with Trafikverket on issues affecting trafficability for 
SJ Fast Train services.

The new train
The fast train fleet consists of 40 SJ 2000s. In 2012, we 
are placing a further 20 modern trains in service, with 
the launch of the SJ 3000. With a top speed of 200 kph, 
every new train set has four carriages able to carry a 
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total of 245 passengers. The new trains are better de-
signed to meet the needs of functionally impaired pas-
sengers. A ground-level wheelchair lift is provided for 
wheelchair passengers, the vestibules are more gener-
ously dimensioned and information is provided in 
Braille.

The SJ 3000 consumes minimal energy and re-
turns 12 percent of the energy it uses to the national 
grid, making it 30 percent more energy-efficient than 
existing trains.

Introduction of the SJ 3000 increases our fast train 
capacity by about 30 percent. The number of trains 
and departures will therefore increase on the majority 
of our seven routes over the years ahead.

In addition to fast journeys, we must also offer 
journey times that can be used either for relaxation or 
working, with access to the Internet and e-mail and 
with mobile phone coverage. In 2012, facilities for on-
board entertainment and relaxation are being im-
proved. Infotainment is being introduced as part of the 
new SJ 3000 concept to further enhance the travel 
experience. Passengers can watch films on their own 
laptops and enjoy access to up-to-date travel informa-
tion, as well as bistro offers, via the on-board wireless 
network. Also included in the offering is a wide range of 
food and drink options.

The rail market
Today, there is already competition in the market for 
fast train services on the Stockholm–Malmö route. 
However, establishing a new train service – particularly 
a fast train service – is complicated and expensive. 
Foreign operators are faced with technical challenges if 
their vehicle fleet has to be adapted to Swedish condi-
tions. In addition, the track network is currently operat-
ing at relatively close to full capacity. As a result, there 
is relatively little likelihood that new rail operators will 
choose to invest and engage in any major ventures on 
the longer-distance inland routes.

Rail markets throughout Europe offer new opportu-
nities to SJ. For example, we established a presence at 
Copenhagen Central Station in 2011, in the form of our 
SJ travel centre. Today we are offering daily fast train 
departures between Stockholm and Copenhagen and 
between Copenhagen and Gothenburg. Our Copen-
hagen venture is strategically important to us, inas-
much as we have created a hub that in the long term 
can be used for further expansion into Europe.

SJ fast train routes

MalmöCopenhagen

Gothenburg

Stockholm

Uppsala

Gävle

Sundsvall

Härnösand
Åre

Östersund

Ljusdal

Bollnäs
Borlänge/Falun

Jönköping
Services scheduled to begin in April 2012

Uddevalla

Karlstad
Arvika

Halmstad

Umeå
Scheduled start of services in 2012

Services will terminate  
in April 2012
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SJ InterCity/Regional
in 2 minutes

 % of passengers on 
 regional services are 
 commuters, on their way 
to or from work

 Every day, around 50,000 people travel on 300 SJ 
Regional departures.

 In Stockholm/Mälardalen, approximately 15 mil-
lion journeys are made on SJ Regional services. 
Around half are between home and the work-
place.

 Within the TiM (Trafik i Mälardalen) collabora-
tion, SJ works in association with the regional 
transport authorities in east central Sweden on 
development of coordinated timetables and com-
mon ticketing systems in the region.

 Every day, SJ Regional operates around 40 depar-
tures in each direction between Stockholm and 
Uppsala.

 Modernisation of 160 passenger carriages for 
regional and InterCity services was completed 
during 2011. At the same time, work started on 
uppgrading of SJ’s X12 regional trains.

 SJ Regional services mostly use double-decker 
and locomotive-hauled trains.
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SJ InterCity/Regional

Highlights
•  SJ has an objective to expand and develop its regional 

services. In 2011, services were increased on the 
Gothenburg–Skövde–Örebro routes, as well as on the 
Östergötland–Stockholm route.

•  In the Stockholm/Mälardalen area, a partnership 
model is used within the framework of the TiM collab-
oration. The model enables the regional transport 
authorities to influence the service capacity that SJ is 
required to offer on a particular route. In 2010–2011, 
the scope and depth of the TiM collaboration was 
further extended.

•  SJ also works with the regional transport authorities 
in other regions for example with regard to the validity 
of season tickets on SJ trains.

•  Through TiM, SJ Regional offers combined tickets and 
monthly season tickets for regional train journeys and 
local services.

•  During the year, more than 100 new ticket machines 
were installed in 40 locations in the Mälardalen area 
for sales of TiM and other tickets.

•  Punctuality for SJ Regional was measured at 88 
 percent in 2011.

million journeys per year on SJ Regional in Stockholm/Mälardalen – 50 percent higher than in 2004

Business,  9 %
Commuting,
   23 %

Leisure, 
68 %

Purpose of journeys by InterCity

Resor per trafikslag 2011
Exklusive resor till och från Norrland

17   26   53   4
Flyg 17 %Buss 4 %

Tåg 26 %
Bil 53 %

Commuting,  55 %

Business,
   10%

Leisure, 
35%

Purpose of journeys by Regional

Resor per trafikslag 2011
Exklusive resor till och från Norrland

17   26   53   4
Flyg 17 %Buss 4 %

Tåg 26 %
Bil 53 %
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T he role of the regional service system is to carry 
passengers to destinations in the region and to 
connect with the fast train services. Regional 

travel has increased in all city regions. Between 2004 
and the present day, passenger journeys have risen by 
around 50 percent. One important reason for this is 
that the big cities are strong engines of growth in their 
respective regions, which has created many new jobs. 
More than three million people, a third of the popula-
tion of Sweden, live in the Stockholm/Mälardalen re-
gion. SJ operates regional services within three traffic 
areas in Sweden:
•   Regional services in the Stockholm/Mälardalen re-

gion are provided under SJ’s own brand, with its 
own tickets and rolling stock.

•   Via the part-owned company Botniatåg AB, SJ con-

ducts regional services under the name of Trafiksys-
temet Norrtåg.

•   In partnership with a number of county corporations 
in western and southern Sweden, SJ also operates a 
regional train service with its hub in Gothenburg. 
Services are provided on the Gothenburg–Kalmar, 
Gothenburg–Karlstad and Gothenburg–Skövde– 
Örebro routes.

Catchment areas growing
For rail service purposes, the Stockholm/Mälardalen 
area comprises the regional rail market in the five 
counties of Mälardalen, as well as SJ’s regional services 
to and from Östergötland and the County of Gävleborg. 
The market accounts for roughly 80 percent of volumes 
in SJ’s regional services and comprises seven routes. 

medium-distance train journeys
SJ InterCity/Regional for short and 

Many daily and weekly commuters 
use regional services between home 
and the workplace. The services 
also function importantly as a way 
for passengers to connect with the 
fast train services.
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SJ InterCity/Regional for short and 

The Stockholm/Mälardalen service may be said to consist 
of two circle lines, in which longer distance travel (up to two 
hours) has shown the highest increase in recent years. One 
contributory factor is the focus SJ has placed on the routes 
from Linkoping, Örebro and Gävle to Stockholm.

One of the busiest routes is the one between Uppsala 
and Stockholm. The routes with direct connections 
from Östergötland and Arlanda/Uppsala have been a 
major success. Travelling from Linkoping, customers 
arrive at Arlanda in just over two hours without chan-
ging trains as a result of which many have chosen rail 
over other modes of transport.

The Mälardalen region as a whole forms a single 
labour market region, which generates a large number 
of commuters and a high volume of business travel. 

A considerable increase in travel in the region has 
created an ever-increasing strain on infrastructure, in 
turn leading to capacity problems and longer journey 
times on certain sections.

Continual infrastructure investments, for example 
construction of the City Line in Stockholm, extension of 
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transport corporations in the region. The purpose of 
this collaboration is to work together on issues such as 
planning and quality, pricing and tickets and market-
ing. TiM’s key words are quick, simple and value-for-
money. The principle of the collaboration is to provide 
opportunities for working together to improve the serv-
ice, and the shared objective is to expand and simplify 
travel by public transport in the region.

All 100 ticket machines in the Mälardalen region 
were replaced in 2011. The machines are located in 40 
stations and enable passengers to purchase one-day 
tickets or load their SJ Regional season tickets. The new 
machines are quicker and offer better functionality, 
simplifying the ticket-buying process. The major inno-
vation is that the machines now also offer tickets for 
combined journeys with local transport services in the 
form of commuter train, light rail, bus and under-
ground services.

Punctuality and comfort
In its regional services, SJ is required to offer customers 
good service and high punctuality. The aim is that cus-
tomers should perceive the service as value-for-money, 
reliable and punctual. Continuity in timetables is also 
important since our customers to some degree plan their 
day according to the timetable for our trains. In regional 
services, frequent departures and halts at smaller locali-
ties too are important factors in satisfying passenger 
needs for train travel to and from work and school.

In addition, SJ services in the Mälardalen area 
must also satisfy customer demand for comfort and 
convenience and provide for working, reading or relaxa-
tion on board.

Current initiatives
The existing vehicle fleet for regional services is under-
going uppgrading. Several types of train are affected: 
X40 double-deckers, X12 railcars and traditional loco-
motive-hauled trains. In 2012, the X12 railcars will be 
upgraded and modernised. This will include the instal-
lation of power sockets, new toilets and new seats. In-
vestments are also being made in our X40 double-
deckers. These units are being modified to better 
withstand winter conditions and collisions with wildlife. 
On the double-deckers, customers now have on-board 
access to the Internet, as well as power sockets. Power 
sockets are now also fitted in our refurbished locomo-
tive-hauled trains, the black carriages. The modification 
programme for passenger carriages is also continuing. 
This will result in increasing numbers of modified car-
riages in the regional service.

SJ Intercity routes

Malmö

Gothenburg

Stockholm

Uppsala

Duved
Östersund

Borlänge

Karlstad
Katrineholm

Linköping
Hallsberg

Oslo

Sala

Mora

Falun

Gävle

Karlstad

SJ Regional routes

Stockholm

Södertälje

Nyköping

Norrköping
Linköping

Katrineholm
Hallsberg

Örebro

Arboga

Flen

Eskilstuna

Västerås

Sala
Uppsala

Arlanda

Borås

Kalmar
Avesta

Karlskrona

Sandviken

Ljusdal

Gothenburg

the Mälarbanan line between Stockholm, Västerås and 
Örebro, expansion of capacity between Uppsala in 
Stockholm and between Stockholm and Östergötland 
are measures that are important to travel in the region. 

Cooperation within the region
A basic element of the Mälardalen service is the TiM 
collaboration in which we work in partnership with the 
regional transport authorities and county 
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Women 
   39 %

Men 
61 %

Gender analysis, overall, 2011

Resor per trafikslag 2011
Exklusive resor till och från Norrland

17   26   53   4
Flyg 17 %Buss 4 %

Tåg 26 %
Bil 53 %
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Employee turnover, %
Group

Average number of employees

2011 2010

SJ AB 3,037 3,323

Subsidiaries 1,004 939

Total 4,041 4,262
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Committed, motivated and competent employees are part of the reason for SJ’s 
success. Everyone plays their part in making sure that a journey with SJ goes as 
it should. To SJ, personnel management is an important part of the Company’s 
 development.

highest since 2003
Employee satisfaction 

The participation, skills development, health, se-
curity and safety of our employees are funda-
mentals in the work of personnel management at 

SJ. These are areas in which we concentrate consider-
able resources, on the basis that a systematic and ac-
tive personnel policy makes SJ an attractive workplace 
and contributes to the Company’s development.

Positive trend in Employee Satisfaction Index
How our employees see SJ as a company and employ-
er is monitored via annual personnel surveys. Year after 
year, these surveys confirm a high level of commitment 
on the part of our employees. The surveys also show 
that our employees are prepared to make an effort to 
provide good service.

The results of the surveys are presented in the form 
of an employee satisfaction index, a weighted figure 
showing the level of satisfaction and commitment.

The result for the year was an index score of 59 
(56), the highest rating since the surveys began in 
2003. Bearing in mind that 2010/2011 was yet 
 another severe winter, it is pleasing to record such a 
high increase to 59. The measures undertaken since 
the previous survey have made a positive impact. For 
example, on the basis of the findings from earlier sur-
veys, SJ has devised a number of action plans in spe-
cific areas. Actions taken include further initiatives in 
leadership training for front-line managers, improved 
and simplified work procedures, better cooperation 

within the Company and a continued focus on service. 
All index components showed a positive trend, other 
than the score for personal working situation, which 
was unchanged from the previous survey.

Women 
   40 %

Men 
60 %

Gender analysis, managers, 2011

Women 
   43 %

Men 
57 %

Gender analysis, supervisors, 2011

Resor per trafikslag 2011
Exklusive resor till och från Norrland

17   26   53   4
Flyg 17 %Buss 4 %

Tåg 26 %
Bil 53 %
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The findings of the year demonstrate that there is pride 
in working for SJ and that responsibilities and powers 
are clearly defined. Another positive is that the strong 
commitment vis-à-vis customers remains high.

Skills development
To ensure that SJ’s operational goals are achieved, the 
right conditions must be established. This is done, for 
example, by developing the skills of managers and 
employees.

All employees are offered the opportunity to par-
ticipate in SJ’s skills management system, Kompassen. 
Everyone can see the courses and programmes offered 
and can list the programmes he or she has completed 
and passed. This also provides SJ with an efficient 
means of identifying the right skills in the Company.

In autumn 2011, the opportunities for training and 
skills development widened when the SJ Service Acad-
emy expanded its offering of programmes open to 
everyone in SJ. The choice is from a number of pro-
grammes in the areas Management and Planning, Traf-
fic Safety, Communication, Occupational Safety, Quality 
and Development and IT Systems.

Front-line managers underwent courses in leadership 
aimed at equipping them to serve passengers better 
and to support employees in their roles of responsibility.

On average, SJ employees undergo eight days of 
training and skills development per year.

SJ sick leave lower than target figure
A strategic programme has been in progress for several 
years with the aim of creating healthier workplaces. 
Efforts to reduce sick leave have delivered very good 
results, down from 10 percent in 2002 to the result for 
the year, 4.2 percent. By Quarter three, the year’s ob-
jective of 4.6 percent had already been achieved, and 
the outcome for the full year was 4.2 percent. Occupa-
tional safety and health is given top priority at SJ. 
Healthy employees are a sign of a healthy working envi-
ronment, which not only means quality of life to the 
individual but also higher productivity to the organisa-
tion.

Focus on fitness
It is important to have healthy employees who feel 
good about going to work. SJ has maintained its focus 
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Employee Satisfaction Index
SJ AB

on health, fitness and well-being. Themes taken up at 
workplace meetings have included recovery, diet and 
sleep, and fitness studios have been installed in several 
locations to expand fitness facilities for the employees. 
The health and fitness programme in 2011 took an-
other step forward through the introduction of “health 
motivators” at every locality and staging station. Health 
motivators are employees who have part of their work-
ing hours allocated to the role of supporting and, in 
association with the management, driving local health-
promoting activities.

Secure and safe work environment
Many people travel on board our trains every day, both 
customers and SJ employees. This means that striving 
to ensure a secure and safe work environment is of 
great importance. During the year, training of our em-
ployees in safety services was conducted in accordance 
with statutory requirements.
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Sick leave, %
Group

Target 4.6

  

S J  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 1 35

Employees



S J  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 1 36

The rail market

Many operators work together to make train journeys possible. Our task is together to 
ensure that rail is an attractive mode of transport now and remains so in the future. 
Approximately 100,000 journeys take place on SJ fast or regional services in Sweden. 
If SJ is to continue figuring as an important operator, travelling by train must be a 
simple process.

operators in the market
The rail market and the 

At conversion of the Statens järnvägar (Swedish 
State Railways) public service corporation into 
limited liability company form in 2001, the organ-

isation’s operations were divided into separate com-
panies, of which SJ is responsible for passenger services. 
Rail services have undergone step-by-step deregulation 
and today SJ operates in an open and competitive mar-
ket. Train operators, new and existing, can apply for train 
paths to operate passenger train services on all rail 
routes in Sweden. Up to now, interest has not been very 
strong, but is likely to increase in the future.

Cooperation in the industry
SJ is contributing actively to further development of  
the rail market through various forums, for example by 
engaging in dialogue and cooperation with industry 
organisations, other operators and public authorities.  
If SJ is to continue figuring as an important operator, 
travelling by train must be a simple process.

Customer chooses
In many cases, travellers have various options and can 
choose between car, bus or air instead of going by 
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train. As a mode of transport, trains have a competitive 
advantage in their unique ability to combine comfort 
and productive travelling time with high transport ca-
pacity. Rail is also a sustainable mode of transport; the 
more people travel by train, the less environmental 
impact there is in our community. Everyone involved, 
from operators with responsibility for vehicles and 
service to the government and its investments in infra-
structure, should therefore make every effort to create 
the conditions for increased rail travel.

Trafikverket – Information and Infrastructure
Trafikverket is responsible for the infrastructure. Its task 
is to guarantee the power supply, signalling systems, 
tracks and points, as well as safety and trafficability in 
rail services. It is also responsible for service manage-
ment and service information at stations and on plat-
forms via departure and arrival boards and public ad-
dress systems.

Trafikverket also handles long-term planning of rail 
services and allocation of train paths.

Train operators – service, passengers and vehicles
Today, there are around 25 different train operators in 
Sweden, including SJ. The industry also includes sub-
contractors and joint-venture partners who operate in, 
for example, cleaning, vehicle maintenance and other 
services. Other than SJ, only a small number operate 
long-distance services in the Swedish market. SJ is 
also an important player in regional services in the 
Mälardalen area.

Jernhusen – stations, safety and service
Station buildings and train depots, which are located 
around the country, are part of the rail infrastructure. 
The major station buildings, as well as offices and 
maintenance depots, are owned and managed by Jern-
husen. The company is responsible for the station en-
vironment, including waiting rooms, storage areas and 
passenger facilities, as well as for the range of shops 
and restaurants.

Regional services – contracts via procurement
Sweden today has around ten regional traffic areas 

mainly for bus and rail services. In every such area, 
services are contracted via a procurement process and 
an operator is contracted to conduct operations for a 
specific period of time.The commercial conditions for 
regional service contracts differ, and this may affect the 
commercial risk and potential revenue for the operator. 
The procurement 
processes are 
always under the 
auspices of the 
regional trans-
port authorities, 
in many cases a 
county transport 
corporation or 
county manage-
ment board, 
which is respon-
sible for public 
transport in the 
particular county 
or region. The 
biggest county 
transport corpora-
tions are Storstockholms Lokaltrafik, Västtrafik and 
Skånetrafiken. The SJ subsidiary Stockholmståg is 
responsible for commuter train services in Stockholm, 
on behalf of Storstockholms Lokaltrafik.

Political decision-makers shape the future
Ultimately, the long-term development issues for rail 
services are a matter for Riksdagen (the Swedish Par-
liament) and the government to decide. This will in-
clude decisions on financing, infrastructure investment 
and, for example, high-speed lines. It is important to 
review the general issues for the future regarding the 
needs for infrastructure investment. In an international 
dimension, the Swedish rail market is also affected by 
political decisions taken within the EU. The long-term 
aim is gradually to deregulate the rail markets in Eur-
ope in order to promote competition and extend 
choice. As a result, the competition situation will 
change, even if the process is expected to move for-
ward slowly in many countries.

 The railway sector in Sweden

  Passenger services in Sweden are 
 showing strong growth. Between 2005 
and 2010, the increase was approxi-
mately 50 percent.

  The State-owned railway network ex-
tends to 11,900 km of operated track 
(track kilometres), including 2,700 km of 
double- and multi-track. Approximately 
9,800 km of the tracks are electrified.

  The rail network includes 3,781 railway 
bridges and 147 tunnels.

  The network includes around 12,000 
sets of points.

Bus, 3 % Air, 22 %

Rail, 23 %

Car, 52 %

Source: Turistdatabasen

Market shares for modes of transport in 
2011, journeys of more than 300 km

Bus, 4 % Air, 1 %

Rail, 14 %

Car, 81 %

Source: Turistdatabasen

Market shares for modes of transport 
in 2011, journeys of 100–300 km
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More passengers on the trains, increased competition, new modes of cus-
tomer communication and demands for more infrastructure investments. 
If we are to summarise expectations in the rail market, there are both chal-
lenges and opportunities. This will be in a situation where climate-smart rail 
services have a greater role to play than perhaps ever before.

rail industry
The future 
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Many opting to take the train
There has long been a positive trend in the numbers of 
people opting for the train as a mode of transport. In 
long-distance services, the number of journeys has 
increased by around 50 percent since 2005. Over the 
year, long-distance inland travel continued to show a 
positive growth, but in the wake of two harsh winters 
affecting the rail industry, together with pressure on 
ticket prices in air travel, more passengers than before 
chose other modes of transport.

Rail travel offers unique competitive advantages; it 
is environmentally efficient while at the same time 
offers a range of choices for use of the passenger’s 
time on board. Surveys indicate that environmental 
considerations are also important. An important factor 
to both business and leisure passengers is that the 
train is the climate-smartest alternative.

Regional train services have also grown strongly in 
recent years. In the Stockholm/Mälardalen area, num-
bers have doubled in ten years and the same is true of 
public transport services in many other regions. The 
regions surrounding the big cities have grown and be-
come increasingly integrated, and as a result more and 
more people have chosen the train to commute to and 
from work.

Need for infrastructure investments
At the same time, the growth in passenger numbers has 
brought new challenges to the railway system. Today, 
more trains and passengers are having to use an infra-
structure that has not been expanded and modernised 
to the extent necessary. This includes the track, signal-
ling and power supply systems that make rail travel 
possible. Many of the service disruptions of recent years 
may be linked to various types of infrastructure limita-
tions. The problems were also highlighted in the Capa-
city Report delivered by Trafikverket in October 2011. 
The report discusses the punctuality, robustness and 
capacity shortcomings that exist in the rail system.

Once the consequences of under-investment be-
came clear, the debate on the capabilities of the railway 
system intensified. Today, a relatively broad political 
consensus exists that new infrastructure investments 
are necessary. The desired levels and direction of in-
vestments may differ among politicians and decision-
makers, but overall investments are nevertheless ex-
pected to increase. Approximately SEK 3.6 billion extra 
granted by the government in 2011 for infrastructure 
investments confirms this view. The funds are to be 
used for measures in the railway system and for invest-
ments to expand capacity and flexibility in the traffic 
systems around the big city regions.

New rail operators
Sweden acted early in deregulating rail services. This 
process began a couple of decades later in regional train 
services and the move towards the now totally deregu-
lated market has continued. One of the main objectives 
of the deregulation measures was that introducing more 
operators would pave the way to healthy competition, 

efficiency and quality in the rail sector.
Increased deregulation is taking place throughout 

the EU. It is likely to take time for exposure to competi-
tion to break through in all EU countries, but neverthe-
less the trend is clear and in the long term will change 
the rail market in the Union.

This will open opportunities to the train operators, 
who will be given the opportunity to expand into new 
geographical markets. Any such expansion can be con-
ducted under the operators’ own management or in 
association with local partners. However, cooperation is 
not limited to the same mode of transport; it may take 
place between bus operators, rail operators or airlines. 
The map showing how modes of transport are being 
developed and are linking up is in the process of being 
redrawn.

In every country, the rail market is generally char-
acterised as slow-moving and so it takes time for the 
effects of competition to become noticeable on a broad 
front. Differences in technical conditions make it diffi-
cult for players to operate within and between several 
different countries. For example, different countries 
have different currents and an operator in Sweden 
must have a vehicle fleet suitable for the Swedish track 
system and vice versa. Ordering new trains takes a 
considerable time while investments in a new vehicle 
fleet bring considerable financial demands to bear. The 
result is that expanding the volume and diversity of rail 
services is a complicated process. Nevertheless, de-
regulation is a fact and will lead to increasing pressure 
of competition in long-distance passenger services in 
the future. SJ welcomes competition and views it as an 
opportunity to demonstrate our strengths as a high-
quality and reliable operator in several markets.

Developing customer communications
Taking the train should be a simple option. This applies 
to the whole travelling process, from finding the right 
offering, booking and buying tickets, to getting informa-
tion on train changes, service disruptions and other 
issues that may affect the journey. Today, customers are 
used to being able to find information via their mobiles, 
computers or other technical facilities. Companies in 
most industries are being affected by the fact that 
people are mobile more or less all the time and want to 
be able to obtain information at all times, 24 hours a 
day.

In order to meet these needs, SJ is developing its 
customer communications via the sj.se website and the 
social media. During the year, we developed a custom-
ised app for smart phones. Communicating via all the 
channels that our customers use is enabling us to be at 
the forefront in terms of our own communications. As a 
result, we are strengthening our image as a customer-
led and modern organisation. SJ is also continuing to 
develop attractive services and offerings, such as for 
example infotainment services that customers can use 
during their journey, including watching films and ob-
taining information about their journey. Infotainment is 
being introduced first on the SJ 3000 trains.



Linkon AB
CEO: Christer Jernberg
Full-time employees: 77 (65)
Sales SEK 191 m (188)
Total assets SEK 193 m (143)

Linkon owns, maintains and develops, on an ongoing 
basis, SJ’s ticket sales system. The company develops 
and markets cost-efficient IT solutions for the sale, dis-
tribution and settlement of services for the entire travel 
industry. Today, Linkon has sales clients at about 400 
resellers and a number of online distributors.

The original purpose of the company – to meet the 
needs of the railway sector – has expanded through the 
years, and Linkon now serves the entire travel industry. 
The company now also has customers including trans-
port companies (operating express buses, rental cars, 
taxis and planes), hotel companies and tourist attrac-
tions throughout Sweden.

SJ Norrlandståg AB
CEO: Björn Nilsson
Full-time employees: 205 (184)
Sales SEK 465 m (388)
Total assets SEK 25 m (26)

Norrlandståg has a contract with Trafikverket to oper-
ate night train services from Stockholm and Gothen-
burg to Upper Norrland and day train services between 
Luleå and Kiruna/Narvik.

Since SJ took over services in June 2008, customer 
satisfaction has increased, according to the annual sur-
veys conducted. Contributory factors include improved 
services such as better cleaning and catering. Small-
scaleism in the company is an advantage, for example 
when it comes to testing new ideas, suppliers or work 
methods.

 
SJ Event AB
CEO: Michael Wikström
Full-time employees: 12 (13) 
Sales SEK 25 m (32)
Total assets SEK 4 m (6)

SJ Event runs charter trains on behalf of businesses and 
other travel companies. The company offers a full range 
of inter-city journeys to both short- and longer-distance 
destinations. It also offers facilities for renting space on 
board exhibition trains with 250 square  metres of dedi-

cated display area. In addition, SJ Event arranges trips 
under its own management, including sports trains, 
concert trains and skiing trains. Trains to the great runs 
Lidingöloppet and Vasaloppet are well-established trips 
that are operated each year. This year, the train to Åre 
will operate for the 20th year in a row.

SJ Service Academy AB
CEO: Olle Lundström
Full-time employees: 59 (52)
Sales SEK 98 m (97)
Total assets SEK 26 m (34)

SJ Service Academy is SJ’s own training company and 
service organisation. Activities are primarily targeted at 
SJ employees, but are now also available to external 
companies in a number of sectors. The external aspect 
is growing more and more.

The courses are customised and are largely based 
on hands-on exercises and training. The majority of the 
hands-on exercises take place in the SJ Service Acad-
emy’s new Training Center, in which the environment 
can be remodelled via simple techniques to adapt it to 
the customer’s operations.

Stockholmståg KB
CEO: Kjell Färnström
Full-time employees: 649 (621)
Sales SEK 1,594 m (1,466)
Total assets SEK 310 m (270)

Since 2006, commuter train services in Stockholm 
have been operated by Stockholmståg, on behalf of the 
county council owned AB Storstockholms Lokaltrafik 
(SL). The quality of commuter train services has gradu-
ally improved since Stockholmståg took over and this 
was one of the reasons why SL chose to extend the con-
tract another five years to 2016.

With the extension, Stockholmståg analysed its 
agreements with critical subcontractors. This resulted 
in a change of maintenance supplier and amended 
agreements for station service and vehicle care. The 
new agreements further improve the conditions for 
better and more efficient commuter train services.

Subsidiaries
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Directors’ report 
The Board of Directors and Chief Exec-
utive Officer of SJ AB (corporate identity 
number 556196-1599) present here-
with SJ’s annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts for the financial year 1 
January 2011 to 31 December 2011. 
Unless otherwise indicated , all 
amounts are in SEK million. A corporate 
governance report separate from the 
Directors’ report is published on the 
Company’s website at sj.se.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS IN 2011
Following a procurement procedure, SJ 
was again contracted to operate the 
Sörmlandspilen and Nyköpingsbanan 
services until 2016.

In an arbitration settlement, five 
model X31 vehicles were sold to Skåne-
trafiken and Hallandstrafiken at the end 
of March. The government is investing a 
further SEK 3,600 million in the railway 
infrastructure, in addition to the extra 
SEK 800 million granted in 2010. The 
investment is being targeted at opera-
tions and improved maintenance, rein-
vestment and fine-tuning measures.

At SJ’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
held on 28 April, a new Board of Directors 
was elected. At an Extraordinary General 
Meeting (EGM) held on 25 August, Jan 
Sundling was elected to serve as new 
Chairman of SJ AB. On 29 November, 
Caroline Sundewall resigned from the 
Board. Jan Forsberg will leave the posi-
tion of CEO of SJ AB in the summer 2012.

SJ AB (SJ) and Tåg i Bergslagen AB 
(TiB) have been in dispute since 2003 
regarding an agreement on train serv-
ices in the Bergslagen region over the 
period 2001-2009. After many years of 
court hearings, the parties agreed on an 
arbitration settlement on 15 Septem-
ber, under which SJ has paid TiB SEK 
150 million. Income for SJ has conse-
quently been charged with SEK 150 
million. The compensation was paid in 
its entirety in December 2011.

Storm Dagmar halted train services 
to and from Norrland on Christmas day, 
affecting thousands of passengers. On 
the night of 27/28 December, all sec-
tions of railway that had been closed 
were open again.

SJ – OPERATIONS AND STRUCTURE
SJ AB, established in 2001, is wholly 
owned by the Swedish State. SJ AB’s 
 remit is to operate profitable passenger 
services under market conditions and 
requirements.

Vision
To get everyone on board.

Business concept
Efficient and eco-friendly travel.

Core values
Innovation, Consideration and 
Responsibility.

Targets
To be a modern, profitable, customer-
led and sustainable travel enterprise.

Legal and operational structure
SJ’s core business consists of train serv-
ices, mainly in the market for inter-re-
gional and long-distance travel. The 
Group is made up of a parent company 
and 12 subsidiaries, four of which are 
dormant.

Rail services within the Group are 
operated mainly via the Parent Com-
pany and three subsidiaries. Other sub-
sidiaries are engaged in activities close-
ly related to the rail services operated.

The Group includes the following 
subsidiaries:

Stockholmståg KB
operates commuter train services in the 
County of Stockholm, on behalf of AB 
Storstockholms Lokaltrafik. Sales 
amounted to SEK 1,594 million (1,466).

SJ Norrlandståg AB
operates passenger services to and 
from Upper Norrland, including both 
day and night services. Sales totalled 
SEK 465 million (388).

Linkon AB
owns, maintains and develops, on an 
ongoing basis, reservation, sales and 
settlement systems for the travel indus-
try. Sales totalled SEK 191 million 
(188).

SJ Service Academy AB
is the Group’s training and conference 
organisation, but also arranges pro-
grammes for external customers. Sales 
totalled SEK 98 million (97).

SJ Event AB
markets and develops train-based trav-
el solutions. Sales totalled SEK 26 mil-
lion (32).

SJ Försäkring AB
a captive insurance company that pro-
vides insurance cover for the Group and 
related businesses. Sales totalled SEK 
45 million (43).

SJ Invest AB
provides financial arrangements for 
Group companies. Sales totalled SEK 2 
million (2).

SJ Danmark A/S
is the Group’s subsidiary in Copen-
hagen.

The following subsidiaries are dormant:
Entertrainment AB, Ad Venture AB, 
 Vilma AB and Vikströms Buss AB.

Financial requirements from our owner
SJ is to be a modern travel company 
that operates on a sustainable and 
commercial basis. The owner’s financial 
targets are an equity/assets ratio of no 
less than 30 percent and a return on 
equity averaging no less than 10 per-
cent after tax over a business cycle. SJ’s 
regular dividend shall amount to one-
third of the profit for the year, provided 
that the equity/asset ratio target is 
achieved after dividend. In 2011, SJ 
met its financial equity/assets ratio tar-
get but not its return on equity target.

LEGISLATION
The Railways Act, passed in 2004, con-
ferred on the SJ Group the exclusive 
right to operate passenger services on a 
commercial basis. Based on various EU 
decisions and regulations between 
2007 and 2009, international passen-
ger services were opened up to compe-
tition in 2010. In order to implement 
the EU directives, Riksdagen approved a 
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new regulatory framework in 2009 gov-
erning operating rights and competition 
in rail passenger services. The 2004 
Railways Act was amended to terminate 
the SJ Group’s exclusive right, and the 
Swedish railway network was complete-
ly opened up to international passenger 
services from 1 October 2010, becom-
ing fully effective from December 2011. 
As a result, all licensed railway enter-
prises with operating rights were able to 
apply to Trafikverket in advance to be al-
located train paths (time slots for trains) 
for the railway timetable that began on 
11 December 2011.

The EU also passed resolutions con-
cerning rights and obligations for train 
passengers. To comply with the EU de-
cision that entered force in December 
2009, the Group has amended its gen-
eral terms and conditions of business, 
for example with regard to the travel 
time guarantee.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Income and profitability
The Group’s operating profit totalled 
SEK 60 million (439). Income fell by 
SEK 620 million and costs by SEK 236 
million.

The reduction in income and costs is 
attributable above all to the transfer to 
new operators of Västtrafik and Öst-
götatrafiken in December 2010 and Up-
plands Lokaltrafik in June 2011.

This year, the early part of the period 
was again dominated by winter weather 
problems, leading to cancelled and de-
layed services. This impacted adversely 
on income and resulted in higher costs 
for the travel time guarantee, replace-
ment services, customer service and 
maintenance costs. After the early 
months, SJ’s production capacity re-
turned to normal levels. However, pas-
senger numbers showed a relatively 
weak trend over the year, compared to 
the preceding year. Inland airlines 
sharply expanded their offerings in 
2011, and their market share in the ma-
jor destinations increased, relative to 
rail services. In addition, the infrastruc-
ture disruptions during the year lead to 
higher quality failure costs.

Last year’s figures for comparison 

were also affected by sharply higher de-
mand in the wake of the Eyjafjallajökull 
eruption in early April 2010, which 
brought air travel to a standstill. Overall, 
the effect of the ash cloud on income last 
year is estimated at around SEK 60 mil-
lion.

During the autumn, profit showed a 
positive trend. There were fewer disrup-
tions, and as a result the costs of replace-
ment services and travel time guarantee 
compensation were reduced. In addition, 
general restraint with regard to costs 
played a part in improving results.

The business of the Stockholmståg 
KB subsidiary performed satisfactorily 
during the year, mainly as a result of 
new agreements and lower winter 
weather costs.

In September, settlement of SJ AB’s 
dispute with the Tåg i Bergslagen re-
gional train service resulted in a cost of 
SEK 150 million to SJ AB.

The operating margin was 0.7 per-
cent (5.0), primarily due to weaker prof-
it than in the preceding year at the Par-
ent Company SJ AB.

Net financial items amounted to SEK 
-22 million(-33). The improvement was 
attributable mainly to lower hedging in-
strument costs.

The Group’s profit before tax totalled 
SEK 38 million (406). Tax on profit for 
the year amounted to SEK -2 million 
(-112). The Group reported a net profit 
of SEK 36 million (294) for the year.

Cash flow
The cash flow from operating activities 
for the year was a positive SEK 778 mil-
lion (787). A weaker operating profit 
was offset by positive changes in work-
ing capital. Changes in working capital 
in the period under review were affect-
ed above all by recoverable VAT totalling 
SEK 420 million, the main items of 
which related to redemption of SJ 2000 
leases and advance payment for SJ 
3000 trains in December last year.

The cash flow from investing activities 
was SEK -504 million (447). In the pre-
ceding year, a change took place in short-
term deposits with a positive effect of SEK 
1,270 million on cash flow, partly to fund 
investments and redemption of leases.

Investments in property, plant and 
equipment and intangible non-current 
assets for the year totalled SEK 869 mil-
lion (844), of which SEK 746 million 
(749) was for vehicles and SEK 84 mil-
lion (60) for investments in intangible 
assets. Other investments totalled SEK 
39 million (35). The principal invest-
ments were in SJ 3000 trains and con-
tinued refurbishment of SJ passenger 
carriages. Sales of non-current assets 
delivered a positive cash flow of SEK 
243 million (35), the main difference 
being that non-current assets for sale 
during 2010 have now been sold.

The cash flow from financing activi-
ties was a negative SEK -272 million 
(-1,672). The main difference from the 
preceding year was that amortisation of 
leasing liabilities was higher in 2010.

The overall cash flow for the Group in 
the period was SEK 1 million (-438). 
Cash and cash equivalents, as shown in 
the balance sheet, totalled SEK 48 mil-
lion, as against SEK 47 million for the 
same period in 2010.

Financing
On 31 December 2011, the net liability 
in the SJ Group was SEK 1,106 million 
(1,144). The Group’s equity in 2011 
was 49.6 percent, compared to 48.4 
percent at the end of 2010. On 31 De-
cember 2011, the Group’s equity was 
SEK 4,419 million (4,486).

The Group’s interest-bearing liabili-
ties on 31 December 2011, consisting 
in the main of payment commitments 
relating to SJ financial leases, totalled 
SEK 2,365 million (2,505). Of the 
Group’s interest-bearing liabilities, SEK 
1,298 million (2,365) are long term and 
SEK 1,067 million (140) short term, i.e. 
the portion of the liability that falls due 
for payment within one year. The aver-
age maturity of outstanding liabilities 
was 2.1 years (3.2) and the average 
fixed-interest term is 1.4 years (1.7).

MARKET
The first half of 2011 was characterised 
by a falling volume of travel. However, the 
second half saw a reversal of the trend, 
with positive growth emerging in the 
market for long-distance inland travel.
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The airlines are continuing to invest, 
particularly in the Stockholm–Gothen-
burg and Stockholm– Malmö routes, 
and competition is expected to remain 
strong on those routes. As far as SJ is 
concerned, this represents increased 
competition, above all, in end–to–end 
travel i.e. journeys between the depar-
ture and arrival stations. On the Stock-
holm–Gothenburg and Stockholm–
Malmö routes, a fall of 2 and 11 per-
cent, respectively, were observed during 
the year. Travel by inland air services is 
thought likely to increase in the short 
term, while predictions foresee demand 
levelling off in the longer term. One fac-
tor underlying this development is ex-
pectations of a trend of rising fuel 
prices. The overall market in passenger 
travel by rail is likely to rise once the 
economy emerges from recession. 
Growth is expected to be highest in re-
gional train services, owing to rising de-
mand in many regions around the 
country for more highly developed rail 
communications facilities, not least to 
improve the competitiveness and at-
tractiveness of the regions. On 1 Janu-
ary 2012, a new Public Transport Act 
entered into force. Under the new legis-
lation, commercial public transport 
may be established without restriction 
in all geographical market segments. 
The former regional transport authori-
ties are replaced by regional public 
transport authorities, whose remit is to 
decide on regional transport provision 
programmes and the public service ob-
ligation. To SJ, this change represents 
increased competition in the geograph-
ical areas where SJ operates and the 
opening up of new opportunities and 
geographical areas where SJ is not rep-
resented today.

As of the 2012 train timetable, which 
took effect on 11 December 2011, the 
market in light rail services has been 
 totally deregulated. Few competitors 
have applied for train paths in 2012. At 
present, competition in light rail services 
mainly consists of a certain level of com-
mercial competition on the Stockholm–
Malmö, Uppsala–Stockholm–Gothen-
burg and Malmö–Stockholm–Åre/Stor-
lien routes, as well as competition from 

regional transport authorities on a 
number of routes. SJ will stop operating 
trains on the Kalmar–Alvesta section of 
the Öresund service, but will expand serv-
ices on the Stockholm–Nyköping–Norr-
köping route under a new agreement.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND 
 UNCERTAINTIES
SJ defines risk as a potential event that 
could impact on the ability of the opera-
tion to achieve its targets. SJ’s risk man-
agement aims to limit undesired effects 
that could affect the Company’s finan-
cial position, earnings or market posi-
tion. Primary responsibility for SJ’s risk 
management is with executive manage-
ment, although much of the work is per-
formed locally in the organisation.

EXTERNAL RISKS
External risks are events in the outside 
world that could impact on SJ’s ability 
to achieve its targets. Since SJ operates 
primarily in the Swedish market, this re-
fers above all to circumstances within 
Sweden. Competing modes of transport 
delivered good results in the first half 
year, which is normal during an upturn 
in the economy. Road transport and in-
land airline services are showing an up-
ward trend at present, albeit from a rel-
atively low level in the case of the air-
lines. In the same period, rail travel re-
ported weak growth, very much as a re-
sult of the severe winter weather. How-
ever, signs of a certain recovery in rail 
travel have emerged recently.

One critical issue is how train paths 
will be allocated in the future, now that 
Trafikverket is responsible for this func-
tion. A number of separate factors need 
to be taken into account, for example the 
differing requirements among the re-
gions for commuter services, expansion 
of cargo services and inter-regional serv-
ices, in the context of benefit and impor-
tance to the community. The competi-
tors who have applied for train paths in 
the 2012 train timetable were relatively 
few and in line with expectations.

Shared responsibility for the travel 
 process
Sweden’s railway infrastructure con-

sists not only of tracks and points, but 
also overhead contact lines and signal-
ling systems. It is under extremely se-
vere pressure, particularly in Sweden’s 
big city regions during peak hours. All 
rail infrastructure is owned and oper-
ated by Trafikverket, while SJ and other 
train operators are responsible for their 
own rolling stock, as well as for service 
and information on board the trains. 
This shared responsibility for the travel 
process is a risk, inasmuch as decisions 
and priorities are not uniform through-
out the process, but are based on the 
point of view of the party responsible.

Neglected maintenance
The infrastructure is inadequate partly 
because it restricts expansion of cargo 
and passenger services and partly be-
cause it has for many years suffered 
from a drastic neglect of maintenance. 
As a result, there is a major risk of service 
disruptions. The severe winters of 2009 
and 2010 demonstrated the vulnerabili-
ty of the railway system, in that inade-
quate snow clearance, as well as frozen 
points, falling overhead contact lines etc. 
led to train cancellations and delays.

Service disruption management
Service disruptions of various kinds that 
frequently lead to train cancellations 
and delays over a long period cause 
customer dissatisfaction and a decline 
in trust in SJ, as well as in the entire rail 
industry as a reliable transport option. 
This results in environmental impact, 
since customers will turn to less eco-
friendly options. In turn, this also leads 
to poor profitability as a result of lower 
income and higher costs.

COMMERCIAL RISKS
Commercial risks are those linked to 
SJ’s strategic decisions, the Company’s 
business model and how SJ competes 
in the market. They are to a large extent 
closely linked to external risks.

Given the uncertainty that exists, for 
example about the way the economy is 
heading and the effects of deregulation, it 
is important that SJ should be highly mo-
bilised and prepared for adapting com-
mercial decisions and strategies if neces-
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sary to reflect changes in conditions, in 
order to be able to drive the business for-
ward in the best way possible.

Deregulation brings increased com-
petition for the attractive routes, and in 
addition to the availability of fewer train 
paths, there is also the risk that key 
people will move to other operators. The 
results will be poorer profitability and 
higher salary costs.

Suppliers
SJ is dependent on certain strategic 
suppliers, dealing for example with 
maintenance and cleaning, and if they 
do not fulfil agreed commitments SJ 
will not be able to satisfy customer re-
quirements for punctuality, service and 
cleanliness. In many cases a high de-
gree of specialisation in terms of know-
ledge and equipment makes it difficult 
within a short time to expose suppliers 
to competition or replace them. SJ 
works with suppliers to achieve high 
quality, and incentive agreements 
linked to quality parameters are in 
place and monitored continuously.

However, there is limited scope to in-
fluence suppliers in the short term, in 
view of long periods of notice. To reduce 
its vulnerability, SJ has decided with ef-
fect from 2012 to bring train cleaning 
in-house.

OPERATING RISKS
Operating risks relate to how the 
organisation is managed, as well as to 
resources and delivery of our products 
and service. The term also includes ad-
ministrative risks. These may include 
various procedures not being followed, 
which in turn may lead to necessary 
feedback not being communicated.

Resources
Huge capital is invested in SJ’s rolling 
stock fleet, representing a risk in terms 
of over- and under-capacity. In the event 
of major investments, SJ’s sensitivity to 
excess capacity increases.

SJ may also be affected by financial 
damage/loss in event of lack of avail-
ability of rolling stock, or if rolling stock 
do not meet customer expectations. In 
recent years, SJ has engaged in major 

uppgrading of its rolling stock fleet in 
order to better respond to current and 
future requirements from the market. 
This programme will continue in the 
years ahead.

Trains have a very long service life; a 
train will often be in service for 20–30 
years and during this period will cover 
around 5 million km. The service life of 
rolling stock is so long that new techno-
logy can be developed during that peri-
od. As many SJ trains were specially or-
dered and tailored to our requirements, 
and as our rolling stock suppliers are un-
dergoing extensive restructuring, spare 
parts for older vehicles based on older 
technology are in short supply. This may 
lead to longer servicing times. Challeng-
es of this kind place considerable pres-
sure on SJ’s rolling stock  competence.

IT environment
Greater use of IT at SJ and increasingly 
integrated IT systems in our customer 
offering and in production mean that SJ 
is more exposed to failures in, and any 
threats to, IT systems. The IT systems 
used must operate in real time, which 
means that any downtime immediately 
causes disruption.

Problems in working in a cross-func-
tional way in SJ’s operational proce-
dures may represent a risk to our deliv-
ery to the customer.

FINANCIAL RISKS
The Group’s financial operations and 
management of financial risks are cen-
tralised within SJ’s Treasury function. 
Financial policy serves as a framework 
for all finance-related activities in the SJ 
Group. SJ’s financial risks and risk man-
agement are described in Note 18.

SJ’S SUSTAINABILITY WORK
Sustainability has always been a prior-
ity for SJ, which has a long history of 
working actively in this field. SJ believes 
a proactive approach to sustainability 
will help to fulfil our vision of “To get 
everyone on board” and contributes to 
a greener and more sustainable society. 
In support of SJ’s work on sustainabili-
ty–to govern decisions and to achieve 
the desired targets–SJ adopted seven 

policies for sustainability in 2011: Oc-
cupational Safety Policy, Ethical Policy, 
Purchasing Policy, IT Policy, Equal Op-
portunity Policy, Quality Policy, Environ-
mental Policy and Transport Safety Pol-
icy. SJ’s Ethical Policy sets out guide-
lines for acting in an exemplary way to-
wards our customers, suppliers and the 
world outside. These guidelines require 
SJ to conduct its operations on a com-
mercial basis but not to employ 
methods that work against economic, 
social and democratic development. SJ 
complies with the government’s Global 
Responsibility Initiative.

As a framework for our sustainability 
reporting, we apply the third generation 
of Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) guide-
lines, G3 (www.globalreporting.org).

These guidelines are generally ac-
cepted by major companies, and appli-
cation of G3 facilitates comparison with 
other companies. For 2011, SJ chose to 
apply level B+. SJ self-assesses its com-
pliance with GRI guidelines G3. SJ’s 
sustainability report has been audited 
and approved by Ernst & Young AB.

SJ’s environmental work
In November 2008, SJ was environ-
mentally certified under ISO 
14001:2004, and has for some years 
focused on environmental issues in ac-
cordance with the ISO standard.

SJ focuses continuously on keeping 
a watch on current legislation and local 
regulations, in order to ensure that SJ 
complies with relevant requirements. SJ 
satisfies all environmental require-
ments and is not engaged in any activi-
ties subject to compulsory licensing.

The focus of SJ’s environmental 
work is classifiable into five target areas: 
energy efficiency in train services, emis-
sions into the air from train services, 
purchasing of goods and services, sort-
ing of waste at source & resource man-
agement and training & information.

The environmental data required to 
produce quantified information on tar-
gets and results, and for the calculation of 
key ratios, are gathered within the envi-
ronmental analysis carried out each year.

Environmental reports are sent to 
suppliers to investigate issues such as 
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electricity consumption, emissions, waste 
management and use of chemicals.

On the basis of the environmental 
analysis, the areas with the highest envi-
ronmental impact are updated and prior-
itised, and the measurable environment-
al targets are monitored continuously.

Regular on-board surveys and ques-
tionnaires are conducted to sound out 
customers and employees for their 
views on SJ and the environment.

SJ’s employees
The efforts of our employees, both indi-
vidually and in groups, are critically im-
portant in deciding the extent to which 
our goals for efficiency, quality and 
service are achieved. The Company’s 
success is therefore totally dependent 
on the competence, motivation and 
commitment of our employees.

To maintain this, SJ takes on board 
the views of our employees via em-
ployee surveys which, since 2011, have 
been annual. SJ invests in employee fit-
ness, in the form for example of various 
exercise facilities. Health motivators are 
active in the workplace, health blogs are 
posted on the Internet and guidance on 
diet and exercise is provided. SJ also 
pays entry fees for teams wishing to 
take part in various exercise runs.

SJ’s Equal Opportunities Policy 
aims at ensuring that all employees 
should have equal rights and oppor-
tunities, and that SJ should strive for di-
versity and equal opportunity, and 
against discrimination and degrading 
treatment.

Occupational safety
SJ’s occupational safety plan for 2011–
2012 states three overarching objec-
tives for this work: lower sick leave, 
higher employee satisfaction index/
health index and efficient, systematic 
work on occupational safety.

Activities to achieve these targets 
aim at ensuring long-term sustainable 
development at SJ, taking due account 
of the personal development and good 
health of its employees.

For more detailed description, see 
SJ’s Sustainability Report 2011.

INTERNAL AUDIT
SJ’s internal audit function examines, 
analyses and tests internal manage-
ment and control systems in accord-
ance with the audit plan adopted by the 
Board of Directors. The internal audit 
function reports the results of its exam-
ination to SJ’s Audit Committee and 
Board of Directors.

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Group’s formal decision-making 
procedure is based on the allocation of 
responsibilities between Board of Direc-
tors and CEO, as established in the 
Board’s Rules of Procedure. The Board 
receives monthly financial information 
summarising the financial results. The 
executive management holds regular 
meetings at which the financial reports 
are followed up. Risks are owned and 
managed by the various departments 
forming the Group. Representatives of 
different departments make up a risk 
management group responsible for 
monitoring the various risks. However, 
operational control is conducted at all 
levels throughout the Group. The risk 
management group meets four times a 
year; at the meetings risks are ranked 
and an action plan is drawn up. The 
Board assesses and monitors the risks 
and the quality of the financial report-
ing via the Audit Committee, which in 
turn maintains regular contact with the 
internal and external audit functions.

Information on the SJ Group’s pol-
icies, rules and instructions are available 
to all employees on the SJ intranet. In-
formation is also provided via workplace 
meetings and a personnel newsletter.

PROPOSALS FOR PRINCIPLES  
FOR REMUNERATION TO SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES
The Board’s proposals to the AGM for 
remuneration to senior executives are 
described below.

Principles for remuneration
During recruitment to the Company’s 
management, the guidelines on condi-
tions of employment for senior execu-
tives at State-owned enterprises, as 
adopted by the government on 20 April 

2009, shall be applied. Under these 
guidelines, the total remuneration paid 
to senior executives shall be competi-
tive, capped, reasonable and fit-for-pur-
pose. The level of remuneration shall 
not be on a pay-setting level, relative to 
comparable enterprises, and shall also 
be characterised by restraint.

The remuneration shall be constit-
uted cost-efficiently and based on the 
following components: fixed salary, 
pension and other benefits.

The fixed salary component shall re-
flect the demands placed on the posi-
tion in terms of competence, responsi-
bility, complexity and the manner in 
which it contributes towards achieving 
the objectives of the business. The fixed 
salary component shall be individually 
calculated and differentiated.Variable 
pay, including gratuities, bonuses and 
similar remuneration, shall not be of-
fered.

Pension benefits should be of the 
defined-contribution type. In the event 
that SJ agrees to a defined-benefit pen-
sion, it shall comply with the appropri-
ate collective-bargaining pension plan.
The pensionable age shall not be less 
than 62 years and should be not less 
than 65 years.The cost to the Company 
of the pension shall be borne during the 
employee’s period of activity.

The period of notice for members of 
the executive management may be up 
to six months if employment is term-
inated by the executive. If employment 
is terminated by the Company, the ex-
ecutive may also be entitled to a term-
ination benefit corresponding to no 
more than 18 monthly salary pay-
ments. Termination benefit shall be 
paid monthly and shall consist of a fixed 
monthly salary without employment 
benefits. Termination benefit will in no 
circumstances be paid beyond the age 
of 65 years.

The executive may be entitled to 
company car benefits, sickness and 
health benefits, travel insurance etc., in 
line with generally accepted practice in 
the market.

The Board is entitled to approve mi-
nor deviations from the principles de-
scribed above, on an individual basis. 
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The 2011 AGM resolved that, for finan-
cial reasons, existing agreements with 
senior executives are not to be renegoti-
ated. For more details of remuneration 
to senior executives, see Note 5.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
The disruptions of the past year ad-
versely affected train services and trust 
in the railway system. In the long term, 
growth in rail travel is expected to re-
main very healthy. The train is one of 
the most efficient modes of transport 
and has the least possible environmen-
tal impact. Unrestricted competition in 
rail passenger services was established 
in full during 2011. SJ is firmly commit-
ted to become first choice for passen-
gers in commercial public transport 
with new market conditions, via invest-
ments in uppgrading of the existing 
train fleet, purchase of new fast trains 
and a higher level of service.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting resolves 
on the adoption of income statements 
and balance sheets, payment of divi-
dend to the shareholder, discharging of 
the Board of Directors and CEO from li-
ability, guidelines to senior executives, 
fees to the Board of Directors and audi-
tors, and election of the Board of Direc-
tors and auditors.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE SWEDISH 
COMPANIES ACT, section 18, sub-
section 4
In its proposal for appropriation of profit, 
the Board recommends that at the 2012 
AGM, the shareholder should resolve for 
the 2011 financial year that SJ AB pay a 
dividend of SEK 3 per share, represent-
ing a total dividend of SEK 12 million. 
The Board further recommends that at 
the AGM, the shareholder should author-
ise the Board to determine day of pay-
ment.

SJ’s financial position
The owner’s financial targets for SJ AB 
are an equity/assets ratio of no less 
than 30 percent and a return on equity 
of no less than 10 percent. In the 2011 

financial year, SJ met its financial 
equity/assets ratio target but not the 
target for return on the Company’s eq-
uity. The Parent Company’s equity/as-
sets ratio is 48.9 percent and after pay-
ment of the proposed dividend 48.8 
percent. The proposed dividend repre-
sents 0.3 percent of the Parent Compa-
ny’s equity and 0.3 percent of the 
Group’s equity. The owner’s equity/as-
sets ratio target is also achieved after 
the proposed dividend. Of the Parent 
Company’s equity, SEK -24 million is at-
tributable to accumulated changes in 
value for financial instruments meas-
ured at fair value in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act, Ch. 4, 
subs. 14a. Of the above total, SEK -24 
million is change in value via other com-
prehensive income. Of the Group’s eq-
uity, SEK -21 million is attributable to 
accumulated changes in value for finan-
cial instruments measured at fair value 
in accordance with IAS 39, section 9. Of 
the above total, SEK -21 million is 
change in value via other comprehen-
sive income.

Basis of Board’s decision
With reference to the above, the Board 
considers that the proposed appropria-
tion of profit is justifiable in view of the 
requirements set forth in the Swedish 
Companies Act, Ch. 17, subs. 3, par. 2 
and 3. The nature and scope of the 
business does not involve risks of any 
greater magnitude than normally pre-
vail within the industry. The Board’s 
view of the financial position of the 
Company and the Group indicates that 
the dividend is justifiable in view of the 

demands that the nature, extent and 
risks associated with the business plac-
es on the size of the Company’s and the 
Group’s equity and the Company’s and 
the Group’s need for consolidation, li-
quidity and financial position in other 
respects. The Board takes the view that 
the proposed dividend will not affect SJ 
AB’s ability to fulfil the Company’s ob-
ligations in the short and long term or 
to make any necessary investments.

Events after the financial year-end
On 12 January, SJ AB entered into a 
framework agreement with Nordea re-
garding a loan facility limited to a maxi-
mum amount of SEK 500 million.

Delivery of SJ 3000 vehicles has 
been hit by major delays in relation to 
the agreed timetable. As a result, SJ has 
invoked its right to a delay penalty of 
around SEK 210 million in accordance 
with the conditions stated in the deliv-
ery contract. The supplier, Bombardier 
Transportation, has made certain objec-
tions regarding SJ’s right to penalties. 
However, SJ maintains its right to the 
said penalties. On 1 May, SJ will take 
over regional and commuter train serv-
ices in Västra Götaland, except for the 
Kinnekullebanan service.

APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT 
The following unappropriated profit in the Parent Company is at the disposal of the 
Annual General Meeting (SEK):

Retained earnings 3,713,096,665 
Profit for the year 4,342,747 
Total 3,717,439,412 

The Board proposes that the unappropriated profit be distributed as follows (SEK):

Dividend 12,000,000 
To be carried forward 3,705,439,412
Total 3,717,439,412
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Five-year summary

Group
2009

 
2008

 
20072011 2010

Statement of comprehensive income, summary, SEK million

Operating income 8,097 8,717 8,790 8,994 8,240

- net sales 8,038 8,627 8,741 8,992 8,230

Operating expenses -8,034 -8,270 -8,163 -8,203 -7,429

Operating profit 60 439 629 795 814

Profit after financial items 38 406 622 728 695

Tax on profit for the year -2 -112 -162 -203 -202

Profit for the year 36 294 460 525 493

Earnings per share (basic and diluted), SEK 9 73 115 131 123

Statement of changes in financial position, summary, SEK million
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 6,441 6,258 6,220 6,339 6,067

Intangible assets 314 312 360 346 233

Financial assets 474 436 514 454 760

Deferred tax assets - - - 116 293

Current assets

Inventories 6 5 5 4 0

Current receivables 709 1,003 591 709 798

Short-term deposits 921 1,044 2,315 1,506 657

Cash and cash equivalents 48 47 485 484 1,453

Non-current assets for sale - 171 - - -

Total assets 8,913 9,276 10,490 9,958 10,261

Equity 4,419 4,486 4,306 4,026 3,752

- holdings without controlling influence - - - - -

Interest-bearing liabilities 2,365 2,505 4,108 3,800 4,370

Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,565 1,721 1,661 1,791 1,791

Provisions 397 394 369 341 321

Deferred tax liabilities 167 170 46  -  -

Total equity and liabilities 8,913 9,276 10,490 9,958 10,261

Statement of cash flows, summary, SEK million
Cash flow from operating activities 778 787 1,329 1,309 1,159

Cash flow from investing activities -504 447 -1,304 -1,858 -151

Cash flow from financing activities -272 -1,672 -24 -420 -262

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 1 -438 1 -969 746

Investments 869 858 595 1,011 380

- affecting cash flow 869 858 595 1,011 340

Margins
Operating margin, % 0.7 5.0 7.2 8.8 9.9

Profit margin, % 0.5 4.7 7.1 8.1 8.4

Measures of return on capital
Return on capital employed, % 1.7 6.2 9.6 11.6 11.1

Return on equity, % 0.8 6.7 11.2 13.5 13.8

Capital structure at year-end
Equity, SEK million 4,419 4,486 4,306 4,026 3,752

Capital employed, SEK million 7,093 7,302 8,591 7,949 8,219

Net interest-bearing debt, SEK million 1,106 1,144 942 1,499 1,610

Gearing ratio, multiple 0,5 0,6 1,0 0,9 1,2

Equity/assets ratio, % 49,6 48,4 41,0 40,4 36,6

Average number of employees 4,041 4,262 4,439 4,539 4,053

For definitions, see page 96.
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Statement of  
comprehensive income
Group
SEKm Note 2011 2010

Net sales 2, 3 8,038 8,627

Other operating income 4 59 90

Total income 1 8,097 8,717

Personnel expenses 5 -2,415 -2,471

Depreciation and impairment 1, 6 -616 -667

Other expenses 3, 7, 8 -5,002 -5,132

Total expenses -8,034 -8,270

Result from interests in associated companies 14 -3 -8

Operating profit 1 60 439

Income from other securities and receivables 1, 9 57 75

Interest expenses and similar expenses 1, 9 -79 -108

Profit after financial items 38 406

Tax on profit for the year 1, 10 -2 -112

Profit for the year 1 36 294

Other comprehensive income  

Cash flow hedges 9 -15 41

Available-for-sale financial assets 9 -6 9

Deferred tax 10 6 -13

Other comprehensive income for the year 19 -15 38

Comprehensive income for the year 21 332

Income for the year attributable to:
Parent Company’s shareholder 36 294

- holdings without controlling influence - -

Comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Parent Company’s shareholder 21 332

- holdings without controlling influence - -

Earnings per share (basic and diluted), SEK 9 73

Number of shares at year-end, thousands 4,000 4,000

Average number of shares during year, thousands 4,000 4,000

  

 F i n a n c i a l  R e p o r t 49

Group



Operating income 
Income fell by SEK 620 million. The reduction is largely attrib-
utable to the transfer to new operators of Västtrafik and Öst-
götatrafiken in December 2010 and Upplands Lokaltrafik in 
June 2011.

Operating profit
The Group’s operating profit totalled SEK 60 million (439). 
This year, the early part of the period was again dominated by 
winter weather problems, leading to cancelled and delayed 
services. This impacted adversely on income and resulted in 
higher costs for the travel time guarantee, replacement servic-
es, customer service and maintenance costs. After the early 
months, SJ’s production capacity returned to normal levels. 
However, passenger numbers showed a relatively weak trend 
over the year, compared to the preceding year. Inland airlines 
sharply expanded their offerings in 2011, and their market 
share in the major destinations increased, relative to rail serv-
ices. In addition, the infrastructure disruptions during the year 
led to higher quality failure costs.

Last year’s figures for comparison were also affected by 
sharply higher demand in the wake of the Eyjafjallajökull erup-
tion in early April 2010, which brought air travel to a standstill. 
Overall, the effect of the ash cloud on profit last year is esti-
mated at around SEK 60 million. During the autumn, profit 

showed a positive trend. There were fewer disruptions, lower-
ing the costs of replacement services and travel time guaran-
tee compensation. In addition, general restraint with regard to 
costs played a part in improving results. The business of the 
Stockholmståg KB subsidiary performed satisfactorily during 
the year, mainly as a result of new agreements and lower win-
ter weather costs. In September, settlement of SJ AB’s dispute 
with the Tåg i Bergslagen regional train service resulted in a 
cost of SEK 150 million to SJ AB.

Operating margin and net financial items
The operating margin was 0.7 percent (5.0) primarily due to 
weaker profit than in the preceding year at the Parent Com-
pany SJ AB.

Net financial items amounted to SEK -22 million (-33). The 
improvement was attributable mainly to lower hedging instru-
ment costs.

Group’s profit and tax
The Group’s profit before tax totalled SEK 38 million (406).

Tax on profit for the year amounted to SEK -2 million 
(-112).  
The Group reported a net profit of SEK 36 million (294) for 
the year.

Comments on Statement of comprehensive income
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Statement of changes 
in financial position
Group
SEKm Note 2011 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Buildings 11 39 42

Rolling stock 11 4,464 4,451

Plant and machinery 11 53 57

Construction in progress 11 1,885 1,709

Intangible assets 12 314 312

Interests in associated companies 14 20 23

Securities held as non-current assets 15 0 0

Non-current receivables 16 454 412

Total non-current assets 7,228 7,006

Current assets
Inventories 6 5

Trade receivables 18 212 244

Receivables from associated companies 3 6 2

Other receivables 27 275 608

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 17 217 148

Short-term deposits 18 921 1,044

Cash and cash equivalents 18 48 47

Non-current assets for sale 26 - 171

Total current assets 1,685 2,270

TOTAL ASSETS 1 8,913 9,276
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Group

SEKm Note 2011 2010

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital 400 400

Other contributed capital 4,519 4,519

Reserves -17 -2

Retained earnings -486 -432

Total equity attributable to owner of Parent Company 19 4,419 4,486

- Shareholdings without controlling influence - -

Total equity 4,419 4,486

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 3, 18, 21 1,298 2,365

Other non-current liabilities 18 19 19

Non-current provisions 20 245 234

Deferred tax liability 10 167 170

Current liabilities

Lease liabilities 21 1,067 140

Trade payables 18 545 568

Accrued expenses and deferred income 22 798 923

Liabilities to associated companies 3 5 1

Tax liabilities 1 1

Other current liabilities 197 209

Current provisions 20 152 160

Total liabilities 4,494 4,790

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8,913 9,276

Contingent liabilities 24 429 933

Pledged assets 23 311 311

Total assets
The Group’s total assets amounted to SEK 8,913 million 
(9,276) at year-end.

Non-current assets
The Group’s property, plant and equipment at year-end 
totalled SEK 7,228 million (7,006), a rise of SEK 222 million 
that is in large part attributable to SJ 3000 trains.

Rolling stock and construction in progress amounted to 
SEK 6,349 million (6,160).

The Group’s intangible assets totalled SEK 314 million 
(312).

Current assets
The Group’s current assets amounted to SEK 1,685 (2,270). 
The difference was attributable to VAT recoverable totalling 
SEK 420 million that dates from 2010, which was settled in 
2011.

Equity
The Group’s equity totalled SEK 4,419 million (4,486). The 
Group’s equity/assets ratio was 49.6 percent (48.4).

Non-current liabilities
The Group’s non-current liabilities totalled SEK 1,729 million 
(2,788), consisting of lease liabilities, other non-current liabili-
ties, non-current provisions and deferred tax liability. The dif-
ference is attributable to the reclassification of a long-term to 
a current lease liability.

Long-term lease liabilities amounted to SEK 1,298 million 
(2,365). The average fixed-interest period in the overall loan 
portfolio was 1.4 (1.7) years.

Current liabilities
The Group’s current liabilities amounted to SEK 2,765 million 
(2,002). The increase is attributable to the reclassification of a 
long-term to a current lease liability.

Comments on Statement of changes in financial position
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Statement of cash flows

Group
SEKm Note 2011 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit after financial items 38 406

Adjustments for non-cash items
- Depreciation and impairment 6 616 667

- Changes in provisions 3 25

- Capital gain -10 10

- Other changes 7 26

- Result from interests in associated companies 3 8

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 658 1,142

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-) / Decrease (+) in inventories -1 0

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) in operating receivables 294 -411

Increase (+) / Decrease (-) in operating liabilities -173 56

Cash flow from operating activities 778 787

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 11,12, 25

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment -785 -784

Acquisition of intangible assets -84 -60

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 243 35

Acquisition of shares and participating interests - -14

Short-term deposits (91-360 days) 122 1,270

Cash flow from investing activities -504 447

Cash flow from financing activities 274 1,234

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Other long-term interest-bearing receivables -42 84

Amortisation of lease liability -140 -1,137

Repayment of loans - -466

Other non-current liabilities - 0

Dividend -90 -153

Cash flow from financing activities -272 -1,672

Cash flow for the year 1 -438

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 47 485

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 18 48 47

The cash flow from operating activities for the year was a posi-
tive SEK 778 million (787). A weaker operating profit was off-
set by positive changes in working capital. The main items 
among changes in working capital in the period under review 
were recoverable VAT totalling SEK 420 million, above all re-
lating to redemption of SJ 2000 leases and advance payment 
for SJ 3000 trains in December 2010.

The cash flow from investing activities was SEK -504 mil-
lion (447). In 2010, a change took place in current deposits 
with a positive effect of SEK 1,270 million on cash flow, partly 
to fund investments and redemption of leases.

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intan-
gible non-current assets for the year totalled SEK 869 million 
(844), of which SEK 746 million (749) was for vehicles and SEK 
84 million (60) for investments in intangible assets. Other in-

vestments totalled SEK 39 million (35). The principal invest-
ments were in SJ 3000 trains and continued uppgrading of SJ 
passenger carriages. Sales of non-current assets delivered a 
positive cash flow of SEK 243 million (35), the main difference 
being that non-current assets for sale during 2010 have now 
been sold.

The cash flow from financing activities was a negative SEK 
-272 million (-1,672). The main difference from the preceding 
year was amortisation of lease liabilities and loans. Interest re-
ceived by the Group totalled SEK 57 million, as against inter-
est paid of SEK million 77.

The overall cash flow for the Group in the period was SEK 
1 million (-438). Cash and cash equivalents, as shown in the 
balance sheet, totalled SEK 48, million as against SEK 47 
million on 31 December 2010.

Comments on Statement of cash flows
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Statement of  
changes in equity

Group Attributable to shareholders in Parent Company

SEK million Note
Share 

capital

Other 
contributed 

capital

Reserves  
Cashflow 

hedges

Reserves 
Available-for-sale 

financial assets
Retained 
earnings Total

Shareholdings 
without 

controlling 
influence

Total 
equity

01-01-2010 19 400 4,519 -40 0 -573 4,306 0 4,306

Profit for the year 294 294 - 294
Other comprehensive 
income 31 7 - 38 - 38

Comprehensive 
income 31 7 294 332 - 332
Dividend to 
shareholder -153 -153 - -153

31-12-2010 19 400 4,519 -9 7 -432 4,486 0 4,486

Profit for the year 36 36 - 36
Other comprehensive 
income -10 -5 - -15 - -15

Comprehensive 
income -10 -5 36 21 - 21
Dividend to 
shareholder -90 -90 - -90

31-12-2011 19 400 4,519 -19 2 -486 4,419 - 4,419

The Group’s equity totalled SEK 4,419 million (4,486). The 
equity/assets ratio was 49.6 percent (48.4).

The change in the Group’s equity consisted in large part of 
a fall in profit of SEK 36 million (294) for the year after tax. In 
addition to the change in profit for the year, equity showed a 

change of SEK -105 million. This was in the main attributable 
to dividend of SEK 90 million to the shareholder.

Based on equity in the preceding year, SEK 4,486 million, 
and net changes of SEK 67 million for the year, the Group’s 
closing equity totalled SEK 4,419 million.

Comments on Group’s equity
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Parent Company
SEK million Note 2011 2010 20101)

Net sales 2,3 6,013 6,782 6,782

Other operating income 4 97 95 95

Total operating income 1 6,109 6,877 6,877

Personnel expenses 5 -1,815 -1,935 -1,935

Depreciation and impairment 1,6 -604 -643 -643

Other expenses 3,7,8 -3,648 -3,880 -3,880

Total operating expenses -6,067 -6,458 -6,458

Operating profit 1 42 419 419

Income from subsidiaries 28 -6 - 26

Interest income and similar income 1,9 50 69 69

Interest expenses and similar expenses 1,9 -83 -109 -109

Profit after financial items 4 379 405

Tax on profit for the year 1,10 1 -109 -116

Profit for the year 1 4 270 290

1 Adjusted figures provided for comparison in accordance with RFR 2, issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, regarding Group contributions.

Income statement

Statement of  
comprehensive income
Parent Company
SEK million Note 2011 2010 20101)

Profit for the year 1 4 270 290

Cash flow hedges 9 -15 41 41

Available-for-sale financial assets 9 -6 9 9

Deferred tax 10 6 -13 -13

Other comprehensive income for the year 19 -15 38 38

Comprehensive income for the year -11 308 328

1 Adjusted figures provided for comparison in accordance with RFR 2, issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, regarding Group contributions.
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Balance sheet

Parent Company
SEKm Note 2011 2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Capitalised development costs 12 210 258

Brand 12 0 0

Total intangible assets 210 258

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings 11 39 42

Rolling stock 11 4,459 4,617

Plant and machinery 11 41 41

Construction in progress 11 1,883 1,708

Total property, plant and equipment 6,422 6,408

Financial assets
Interests in Group companies 13 206 204

Interests in associated companies 14 16 16

Securities held as non-current assets 15 0 0

Non-current receivables 16 311 311

Total financial assets 534 531

Total non-current assets 7,166 7,197

Current assets
Receivables

Inventories 6 5

Trade receivables 18 112 135

Receivables from Group companies 3 308 141

Receivables from associated companies 3 5 1

Other receivables 27 197 545

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 17 122 85

Total receivables 750 912

Short-term deposits
Other short-term deposits 18 864 954

Total short-term deposits 864 954

Cash in hand and on deposit 18 48 47

Total current assets 1,662 1,913

TOTAL ASSETS 1 8,828 9,110
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Parent Company
SEKm Note 2011 2010

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity

Share capital 400 400

Statutory reserve 200 200

Unrestricted equity
Fair value reserve -18 -3

Retained earnings 3,731 3,552

Profit for the year 4 270

Total equity 19 4,317 4,419

Liabilities

Provisions

Non-current provisions 20 172 174

Current provisions 20 92 71

Deferred tax liability 10 155 161

Total provisions 1 419 406

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 3, 18, 21 1,298 2,365

Other non-current liabilities 18 19 19

Total non-current liabilities 1,317 2,384

Current liabilities  

Trade payables 444 460

Liabilities to Group companies 3 432 330

Liabilities to associated companies 3 5 1

Lease liabilities 21 1,066 140

Other liabilities 99 139

Accrued expenses and deferred income 22 728 831

Total current liabilities 1 2,775 1,901

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 8,828 9,110

Pledged assets 23 311 311

Contingent liabilities 24 631 1,069
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Statement of cash flows

Parent Company
SEKm Note 2011 2010

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit after financial items 4 379

Adjustments for non-cash items
- Depreciation and impairment 6 604 643

- Changes in provisions 19 1

- Capital gain -10 10

- Other changes 3 49

Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital 620 1,082

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-) / Decrease (+) in inventories -1 0

Increase (-) / Decrease (+) in operating receivables 163 -345

Increase (+) / Decrease (-) in operating liabilities -70 14

Cash flow from operating activities 711 751

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 11,12, 25

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment -781 -773

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 242 35

Acquisition of intangible assets -29 -31

Acquisition of shares and participating interests -3 -14

Short-term deposits (91-360 days) 90 1,337

Cash flow from investing activities -481 554

Cash flow from financing activities 230 1,305

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Other long-term interest-bearing receivables - -6

Amortisation of lease liability -140 -1,137

Repayment of loans - -466

Other non-current liabilities - 0

Dividend -90 -153

Group contributions - 19

Cash flow from financing activities -230 -1,743

Cash flow for the year 1 -438

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 47 485

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 18 48 47

Interest received by the Group totalled SEK 50 million, as against interest paid of SEK 72 million.
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Changes in equity
The change in the Parent Company’s equity in 2011 is attributable in the main to dividend of SEK -90 million (-153).  
In addition to the dividend paid, equity was also affected by cash flow hedges of SEK -15 million (37).

Notes on Parent Company’s equity 

Parent Company Restricted equity Unrestricted equity

Fair value reserve

SEK million
Share 

capital
Statutory 

reserve
Cash flow 

hedges

Available- 
for-sale  

financial  
assets

Retained 
earnings

Profit for 
the year

Total 
equity

01-01-2010 400 200 -40 0 3,303 383 4,246
Profit for the year 270 270

Other comprehensive income 30 7 37

Comprehensive income 30 7 270 307

Appropriation of profits 383 -383 0

Group contributions received 19 19

Dividend to shareholder -153 -153

31-12-2010 400 200 -10 7 3,552 270 4,419
Profit for the year 4 4

Other comprehensive income -10 -5 -15

Comprehensive income -10 -5 4 -11

Appropriation of profits 270 -270 0

Dividend to shareholder -90 -90

31-12-2011 400 200 -20 2 3,731 4 4,317

Statement of  
changes in equity
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Accounting policies

GENERAL INFORMATION
The SJ Group operates passenger serv-
ices and other compatible activities, di-
rectly and indirectly, via subsidiaries 
and associated companies. The ac-
counts for the SJ Group for the financial 
year ending on 31 December 2011 
were approved on 30 March 2012 by 
the Board of Directors and the Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer for publication and will 
be submitted to the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) on 27 April 2012 for 
adoption. The Parent Company is a 
Swedish limited liability company with 
its registered office in Stockholm, Swe-
den. The Parent Company, SJ AB, and 
its subsidiaries are referred to collec-
tively as “the Group”.

AMOUNTS AND DATES
Unless otherwise indicated, amounts 
are in millions of Swedish kronor (SEK 
million). The period for items relating to 
profit for the year is 1 January - 31 De-
cember and the date for items relating 
to financial position is 31 December.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED
The accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of the annual accounts for 
the Group and Parent Company are set 
out below. These accounting policies 
have been consistently applied in all the 
years presented, unless otherwise indi-
cated.

Conformity with regulations and 
standards
The consolidated accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB), as 
adopted by the EU. SJ also applies the 
interpretations issued by the Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Interpreta-
tions Committee (IFRIC). Furthermore, 
the consolidated accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with Swedish 
law, by application of the Swedish Fi-
nancial Reporting Board’s recom-
mendation RFR 1, Supplementary Ac-
counting Rules for Groups.

The Parent Company accounts have 

been prepared in accordance with 
Swedish law, by application of recom-
mendations in RFR 2, Accounting Rules 
for Legal Entities issued by the Swedish 
Financial Reporting Board. This means 
that IFRS measurement and disclosure 
rules are applied, apart from exemp-
tions arising from statutory provisions 
or the relationship between accounting 
and taxation. Deviations between the 
Group and Parent Company accounting 
policies are described in the relevant 
section, below.

The Parent Company can thus ac-
count for untaxed reserves in the bal-
ance sheet and appropriations in the in-
come statement. SJ AB also complies 
with the Rule Book for Issuers issued by 
Nasdaq OMX Stockholm.

BASIS OF RECOGNITION
Recognition is based primarily on his-
torical cost, except for specific financial 
instruments.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
As of 2011, the Parent Company recog-
nises Group contributions received as 
financial income and Group contribu-
tions provided as financial expense. Val-
ues reported for 2010 are presented in 
a separate column on the income state-
ment and statement of comprehensive 
income.

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Amendment
The amendment clarifies what is meant 
by related parties and accounting for 
transactions in financial reporting. The 
standard, which is to be applied from 
the 2011 financial year, allows a certain 
exemption regarding disclosures on re-
lated government agencies and State-
owned corporations. As a result, SJ no 
longer provides disclosures on insignifi-
cant transactions with government 
agencies and State-owned companies. 
SJ elected for early adoption of the 
standard with effect from the 2010 fi-
nancial year.

NEW ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following section provides informa-

tion on those new and amended ac-
counting standards that are thought 
may affect SJ.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement
This standard is part of a complete revi-
sion of the current IAS 39 standard. The 
standard reduces the number of meas-
urement categories for financial assets, 
to consist of the main categories recog-
nition at Historical cost (amortised cost) 
and Fair value via the income state-
ment. In the case of certain investments 
in a company’s own equity instrument, 
it is possible for the item to be recog-
nised at fair value in the balance sheet, 
with any change in value taken directly 
to other comprehensive income, in 
which case no transfer takes place to 
profit for the period on disposal of the 
asset. In addition, new rules have been 
introduced determining how changes in 
a company’s own credit spread should 
be recognised when liabilities are meas-
ured at fair value. Rules on impairment 
losses, hedge accounting and derecog-
nition from the balance sheet will be 
added to the standard. The standard is 
to be implemented from 1 January 
2015. Pending completion of all parts 
of the standard, SJ has not assessed the 
possible effects of the new standard.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 
Statements
This standard replaces most of IAS 27 
and SIC 12. The intention is that there 
should be one core basis for consolidat-
ing investment projects within a Group, 
and that the core basis should be degree 
of controlling influence. This is defined 
as when all of the following three criteria 
are satisfied: 1) the ability to direct the 
relevant activities; 2) exposure, or rights, 
to variable returns; and 3) the ability to 
use its power to exercise control. The 
standard is to start being implemented 
from 1 January 2013.

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements
The core principle is that two or more 
parties exercise a controlling influence, 
as provided for in IFRS 10. There are also 
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two different classifications. The first is 
joint operation, in which the parties have 
rights to the assets and obligations for 
the liabilities relating to the arrange-
ment. The second classification is joint 
venture, where the parties have rights to 
the net assets relating to the arrange-
ment. The factor critical to classification 
is the parties’ respective rights and ob-
ligations under the relevant agreement. 
The different classifications are subject 
to different accounting rules. A joint op-
erator accounts for the assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses relating to its in-
volvement in accordance with the rele-
vant IFRSs. A joint venture is required to 
account for its investment using the 
equity method in accordance with IAS 
28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures. The standard is to be imple-
mented from 1 January 2013.

IFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in 
Other Entities
The standard deals with disclosures re-
garding interests in subsidiaries, associ-
ated companies and other companies. 
The information required is extensive. It 
is intended to assist the reader of the fi-
nancial report in determining the level 
of influence that the interest in other en-
tities may represent. Disclosures that 
have to be provided include details of 
what controlling influence is exercised 
and what important estimates or as-
sumptions have been made. Informa-
tion is also required as to any joint ar-
rangement that is in place. The stand-
ard is to be implemented from 1 Janu-
ary 2013.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement
The standard represents a framework 
for measuring fair value when required 
by other standards. It applies to both fi-
nancial and non-financial items.

Fair value is the price or compensa-
tion that can be obtained at the meas-
urement date (exit price). The standard 
is to be implemented from 1 January 
2013.

IMPORTANT ACCOUNTING ISSUES;
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Assessments of important accounting 
issues
During preparation of the Group and 
Parent Company accounts, the Board 
and executive management have made 
a number of estimates, together with a 
number of assessments of critical ac-
counting issues of major importance to 
the amounts reported. This applies to 

the following areas:

Leases
Most of SJ AB’s rolling stock is held via 
financial leases and is therefore recog-
nised in both income statement and 
balance sheet. When estimating the 
economic life of the rolling stock, it is 
apparent that it exceeds the term of the 
leases. SJ AB intends to assume owner-
ship of the rolling stock on expiry of the 
leases. As a result, depreciation is ap-
plied over the expected useful life.

Financial instruments
When SJ uses financial instruments, it 
has the option of classifying them in 
four different categories. The principal 
rule is that an instrument is classified in 
accordance with how similar instru-
ments have been classified in the past. 
When a new type of instrument is used, 
a decision is taken on how it is to be 
classified.

Penalty payments
When trains are purchased, any penalty 
payments are normally deducted from 
the project cost. In certain cases where 
penalty payments are made to cover loss 
of revenue or additional costs arising 
from non-fulfilment of a contract, this is 
recognised via the income statement.

Uncertainty in estimates and 
 assumptions
During preparation of the accounts, the 
Board and executive management 
make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts reported in the ac-
counts for assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, as well as other information 
disclosed. The actual outcome may dif-
fer from these estimates. The impact of 
changes in estimates and assumptions 
is recognised in the Statement of com-
prehensive income in the period in 
which the change is made, if the change 
only affects that period, or in the period 
in which the change is made and in lat-
er periods if the change affects both the 
current and future periods.
Estimates and assumptions are based 
on experience and prudent assump-
tions of future market trends, but also 
on current circumstances, such as polit-
ical decisions. Of particular importance 
to SJ’s financial position are estimates 
in the calculation of the value in use of 
investments in trains, the outcome of 
onerous contracts in transport and 
service deliveries, estimates of pro-
jected outgoings for actuarial provi-

sions, and assessments of the outcome 
of disputes in which provision is only 
made for amounts of compensation 
where it is possible to make an estimate 
of the outcome with reasonable assur-
ance, or where the assessment is not at 
present likely to be accurate.

In annual testing for any impairment 
requirement, the lowest cash-generat-
ing unit is considered to comprise the 
SJ Group, excluding Stockholmståg KB.
The amounts recognised regarding the 
above-mentioned assets and liabilities 
are shown in Notes 11, 22 and 24.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE 
GROUP
The consolidated accounts comprise 
the Parent Company SJ AB and all sub-
sidiaries. Companies acquired during 
the year are included in the Group’s 
statement of comprehensive income 
and statement of financial position, and 
statement of cash flows from the date of 
acquisition, inclusive. Divested com-
panies are included up to and including 
the date of disposal.

Purchase method
The Group accounts are prepared using 
the purchase method. This means that 
the assets, liabilities and contingent li-
abilities of acquired subsidiaries are re-
ported at fair value in accordance with 
an analysis prepared of the acquisition. 
If the historical cost of acquisition of 
shares in a subsidiary exceeds the esti-
mated fair value of the Company’s net 
assets, the difference is recorded as 
goodwill. Transaction costs in connec-
tion with acquisitions are recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive in-
come as they arise. Goodwill is meas-
ured and recognised after the acquisi-
tion date as an asset at historical cost 
less any accumulated impairment loss-
es. Goodwill that arises from a company 
acquisition is not amortised on a sys-
tematic basis but is tested at least an-
nually for impairment. If prevailing cir-
cumstances indicate there is evidence 
of impairment, the testing is more fre-
quent. Impairment losses are recog-
nised in income.

Subsidiaries
The subsidiaries that are included in the 
consolidated accounts are the com-
panies in which SJ AB has a controlling 
influence, that is to say in which it has 
the right to formulate the subsidiary’s 
financial and operational strategies. In 
non-wholly-owned subsidiaries, hold-
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ings without controlling influence are 
recognised in the Group statement of fi-
nancial position in equity, and comprise 
the external shareholders’ share in the 
subsidiary’s profits and net assets. In 
the statement of comprehensive in-
come, the participation in profit accru-
ing to a shareholder without controlling 
influence is included in the Group’s 
profit. A classification of how much is 
attributable to the Parent Company’s 
shareholder and to owners of holdings 
without controlling influence is present-
ed in conjunction with the statement of 
comprehensive income and separately 
in the Group’s equity in the statement 
of financial position.

Associated companies
Associated companies are those in 
which the Parent Company directly or 
indirectly controls 20–50 percent of the 
voting rights or exercises significant in-
fluence. Associated companies are con-
solidated using the equity method. In 
this, interests in associates are recog-
nised at historical cost plus or minus SJ 
AB’s interest in profits or losses arising 
after acquisition. The Group statement 
of comprehensive income reflects the 
Group’s interest in the profits of the as-
sociate companies during the period. 
Interests in profits have been measured 
at the most recently available balance-
sheet date from the associate com-
panies, but not if this is older than three 
months. Significant events and transac-
tions occurring during the period up to 
the balance sheet date concerned have 
then been taken into account.

Parent Company
Interests in subsidiaries and associated 
companies are accounted for within the 
Parent Company using the historical 
cost method. Dividends received are 
recognised in income. The value is test-
ed for impairment at least once a year.

Elimination of intra-Group transactions
Intra-Group receivables and liabilities 
and internal sales and profits are elimi-
nated in their entirety in the consolidat-
ed accounts.

Internal pricing
Goods and services traded between 
Group companies are transacted at 
market rates.

INCOME RECOGNITION
Income is recognised when it can be 
measured reliably, and when it is prob-

able that the future economic benefits 
will flow to SJ. Income is recognised at 
fair value, which is the selling value less 
any discounts and taxes, and excluding 
VAT.

Income/net sales
Net sales comprise income from train 
services, bistro sales, hiring out of roll-
ing stock and commission income. Rev-
enue from train services and bistro 
sales is recognised when the train jour-
ney is completed. This means that 
tickets that are sold but not used are 
recognised on the balance-sheet date 
as prepaid income. Revenue relating to 
SJ Prio is recognised using IFRIC 13, 
Customer Loyalty Programmes, mean-
ing the initial sale is divided according 
to the component method, whereby a 
portion of the revenue is reserved as a 
payment obligation for the future bonus 
commitment. When the customer re-
deems the bonus and the Company has 
fulfilled its obligation, the revenue is 
recognised as income. The future bonus 
commitment is measured at fair value, 
through an estimate of the degree the 
benefit will be used in the future.

Income from contracts where SJ AB 
provides commissioned services accrues 
on a straight-line basis until the month in 
which services are performed as per 
timetable. Income from season tickets 
accrues on a straight-line basis over the 
period in which the tickets are valid. In-
come from hiring out rolling stock is rec-
ognised on a straight-line basis over the 
course of the contract period. Commis-
sion income, which arises when SJ AB 
sells travel services on behalf of other op-
erators, is recognised as of the sale date. 
Income from sales of goods is recog-
nised when material risks and benefits 
associated with the goods are trans-
ferred to the buyer.

Other income
Other income means income not attrib-
utable to net sales. It consists essential-
ly of the net realisable value less book 
value in connection with sale of proper-
ty, plant and equipment, plus insurance 
claim payments. Net realisable value is 
recognised on delivery of the equip-
ment, and insurance claim payments 
are normally recognised when the in-
surance company has approved a re-
quest for payment of a claim or on pay-
ment thereof.

SEGMENT REPORTING
Segment reporting is based on the 
management’s perspective. An operat-
ing segment is a business unit that en-
gages in business activities from which 
it may earn income and in which it may 
incur expenses (including income and 
expenses relating to transactions with 
other components of the same unit) 
and whose operating results are regu-
larly reviewed by the unit’s manage-
ment and board of directors as a basis 
for decisions on resource allocation. 
This means that separate financial in-
formation must be available for seg-
ments that are reported externally. The 
Group reports the following segments:  
SJ AB, Stockholmståg KB and Other 
Subsidiaries.

The Group’s operations are essen-
tially conducted in Sweden, and the 
Group therefore only reports one geo-
graphical location, see Note 1.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
Depreciation and amortisation are 
measured using the straight-line 
method according to systematic plans 
for the useful life of the assets, starting 
in the month after the asset has been 
used for the first time. The useful life of 
an asset is subjected to continuous re-
view and depreciation amounts are ad-
justed in line with the results of this 
process.

The depreciation period for certain 
intangible assets is 10 years, as this 
period of depreciation best reflects their 
useful life.

High-value components and addi-
tional investments are depreciated over 
the remaining useful life of the main 
unit. Repairs of high-value components 
are expensed as they arise.

Trains constitute the major part of SJ 
AB’s property, plant and equipment and 
are divided into two main components: 
chassis and interior. The depreciation 
periods for these components differ.

The depreciation and amortisation 
periods for intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment are as shown 
below:

Capitalised development ex-
penses, sales systems and 
trademarks 10 years
Capitalised development ex-
penses, other systems 3-5 years
Engines and electric motor-
ised units - chassis

20-25 
years
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X2 trains and regional trains - 
chassis 20 years

Train interiors
7-13 
years

Internet installations in trains, 
handheld computers, china 3 years
Buildings - workshops 20 years

Building equipment
5-10 
years

Company cars 5 years
Machinery, computer servers 
and equipment

5-10 
years

Improvements in leased 
premises

deter-
mined by 
length of 

lease

Impairment of assets
Assets are tested for impairment at 
each balance-sheet date to determine 
whether there is any indication that 
they have declined in value. If this is the 
case, the recoverable amount is calcu-
lated. The recoverable amount consists 
of the net realisable value or value in 
use, whichever is higher. Value in use is 
measured as the present value of ex-
pected future cash flows until the end of 
the useful life of an asset or other cash-
generating unit. An impairment loss is 
recognised when the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount. Im-
pairment losses are recognised in in-
come. Property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets are tested annual-
ly for impairment.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to 
purchase, construction or production of 
assets that require a considerable time 
to be completed are included in the ac-
quisition cost of the asset. Borrowing 
costs are otherwise carried as expenses.

INCOME TAX
Income tax consists of current tax and 
deferred tax. Current tax is based on 
profit for the period and is calculated 
using tax rates prevailing on the bal-
ance-sheet date. Tax paid or received 
during the current year is classified as 
current tax. This includes adjustments 
to current tax for previous years.

Taxes are recognised in the income 
statement except when the underlying 
transaction is recognised directly in 
comprehensive income.

Deferred tax that is paid in the future 
or reduces future tax liabilities is recog-
nised for the differences between the car-
rying amounts and tax values of assets 

and liabilities. These are known as tem-
porary differences. Costs that will become 
tax deductible after being recognised in 
the income statement may also give rise 
to deferred tax assets. Deferred tax is de-
termined using tax rates that have been 
enacted or announced by the balance-
sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax as-
set is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. Deferred tax assets aris-
ing from tax-loss carry-forwards are rec-
ognised to the extent that it is probable 
that they will be utilised in the future.

The carrying amount for a deferred 
tax asset is reviewed on each balance 
sheet date and the claim reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that 
a sufficient taxable surplus will be avail-
able.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are calculated as the 
Parent Company’s average number of 
shares during the period, relative to 
Group profit after deducting the inter-
ests of owners of holdings without con-
trolling influence. SJ has no convertible 
debentures, preference shares or op-
tion programmes. As a result, no dilu-
tion effects arise.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are 
stated at acquisition cost after deduc-
tion of accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 
Amounts are tested annually for impair-
ment.

Building
The cost of the building, a workshop for 
maintaining the double-decker trains, 
corresponds to the present value of 
minimum leasing costs for the lease 
term. Restoration expense commit-
ments are included in cost.

Rolling stock, plant and machinery
The cost of rolling stock is the purchase 
price plus expenditure directly related 
to the asset in order to bring it to a loca-
tion and to such a condition that it can 
be used in accordance with the purpose 
of its acquisition. Such expenditure re-
lates primarily to planning expenditure 
and interest expenses during the con-
struction period. Additional expenses, 
such as upgrades of train interiors, are 
capitalised.

Most rolling stock is held on finance 
leases. It is therefore recognised in the 
balance sheet at whichever is the lower 

of fair value or current value of the mini-
mum lease charge determined at the 
start of the lease term. Depreciation is 
booked according to the same structure 
as for property, plant and equipment.

Construction in progress
Construction in progress includes non-
current assets that have been delivered 
but are not yet in use. Examples include 
rolling stock yet to enter service pend-
ing controls, testing or modification, 
and construction in progress.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The principal rule is that intangible as-
sets are recognised in the balance sheet 
when:
• the asset is identifiable
•  the Group is certain that future eco-

nomic benefits from the asset will 
flow to the Group

•  the Group can reliably measure the 
cost.

Capitalised development expenses
Capitalised development expenses are 
recognised at cost using the acquisition 
cost method, after deduction of any ac-
cumulated depreciation and any accu-
mulated impairment losses. Identifiable 
development expenditure attributable 
to specific projects is capitalised when it 
is considered that such expenditure will 
generate future financial benefits, pro-
vided that the Group exercises control 
over the asset. Development expenses 
that are capitalised comprise sales sys-
tems, systems for customer pro-
grammes and systems for work plan-
ning for train crews. System develop-
ment expenses are recognised under 
intangible assets as work in progress 
until the date on which the Group be-
gins to use the systems.

Brand
The brand is recognised at cost using 
the acquisition cost method, after de-
duction of any accumulated deprecia-
tion and any accumulated impairment 
losses.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are valued at the lower of 
cost or net realisable value. Due ac-
count has been taken of the risk of ob-
solescence. In determining the acquisi-
tion cost, the first-in first-out (FIFO) 
principle has been applied. The net re-
alisable value is determined as selling 
price less selling expenses.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Recognition and measurement
Financial instruments, defined as finan-
cial assets and liabilities and derivative 
instruments, are recognised in the bal-
ance sheet only when the Group is party 
to the underlying contract. On the date 
of initial recognition, financial instru-
ments are measured at fair value includ-
ing directly attributable transaction ex-
penses, other than financial assets rec-
ognised at fair value in income.

Depending on the class of instru-
ment, subsequent valuations are meas-
ured at fair value or amortised cost us-
ing the effective interest method for the 
relevant class of instrument. The 
change in value may be recognised in 
other comprehensive income or in-
come.

All value changes in interest rate de-
rivatives attributable to the effective 
portion of cash flow hedges are recog-
nised in other comprehensive income 
until cash flows arising from the hedged 
instruments occur, and are then recog-
nised in income.

All value changes in currency deriva-
tives held for hedging purposes are rec-
ognised in other comprehensive in-
come. When the hedged investment is 
paid, the amount is recognised against 
the non-current asset.

Fair value
When an active market for financial in-
struments exists, the fair value of such 
instruments corresponds to the prices 
listed on active markets for identical as-
sets or liabilities (level 1). In the absence 
of a level 1 active market, the fair value 
corresponds to other input data for the 
asset or liability, either observable di-
rectly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., 
derived from prices) (level 2). Fair value 
can then be measured on the basis of 
comparison with similar instruments or 
by considering the interest rate projec-
tion or credit curve for the issuer con-
cerned. In the absence of level 2 prices, 
measurement of the asset or liability in 
question is not based on observable 
market data (level 3).

Amortised cost
Recognition at amortised cost for trade 
and other receivables means that the fi-
nancial instrument is measured at cost 
less impairment losses arising from fi-
nancial assets that cannot be recovered.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is used to 
calculate the amortised cost of a finan-
cial asset or financial liability, and to al-
locate the interest income or interest 
expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that ex-
actly discounts estimated future cash 
flows associated with the instrument 
through to maturity.

Derecognition from the balance sheet
A financial asset is wholly or partly dere-
cognised from the balance sheet when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset cease, or when the Group 
transfers such contractual rights, or in 
certain cases when the Group retains 
the rights but undertakes to pay cash 
flows to a third party or parties. A finan-
cial liability is wholly or partly derecog-
nised from the balance sheet when the 
contractual obligations have been com-
pleted, cancelled or terminated.

Classification
The Group classifies financial assets in 
three categories:
•  financial assets measured at fair val-

ue via the income statement
• loan receivables and trade 

receivables
•  available-for-sale financial assets
The Group classifies all financial 
liabilities as:
•  financial liabilities measured at am-

ortised cost
This classification depends on the pur-
pose for which the instruments were ac-
quired.

All of SJ’s financial instruments are 
reported, classified by category, meas-
urement policy and measurement 
method (level), in Note 18.

Financial assets measured at fair value 
via income 
Those of the Group’s derivative instru-
ments that are not identified as hedges 
are recognised at fair value via income. 
Also included in this category are secu-
rities held as non-current assets, shares 
and participating interests, cash in 
hand and on deposit and bonds. These 
have been classified in this category 
since the Company’s management fol-
lows them up on the basis of fair values.

The Group uses the cash/settlement 
approach for this asset category, except 
with regard to derivatives recognised on 
the transaction date, and the change in 
value is recognised via the income 
statement.

Loan receivables and trade receivables
This category of assets consists of non-
derivative financial assets that are not 
listed on a market with fixed payments, 
including trade receivables, loan receiv-
ables and other receivables. They are 
included among current assets, except 
for those with maturities greater than 
12 months after the balance-sheet date. 
Transaction-day accounting is used for 
this category of financial assets. The as-
sets are measured at amortised cost. 
Value changes are recognised via in-
come when the financial asset is derec-
ognised from the balance sheet by im-
pairment or accrual.

Available-for-sale financial assets
This category includes investments not 
identified as being held for trading, and 
financial instruments not classified in 
any other category. Settlement-date ac-
counting is used for available-for-sale fi-
nancial assets. Value changes are rec-
ognised in other comprehensive in-
come.

Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost
This category includes borrowings and 
trade payables. Assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective inter-
est method. SJ uses transaction-date 
accounting for trade payables.

HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Cash flow hedging
SJ uses hedging instruments to guaran-
tee future cash flows, for instance when 
investments are made in foreign cur-
rencies. Under cash flow hedging rules, 
such hedges are recognised in the bal-
ance sheet at fair value. This means that 
changes in the value of currency for-
wards are recognised in other compre-
hensive income, in the hedging reserve. 
When the hedged amount falls due for 
payment, the value in the hedging re-
serve is transferred to the asset via 
other comprehensive income.

SJ uses interest-rate derivatives to 
hedge risks arising from floating inter-
est rates. These are recorded at fair val-
ue and changes in value are here too 
recognised directly in other compre-
hensive income, in the hedging reserve. 
If the hedging relationship ceases to ex-
ist upon the premature redemption of 
underlying debt, the cumulative change 
in value is recognised in the income 
statement under other comprehensive 
income. If hedging ceases for some oth-
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er reason, for example a decision to 
change the duration of the debt port-
folio, the surplus or deficit is distributed 
over the period until the interest rate 
derivative would have matured.

The portion of the profit or loss on a 
hedging instrument that is considered 
to be an effective cash flow hedge is ini-
tially recognised in other comprehen-
sive income and the ineffective part of 
the profit or loss is recognised via in-
come.

CREDIT LOSSES
On the balance sheet date, the Group 
performs a test to determine if any ob-
jective evidence exists to indicate that an 
impairment loss has arisen on a finan-
cial asset or group of financial assets. An 
impairment loss for a financial asset car-
ried at amortised cost is measured as 
the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset and the present val-
ue of estimated cash flows. Impairment 
losses are recognised in income. Availa-
ble-for-sale financial assets are reviewed 
to determine whether a need for impair-
ment exists. If there is objective evidence 
for impairment to be performed, the ac-
cumulated loss recognised in other com-
prehensive income is reclassified from 
equity via other comprehensive income 
to income.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non-current security holdings, shares 
and participations
Non-current holdings of securities are 
measured at fair value. These holdings 
consist mainly of shares in unlisted 
companies, over which the Group does 
not exercise any significant influence.

Non-current receivables
Non-current receivables are recognised 
at amortised cost on the balance sheet 
date.

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are recognised at 
amortised cost, which is the same as 
the invoiced amount, once the invoice 
has been sent. Bad debts are assessed 
individually when they are considered 
no longer likely to result in full payment.

ACCRUED INCOME
Accrued income is income recognised 
in the current year, where payment is to 
be received in future years.

SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS
Short-term deposits are financial in-

struments with a term to maturity of be-
tween 91 days and one year, as well as 
longer-term bond assets held for trad-
ing purposes.

Parent Company
The Parent Company’s short-term de-
posits have a term to maturity of up to 
90 days from acquisition.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents 
include cash in hand and on deposit, as 
well as current liquid investments such 
as corporate promissory notes that are 
due within a maximum of 90 days from 
the date of purchase, that may readily 
be converted into a known amount and 
that are exposed to only a negligible risk 
of fluctuations in value. Promissory 
notes due within no more than 90 days 
that are held by SJ Försäkring are ex-
cluded.

Parent Company
The definition of cash in hand and on 
deposit includes cash and liquid de-
posits with banks and similar institu-
tions.

TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables and other liabilities are 
recognised at amortised cost when a 
product or service has been received, 
and correspond to the estimated, non-
discounted amount falling due for pay-
ment.

LEASING
Leases are classified either as finance 
leases or operating leases. Leases in 
which the bulk of the risks and rewards 
of ownership is transferred to the lessee 
are classified as finance leases. An oper-
ating lease is a lease other than a fi-
nance lease.

Finance leases
Significant assets acquired through fi-
nance leases are recognised in the 
Group and Parent Company accounts 
as non-current assets once the contract 
has been signed and the equipment has 
been delivered.

Finance lease liabilities are meas-
ured at the present value of minimum 
lease fees payable to the lessor during 
the term of the lease, plus any sum 
guaranteed by the lessee or party relat-
ed to the lessee. The lease term is the 
period for which SJ AB has contracted 
to lease the asset. Under finance leases, 

an asset is depreciated over the course 
of its estimated useful life.

Future commitments to the lessor 
are recognised as a liability in the bal-
ance sheet. Payment of lease fees is di-
vided into financial expense and debt 
amortisation.

Operating leases
Operating leases are not recognised in 
the balance sheet but are expensed on 
a straight-line basis during the term of 
the lease.

RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES IN 
FOREIGN CURRENCY
Transactions in foreign currency are val-
ued at transaction date exchange rates. 
On the balance sheet date, receivables 
and liabilities in foreign currencies are 
restated at the exchange rate on that 
date. Translation differences in financial 
receivables and liabilities are recog-
nised as financial income or expense for 
the period in which they arise. Other 
translation differences are recognised 
in operating profit for the period in 
which they arise.

PROVISIONS
Provisions are liabilities that are uncer-
tain with regard to amount by which, or 
the time when, they will be settled. A 
provision is recognised in the Group 
statement of financial position when an 
event occurs that creates a legal or in-
formal liability for the Group, and the li-
ability is likely to require an outflow of 
resources that can be reliably esti-
mated. Material provisions are meas-
ured at present value when the effect of 
the calculation is significant. Any un-
winding of the present value calculation 
is recognised as a financial expense. 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reversed if no longer 
needed.

Onerous contracts
Onerous contracts are those regarding 
deliveries of train or other services, in 
which the Company’s unavoidable ex-
penditure in fulfilment of its commit-
ments exceed the expected economic 
benefit from those commitments. Un-
avoidable costs in this context are the 
costs of fulfilling the contract, or any 
damage/loss or similar compensation 
that would arise in the event of non-per-
formance, whichever is the lower.

All income and expense attributable 
to these contracts during the remaining 
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contract period are included in calculat-
ing the level of the provision for com-
mitments under the onerous contract. 
Future losses are measured at present 
value. SJ does not have any provisions 
relating to onerous contracts.

Accident annuities
Accident annuities arise in the case of 
compensation for damages paid to 
third parties due to accidents. They are 
calculated at an individual level as per 
contract and taking into account life ex-
pectancy and indexation. The provision 
is discounted.

Restructuring
Restructuring relates to reorganisation 
on a major scale. Provision for restruc-
turing measures are made when a de-
tailed formal action plan has been 
drafted and full information has been 
disclosed to those likely to be affected.

Pensions
SJ’s commitments in respect of retire-
ment and family pension plans for 
Company employees are mainly se-
cured payments to the SPV (the Nation-
al Government Employee Pensions 
Board) and Alecta. These are classed as 
defined-benefit plans covering a 
number of employers, in accordance 
with regulation UFR 3 (Classification of 
ITP plans financed through insurance 
with Alecta). SJ did not have access to 
the information required to enable us to 
report these as defined-benefit plans. 
ITP pension plans, which are secured 
through insurance with Alecta and pen-
sion plans secured through insurance 
with SPV, the PA-91 pension plan and 
the defined-benefit part of the PA-03 
pension plan are all therefore reported 
as defined-contribution plans, in ac-
cordance with regulation UFR 6 (Pen-
sion plans covering several employers).

EQUITY
Equity includes share capital, other con-
tributed capital, reserves, retained earn-
ings and holdings without controlling 
influence. For further information see 
Note 19. Changes in equity are classi-
fied as “owner-related” and “non-own-
er-related” changes. The “non-owner-
related changes” correspond to recog-
nised comprehensive income in the 
Statement of comprehensive income. 
Classification into unrestricted and re-
stricted equity is not performed in the 
Group.

Parent Company
Equity is classified as unrestricted and 
restricted equity in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Shareholder contributions are rec-
ognised in the grantor’s accounts as an 
increase in investments in Group com-
panies. The recipient recognises the 
contribution under the heading of unre-
stricted equity. In the Parent Company, 
dividends paid are recognised via the 
income statement.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities are current com-
mitments relating to events that have 
occurred and that have not been recog-
nised as a liability or provision. This is 
because it is unlikely that funds will 
have to be paid to settle them or be-
cause their size cannot be determined 
with adequate certainty.

INSURANCE CONTRACTS
The subsidiary SJ Försäkring AB pro-
vides insurance to other companies in 
the SJ Group and then insures some of 
these risks with external insurers. Intra-
Group insurance contracts are elimin-
ated in the consolidated accounts and 
only external reinsurance contracts are 
reported. The receivable from external 
insurance companies is recognised to 
the extent that an insurable event has 
occurred and given rise to an insurance 
liability.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The statement of cash flows presents 
payments to and from the Group during 
the financial year, classified into operat-
ing activities, investing activities and fi-
nancing activities. It clarifies the Group’s 
ability to generate cash and cash equi-
valents. The statement of cash flows is 
prepared using the indirect method, 
which means that the net flow of pay-
ments in operating activities is adjusted 
for:
•  changes for the period in inventories, 

trade receivables and payables, and 
other operating assets and liabilities

•  non cash-flow items such as depreci-
ation, provisions and deferred tax

•  changes in value related to SJ’s cash 
management

•  all other items for which the cash ef-
fects relate to investing or financing 
activities. Changes from SJ’s cash 
management are recognised in in-
vesting activities.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
SJ-related companies are defined as 
State-owned enterprises, operating with 
commercial mandates, over which the 
State exercises a controlling influence. 
The definition also includes as related 
parties the Parent Company, subsid-
iaries, associates, Trafikverket (the 
Swedish Transport Administration), Rik-
strafiken (the Swedish National Public 
Transport Agency, which ceased as a 
government agency on 31 December 
2010 and whose activities have been 
transferred to Trafikverket), and other 
parts of the Swedish State.

Related individuals are defined as 
members of the Board of Directors, 
members of Executive Management 
and the immediate family members of 
such persons.

SJ discloses related party transac-
tions that result in the transfer of re-
sources, services or obligations be-
tween the parties, regardless of whether 
any payment is made, with the excep-
tion of non-material transactions with 
government agencies or companies. 
This information discloses the nature of 
the relationship between the parties 
and what effect the relationship has on 
the financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR-END
The Group discloses, in the Directors’ 
report and Notes to the accounts, infor-
mation on any significant events that 
occur after year-end and that therefore 
fall outside the scope of the income 
statement and balance sheet for the 
year, seeking where possible to estimate 
the financial impact of the events con-
cerned. A significant event is an occur-
rence whose disclosure may affect the 
financial decisions made by users of the 
financial statements.

In the case of significant events that 
occur after publication of the year-end 
report but prior to the annual accounts 
being approved, and which confirm the 
conditions that existed on the balance-
sheet date, the figures stated in the an-
nual accounts are adjusted.
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Notes

1 Segment reporting

2011 SJ AB Stockholmståg KB Other Elim. Total
Income from external customers 5,965 1,594 539 - 8,097
Income from internal transactions 145 0 289 -433 0

Total income 6,109 1,594 828 -433 8,097

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairments -604 -3 -10 - -616
Operating profit/loss 42 67 -45 -3 60

Financial income 50 3 9 -5 57
Financial expenses -83 0 -1 5 -79
Tax 1 0 11 -14 -2
Profit/loss for the year 4 70 -35 -3 36
Investments 810 0 59 - 869
Total assets 8,828 310 782 -1,007 8,913
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,402 136 256 -230 1,565
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,690 100 151 -575 2,365

2010 SJ AB Stockholmståg KB Other Elim. Total
Income from external customers 6,786 1,466 465 - 8,717
Income from internal transactions 91 - 286 -377 0

Total income 6,877 1,466 751 -377 8,717

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairments -643 -3 -21 - -667
Operating profit/loss 418 37 -8 -8 439
Financial income 69 1 7 -2 75
Financial expenses -109 0 0 1 -108
Tax -109 0 -8 5 -112
Profit/loss for the year 270 37 6 -19 294
Investments 804 0 40 - 844
Total assets 9,110 236 634 -704 9,276
Non-interest-bearing liabilities 1,531 133 188 -130 1,721
Interest-bearing liabilities 2,754 - 92 -341 2,505

The reduction in income is largely attribu-
table to the transfer to new operators of 
Västtrafik and Östgötatrafiken in December 
2010 and Upplands Lokaltrafik in June 

2011. The income of other subsidiaries is 
reported on the line “Other” and is attribu-
table primarily to sale of various services via 
the SJ Group’s settlement system for pas-

senger travel and event and special destina-
tion travel.

The accounting principles used in segment 
accounting are the same as applied in prep-
aration of the Group accounts. The Group’s 
operating segments comprise SJ AB, Stock-
holmståg KB and other subsidiaries. The op-

erating segments are identified in accord-
ance with the formulation of the financial in-
formation reported to the Board of Directors 
and Executive Management. Operations are 
essentially conducted in Sweden. Stock-

holmståg KB’s services are operated on be-
half of AB Storstockholms Lokaltrafik (SL). 
Outside of the operations of Stockholmståg 
KB, there are no major customers contribut-
ing to more than 10% of total sales.

2 Net sales

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Income from train services 7,567 8,127 5,537 6,327

Income from bistro services 179 192 161 177

Rolling stock leased to others 39 24 39 24

Commission 89 83 89 83

Other 164 201 187 171

Total net sales 8,038 8,627 6,013 6,782

Notes
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3 Transactions with related parties

Group Parent Company

Sales of goods and services 2011 2010 2011 2010

Shareholders with controlling influence over SJ:
Swedish State 11 11 11 11

Subsidiaries:
SJ Försäkring AB - - 40 18

SJ Event AB - - 12 12

SJ Service Academy AB - - 12 14

SJ Norrlandståg AB                                    -        -        76        45

SJ Danmark A/S - - 3    -

Other                                         -         -        2        -

Associated companies:
Merresor i Sverige AB 0 5 0 5

Botniatåg AB 7 4 7 4

Other related parties:
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation 13 30 13 30

Trafikverket 16 25 16 25

Green Cargo AB 6 6 6 6

Jernhusen AB 0 2 0 2

Total sales of goods and services to related parties 53 83 198 172

Purchases of goods and services

Subsidiaries:
Linkon AB - - 162 131

SJ Försäkring AB - - 35 21

SJ Event AB - - 0 3

SJ Service Academy AB - - 90 90

SJ Norrlandståg AB - - 382 297

SJ Danmark A/S        -        -        3        -

Associated companies:

Merresor i Sverige AB - 2 - 2

Trafik i Mälardalen AB 3 3 3 3

Botniatåg AB 6 2 6 2

Other related parties:
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation 55 1,062 55 1,062

Trafikverket 611 689 611 689

Jernhusen AB 165 184 165 184

Total purchases of goods and services from closely related parties 840 1,942 1,512 2,484

Lease payments 

Other related parties
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation 9 17 9 17

Total lease payments till related parties 9 17 9 17

The Swedish State owns 100 percent of the 
shares in SJ AB.

Business transactions between the Group 
and related companies are conducted on 
commercial terms and conditions and at 
market rates.

Business transactions with other com-
panies in the SJ Group accounted for 12.3% 

(9.3) of the Parent Company’s total pur-
chases and 2.4% (1.3) of its sales. Other re-
lated parties are defined as associated com-
panies, State-owned enterprises operating 
with commercial mandates and subject to 
State control, the Statens Järnvägar public 
service corporation and Trafikverket.

See Notes 13 and 14 for a full list of Group 

companies and associated companies.
Group companies, associated companies 

and other related parties with which SJ has 
no or negligible dealings are not specified in 
this note.

For salaries and remuneration paid to re-
lated parties, see Note 5.

Notes
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Group Parent Company

Outstanding receivables and liabilities 2011 2010 2011 2010

Receivables from related parties:
Subsidiaries:
Linkon AB - - 61 47

SJ Invest AB - - 1 12

SJ Försäkring AB - - 50 4

SJ Event AB - - 1 6

SJ Service Academy AB - - 19 25

SJ Norrlandståg AB - - 135 47

Stockholmståg KB        -          -        38    -

SJ Danmark A/S        -  -         3    -

Associated companies:
Merresor i Sverige AB - 1 - 0

Botniatåg AB 6 1 5 1

Other related parties:
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation 0 4 0 4

Trafikverket 3 3 3 3

Jernhusen AB 59 25 59 25

Total outstanding receivables from related parties 68 34 375 174

Liabilities to related parties :
Subsidiaries:
Linkon AB - - 27 55

SJ Invest AB - - 19 30

SJ Adventure AB - - 10 10

SJ Försäkring AB - - 40 16

SJ Event AB - - 4 7

SJ Service Academy AB - - 14 22

SJ Norrlandståg AB - - 141 63

Stockholmståg KB - - 170 126

SJ Danmark A/S  - -  6          - 

Vilma AB - - 1 1

Associated companies:
Trafik i Mälardalen AB - 1 - 1

Botniatåg AB        5 -        5        - 

Other related parties:
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation 1 928 1 928

Trafikverket 86 78 86 78

Jernhusen AB 88 82 88 82

Total outstanding liabilities to related parties  180  1,089  612  1,419

4 Other operating income

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Capital gains/losses on non-current assets 10 24 10 24

Insurance claim payments 38 57 78 71

Other 11 9 9 -

Total other operating income 59 90 97 95

Notes
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5 Personnel

Personnel expenses: salaries, other  
remuneration and social security expenses, SEK m

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Salaries and other remuneration:
Board of Directors, CEO and senior executives -29 -28 -19 -21

Other employees -1,573 -1,587 -1,177 -1,234

Total salaries and other remuneration -1,602 -1,615 -1,196 -1,255

Social security expenses -683 -709 -505 -542

of which, pension expenses including special payroll tax -186 -205 -134 -154

Other personnel-related expenses -130 -147 -114 -138

Total personnel costs -2,415 -2,471 -1,815 -1,935

Group Parent Company

Average number of employees 2011 2010 2011 2010

Total 4,041 4,262 3,037 3,324

of whom, men, Sweden 2,437 2,600 1,773 1,966

of whom, women, Sweden 1,602 1,659 1,264 1,357

of whom, men, rest of Nordic region 1 3 0 1

of whom, women, rest of Nordic region 1 0 0 0

of whom, men, total 2,438 2,603 1,773 1,967

of whom, women, total 1,603 1,659 1,264 1,357

Percentage shares:
of whom, men, Sweden 60% 61% 58% 59%

of whom, women, Sweden 40% 39% 42% 41%

Gender distribution, senior executives on balance sheet date 2011 2010 2011 2010

Women:
Board members 16 14 6 4

Other members of executive management, including CEO 3 3 3 3

Total women 19 17 9 7

Men
Board members 32 28 10 6

Other members of executive management, including CEO 14 13 6 6

Total men 46 41 16 12

Total 65 58 25 19

Percentage shares:
of whom, women 29% 29% 36% 37%

of whom, men 71% 71% 64% 63%

SJ’s commitments in respect of retirement 
and family pension plans for Parent Com-
pany employees are mainly secured through 
insurance policies with SPV (the National 
Government Employee Pensions Board) and 
Alecta; such plans are mostly classified as 
being of the defined-benefit type.

For the 2011 financial year, SJ did not have 

access to the requisite information to report 
these plans as defined-benefit plans, and they 
are therefore reported as defined-contribu-
tion plans.

The collective consolidation level is the 
market value of Alecta’s assets as a percent-
age of its insurance commitments measured 
according to Alecta’s actuarial assumptions. 

At the end of 2011, Alecta’s collective consoli-
dation level was 113.0 per cent (146.0).

The Group’s pension premium charges 
(excluding special payroll tax) for 2011 

totalled SEK 154 million (166), of which 
SEK 81 million (88) was defined-benefit pre-
miums and SEK 73 (78) million defined-con-
tribution premiums.

Notes
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SEK
Remuneration to members of the Board and 
senior executives in the Group 2011

Basic 
 salary/ 

Board fee
Committee 

fee Benefits Total
Pension 
expense Total

Period of  
notice from em-

ployer + number 
of months’ 

 severance pay 9

Chairman 1 Ulf Adelsohn 86,667 18,333 105,000 - 105,000

Chairman 2 Jonas Iversen 0 0 0 - 0

Chairman 3 Jan Sundling 86,667 14,333 101,000 - 101,000

Non-executive director 4 Caroline Sundewall 122,000 47,417 169,417 - 169,417

Non-executive director 5 Lena Olving 61,000 21,500 82,500 - 82,500

Non-executive director Eivor Andersson 122,000 122,000 - 122,000

Non-executive director Lars-Olof Gustavsson 122,000 122,000 - 122,000

Non-executive director 6 Björn Mikkelsen 0 0 - 0

Non-executive director 6 Ingela Tuvegran 40,668 40,668 - 40,668

Non-executive director 6 Elisabeth Salander
Björklund

40,668 40,668 - 40,668

Non-executive director 5 Richard Reinius 0 0 - 0

Non-executive director 5 Gunilla Wikman 81,333 81,333 - 81,333

President/CEO SJ AB 7 Jan Forsberg 4,615,186 25,672 4,640,858 3,899,252 8,540,110 12+12

Vice President Legal Affairs7 Magnus Westerlind 1,682,856 78,646 1,761,502 607,406 2,368,908 12+12

Vice President HR 7 Peter Blomqvist 1,105,637 93,441 1,199,078 422,438 1,621,516 12+6

Vice President Business 
Development 7

Jan Olson 1,887,372 121,494 2,008,866 627,543 2,636,409 12+6

Vice President & Chief 
 Financial Officer

Britta Dalunde 1,804,800 34,044 1,838,844 504,983 2,343,827 6+12

Vice President Traffic  
Safety 7

Lars Svensson 1,336,289 4,664 1,340,953 447,465 1,788,418 12+12

Vice President Corporate 
Communications.

Elisabeth Lindgren 1,745,718 93,568 1,839,286 461,196 2,300,482 6+12

Vice President Traffic & 
Service

Håkan Ahl 1,719,072 70,970 1,790,042 482,708 2,272,750 6+12

Vice President Sales 7 Nina Hornewall 1,799,924 80,242 1,880,166 954,787 2,834,953 12+6

Vice President Fleet 
 Management

Claes Broström 1,848,266 96,546 1,944,812 465,579 2,410,391 6+12

CEO SJ Norrlandståg AB Björn Nilsson 1,415,338 4,664 1,420,002 423,071 1,843,073 6+12

CEO SJ Event AB 7 Michael Wikström 1,150,420 118764 1,269,184 284,350 1,553,534 12+6

CEO SJ Service Academy AB Olle Lundström 1,402,267 89,337 1,491,604 458,504 1,950,108 6+12

CEO Linkon AB 7) Christer Jernberg 1,181,637 92,998 1,274,635 321,865 1,596,500 12+6

CEO Stockholmståg KB Kjell Färnström 1,703,720 91,589 1,795,309 575,940 2,371,249 6+12

CEO SJ Försäkring AB 8) Carl Dahlberg 604,800 228 605,028 182,544 787,572 6+12

Total 27,766,305 101,583 1,096,867 28,964,755 11,119,631 40,084,386

1 1 Resigned as Chairman in April 2011. 2 Chairman during the period May-July 2011. 3 Chairman from beginning of August 2011.
4 Resigned as non-executive director in November 2011, fee paid refers to the year 2011. C. Sundewall was chair of the Audit Committee in the period May-November 
2011. 5 New non-executive director from beginning of May 2011. L. Olving was not paid director’s fee in full in 2011; the outstanding amount of SEK 27,500 was paid in 
March 2012. R. Reinius resigned as non-executive director in January 2012. 6 Resigned as non-executive director in April 2011. 7 Has an agreed period of notice that devia-
tes from government guidelines. These contracts were signed prior to April 2009, when the current guidelines came into force. 8 New CEO from beginning of February 
2011. 9 If employment is terminated by the employee, the period of notice is 6 months and no severance pay is due.

Changes in executive management and other 
senior executives
Notice of termination of Jan Forsberg’s em-
ployment as President and CEO of SJ AB was 
given on 11 November 2011. Jan Forsberg’s 
employment is subject to a period of notice of 
termination of 12 months. During the  period 
of notice, Jan Forsberg is entitled to all previ-
ous benefits of employment. During the 
 period of notice, Jan Forsberg shall receive, in 
addition to his salary and other employment 
benefits, a severance payment corresponding 
to 12 monthly salary payments, each of which 
shall be paid every month over the 12 
months that follow the period of notice.

Jan Forsberg shall remain CEO of the Com-
pany until a new CEO has taken up the posi-
tion, although until no later than 1 July 2012. 
If a new CEO has taken up the appointment 

before 1 July 2012, Jan Forsberg shall remain 
at the disposal of the Company’s Chairman 
until 1 July 2012.

Remuneration for senior executives
Senior executives 
Senior executives are defined as regular 
Board members, the CEO, individuals re-
sponsible for operations in the Company 
who are members of the executive manage-
ment and CEOs of subsidiaries of the Group.

Guidelines and decision-making procedures 
During the year, the Company observed the 
principles regarding compensation and 
 other terms and conditions of employment 
for senior executives that were approved at 
the 2011 Annual General Meeting (AGM). 
These guidelines are based on the guidelines 

issued by the government on 20 April 2009 
concerning terms and conditions of employ-
ment for senior executives at State-owned 
enterprises. Decisions as to terms and condi-
tions of employment for the CEO are drafted 
by the Remuneration Committee and subject 
to approval by the Board. Decisions as to 
terms and conditions of employment for 
 other senior executives are subject to ap-
proval by the CEO, following a standard re-
view with the Company’s Remuneration 
Committee. The results of agreements 
reached are reported to the Board. Before 
any decision is taken with regard to individu-
al remuneration, documentation in writing, 
showing the total costs to the Company, is 
produced as a basis for decision. The Board 
verifies that the remuneration items comply 
with these guidelines by comparing remun-
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eration items for executives at a similar level 
in other State-owned and private enterprises 
in Sweden that are comparable for size, 
complexity and turnover. At the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting, the Board shall present for ap-
proval proposals for principles regarding re-
muneration and other terms and conditions 
of employment for the CEO and senior exec-
utives. The remit of the Remuneration Com-
mittee is to draft the Board’s proposals for 
principles governing salaries and other re-
muneration. In early 2011, the Remunera-
tion Committee consisted of the Board’s 
former Chairman, Ulf Adelsohn, Board mem-
ber Lars-Olof Gustavsson and First Secretary 
Lars-Erik Fredriksson. In September, Gunilla 
Wikman, Eivor Andersson and Jan Sundling 
were elected to the Committee, replacing the 
former members.

Remuneration
Board of Directors
According to a decision approved at the SJ 
AB’s 2011 AGM, an annual fee shall be paid 
to the members of the Board of Directors, in 
the amounts of SEK 260,000 to the Chair-
man and SEK 122,000 per person to the 
other members, as elected at the AGM. In 
addition, an annual fee shall be paid to the 
members of the Board’s Audit Committee, in 
the amounts of SEK 55,000 to the Chairman 
and SEK 43,000 per person to the other 
members. No separate fee is payable for 
 other Board committee work. No fee is paya-
ble to any member who is employed in the 
Government Offices. No commitments re-
garding pension benefits have been entered 
into on behalf of external Board members.

Executive Management
The overarching principle in “Guidelines on 
remuneration for senior executives” is that re-
muneration and other terms and conditions 
of employment for senior executives shall be 
in line with the market, but not market-lead-
ing, in order to ensure that SJ can attract and 
retain highly qualified senior executives.

Remuneration to the CEO and other sen-
ior executives consists of basic salary, certain 
taxable benefits, health insurance and pen-
sion. Basic salary will be set individually and 
in line with the pay levels prevailing in the 
market in which the executive concerned is 
employed.

The CEO and other senior executives have 
no entitlement to variable remuneration or re-
muneration paid in the form of financial instru-
ments. Benefits, as shown in the table above, 
consist primarily of company cars and fuel.

On 7 February 2011, the former Chairman 
of SJ AB, Ulf Adelsohn, entered into an 
agreement with Jan Forsberg on termination 
of company car benefit. Under the agree-
ment, the company car benefit was con-
verted into salary, resulting in taxable early 
salary compensation of SEK 474,814. The 
payment was based partly on future com-
pany car benefits for 36 months, with the re-
mainder, SEK 213,312, being paid at the end 
of the employment period. The agreement 
represents a deviation from the current 
guidelines on State-owned enterprises, in 
which the Board is responsible for determin-
ing the remuneration to be paid to the CEO.

Pensions
The CEO, Jan Forsberg, is entitled to receive 
70% of his pensionable income between the 

ages of 62 and 65 years and 50% of his pen-
sionable income between the ages of 65 and 
80 years. The employment contract of the 
CEO, Jan Forsberg, deviates from current 
guidelines concerning terms and conditions 
of employment for senior executives in State-
owned enterprises. This relates to pension 
terms and conditions and period of notice, 
when employment is terminated by the em-
ployer. The employment contract of the CEO, 
Jan Forsberg, was established prior to April 
2009, when the current guidelines for remun-
eration to senior executives of State-owned 
enterprises came into force.

Other senior executives receive pensions 
under the ITP plan. Three of these executives 
also have separate pension plans totalling 
SEK 5,000-20,000 per month.

Termination and severance pay
In the event that the Company terminates 
the employment contract, the notice periods 
and severance pay amounts are as shown in 
the table on page 72. If the employee enters 
new employment or receives income from 
other business activities, the salary paid dur-
ing the notice period and the severance pay 
will be reduced by an amount corresponding 
to the income or other benefit received dur-
ing the period concerned. Eight senior exec-
utives have employment contracts permit-
ting longer notice periods from the employer 
than is stipulated by relevant guidelines on 
terms and conditions of employment for 
senior executives in State-owned enterprises. 
These contracts were signed prior to April 
2009, when the current guidelines came into 
force.

6 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment -515 -531 -508 -525

Amortisation of intangible assets -82 -108 -77 -90

Impairment losses, property, plant and equipment -19 -28 -19 -28

Total -616 -667 -604 -643

The early part of the year was again dominated by winter weather problems, leading to cancelled and delayed services. This resulted in higher 
costs in connection with the travel time guarantee, replacement services, customer service and maintenance costs. Cost-saving measures were 
carried out during the year in order to adapt to the fall in revenue.

The item Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment relates to the accident in Malmö on 1 January 2011, in which two items of rolling 
stock were totally destroyed.

7 Other expenses

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Train maintenance and upkeep -1,467 -1,537 -1,023 -1,180

Expense of electricity for operating trains -492 -574 -326 -410

Infrastructure charges -339 -324 -266 -262

Other production-related expenses -1,615 -1,738 -812 -860

Indirect expenses -1,089 -959 -1,221 -1,168

Total -5,002 -5,132 -3,648 -3,880
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9 Interest income, income expenses and similar expenses

Group Parent Company

Interest income and similar income 2011 2010 2011 2010

Interest income, current receivables 34 57 32 57

Interest income, non-current receivables 17 18 11 12

Other interest income 6 0 6 0

Interest income, Group companies - - 1 0

Total 57 75 50 69

Group Parent Company

Interest expenses and similar expenses 2011 2010 2011 2010

Interest expenses, leasing -63 -33 -63 -33

Charge to reflect risk 1 -5 -9 -5 -9

Net interest, hedging instruments -9 -51 -9 -51

Exchange differences 7 -2 7 -2

Other financial expenses 2 -9 -13 -8 -13

Interest expenses, Group companies - - -4 -1

Total -79 -108 -83 -109

1 Charge to reflect risk on lease contracts, established by Riksgäldskontoret (the Swedish National Debt Office) and paid to the Statens Järnvägar public service corporation.

2 Accident annuities, charges to Eurofirma, the Statens Järnvägar Public Service Corporation, Nordea Finans, and other financial expenses.

2011
Group - classification of net financial items

Financial 
income

Financial 
 expenses

Profit/loss 
 recognised 
via income

Net financial 
items

Profit/loss recog-
nised via other 

comprehensive 
income

Financial assets measured at fair value in income
Bonds 37 -17 20
Cash in hand and on deposit 3 3

Loan receivables and trade receivables
Receivables 7 7

Available-for-sale financial assets

Short-term deposits 27 27 -4

Financial income 74 57 -4

Derivatives identified as hedging instruments
Derivative instruments 1 27 -36 -9 -9 -15

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Lease liabilities 2 -74 -74
Bank loans 
Other liabilities 4 4

Financial expenses 27 -106 -79 -19

1  Total effect of derivative instruments recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to SEK -15 million (41) before tax. SEK -9 million has been taken to net interest and SEK -5 million to non-

current assets, including SEK -3 million held in reserve for cash flow hedging at the start of the year.

2 Administrative expenses and charges related to leases totalled SEK -10 million (24) in 2011.

8 Fees and reimbursement of expenses to auditors

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Ernst & Young AB
Audit assignment -4 -4 -3 -3

Auditing other than audit assignment 0 0 0 0

Tax advice 0 -1 0 0

Other services: -1 -1 -1 -1

Riksrevisionen (the Swedish National Audit Office)
Audit assignment 0 0 0 0

Total -5 -6 -4 -4

The “Audit assignment” consists of the exam-
ination of the annual accounts and account-
ing records and the administration by the 
Board and the CEO. In the course of an audit 

it may emerge that a more in-depth examina-
tion is required, in which case the associated 
costs will be reported as Auditing in addition 
to audit assignment. Consultation on tax 

 issues and assistance with tax returns are ac-
counted for under Tax advice. Other services 
include, for example, advice on interpretation 
of IFRS and other accounting rules.



2010  
Group - classification of net financial items

Financial 
income

Financial 
 expenses

Profit/loss  
recognised via 

income
Net financial 

items

Profit/loss recog-
nised via other 

comprehensive 
income

Financial assets measured at fair value via income 
Bonds 55 - -2 53 -
Cash in hand and on deposit 4 - - 4 -

Fair value hedging 
Bank deposits 0 - - 0 -

Loan receivables and trade receivables
Receivables 0 - - 0 -

Available-for-sale financial assets 
Short-term deposits 18 - - 18 9

Financial income 77 - -2 75 9

Derivatives identified as hedging instruments
Derivative instruments 1 12 -63 -51 -51 41

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Lease liabilities 2) - -51 - -51 -

Other liabilities - -4 - -4 -
Financial expenses 12 -121 -51 -108 50

1  Total effect of derivative instruments recognised via other comprehensive income amounted to SEK 41 million (2) before tax. SEK -51 million has been taken to net interest and SEK 4 million to non-

current assets, including SEK 0 million held in reserve for cash flow hedging at the start of the year.

2 Administrative expenses and charges related to leases totalled SEK 24 million (23) in 2010.

10 Tax

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Deferred tax expense -2 -112 1 -109

Total -2 -112 1 -109

The deferred tax expense includes the tax impact of lower loss carry-forwards and lower deductible temporary differences, which also reduced 
the deferred tax assets. 

In addition to tax recognised in income for the year, the following tax is recognised in other comprehensive income:

Group

2011 2010

Deferred tax on available-for-sale financial assets 2 -

Deferred tax on financial assets - -2

Deferred tax on cash flow hedges 4 -11

Total 6 -13

During the year, the Parent Company received Group contributions of SEK 37 million (68) and provided Group contributions of SEK 80 million 
(-43).

The following deferred tax assets and tax liabilities were identified: Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Deferred tax assets relating to:
Loss carry-forwards 5 12 5 12

Temporary differences, restructuring reserve 0 0 0 0

Temporary differences, financial instruments, cash flow hedges 6 1 6 1

Temporary differences, other reserves 7 5 7 5

Deferred tax assets, 18 18 18 18

of which:
Deferred tax asset recognised directly in other comprehensive  
income relating to:

Temporary differences, financial instruments, cash flow hedges 6 1 6 1

6 1 6 1

Cumulative loss carry-forwards were SEK 19 million (44) in the Group and SEK 19 (44) in the Parent Company. The SEK 19 million for 2011 in-
cludes an adjustment of SEK 36 million to the deficit for previous years. Loss carry-forwards are perpetual and not subjected to a maturity date.
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Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Deferred tax liabilities relating to:
Temporary differences in leasehold improvements -3 -3 -3 -3

Temporary differences, financial leasing -177 -169 -177 -169

Temporary differences not recognised previously 7  -7 7 -7

Temporary differences, other reserves -12 -9 - -

Deferred tax liabilities -185 -188 -173 -179

Recognised deferred tax asset/liability, net -167 -170 -155 -161

Recognition of deferred tax is reviewed every 
year during preparation of the financial 
statements. This review assesses the extent 
to which it is probable that the deferred tax 
assets will be utilised via future taxable in-

come. In 2005, a deferred tax asset was cap-
italised for the first time in the accounts, in 
accordance with applicable accounting rules. 
Based on income in 2004-2011, SJ main-
tains the view that its business has achieved 

a stable capacity to generate future profits, 
thus enabling the utilisation of loss carry-for-
wards and tax-deductible temporary differ-
ences

The table below shows the difference between nominal and effective tax rates:

Group Tax Tax rate, % Tax Tax rate, %

Reconciliation of recognised tax expense and effective tax rate 2011 2010

Profit before tax 38 - 406 - 

Tax expense according to nominal rate -10 -26 -107 26

Non-deductible expenses -2 -5 -2 1

Effect of change in previous years' tax returns 9 24 -1 0

Other reserves 1 3 -2 0

Tax expense affecting profit for the year, recognised in  
Statement of comprehensive income -2 -5 -112 27

Parent Company Tax Tax rate, % Tax Tax rate, %

Reconciliation of recognised tax expense and effective tax rate 2011 2010

Profit before tax 4 - 378 -

Tax expense according to nominal rate -1 -25 -99 26

Dividend from limited partnership  10 250 - -

Non-deductible expenses -1 -25 -2 1

Tax attributable to profit/loss in limited partnership -18 -450 -7 2

Effect of change in previous years' tax returns 9 225 -1 0

Other reserves 2 50 - 0

Tax expense recognised in income statement 1 25 -109 29

Amortisation payments for financially leased assets are tax-deductible, while depreciation and impairment losses are not.

11 Property, plant and equipment

Group 2011
Leased 

building

Own  
rolling  
stock

Own 
 invest ments in 

leased rolling 
stock

Leased  
rolling 
stock

Total  
rolling 

stock
Building 

equipment

Other 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total plant, 
property and 

equipment

Cost at start of year 59 4,951 707 4,507 10,165 26 90 116 10,340
Investments - 290 51 - 341 3 4 7 348
Sales/disposals - -174 - - -174 - 1 1 -173
Re-classifications - 497 -154 -91 252 4 5 9 261
Accumulated cost at year-end 59 5,564 604 4,416 10,584 33 100 133 10,776

Accumulated depreciation at 
start of year -17 -2,902 -411 -798 -4,111 -12 -47 -59 -4,187

Depreciation for the year -3 -290 -37 -162 -489 -4 -19 -23 -515
Sales/disposals - 111 - - 111 - 2 2 113
Re-classifications - -222 131 91 0 - - - 0

Accumulated depreciation at 
year-end -20 -3,303 -317 -869 -4,489 -16 -64 -80 -4,589
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Group 2011
Leased 

building

Own  
rolling  
stock

Own 
 invest ments in 

leased rolling 
stock

Leased  
rolling 
stock

Total  
rolling 

stock
Building 

equipment

Other 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total plant, 
property and 

equipment

Accumulated impairment 
losses at start of year - -31 -5 -1,567 -1,603 - - - -1,603
Impairment losses for the year - -19 -1 -8 -28 - - - -28
Accumulated impairment 
losses at year-end - -50 -6 -1,575 -1,631 - - - -1,631

Carrying amount at year-end 39 2,211 281 1,972 4,464 17 36 53 4,556

Parent Company 2011
Leased 

building

Own  
rolling  
stock

Own 
 invest ments in 

leased rolling 
stock

Leased  
rolling 
stock

Total  
rolling 

stock
Building 

equipment

Other 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total plant, 
property and 

equipment

Cost at start of year 59 5,241 707 4,507 10,455 22 67 89 10,603
Investments - 288 51 - 339 3 4 7 346
Sales/disposals - -468 - - -468 - -1 -1 -469
Re-classifications - 496 -154 -91 251 4 5 9 260

Accumulated cost at year-end 59 5,557 604 4,416 10,577 29 75 104 10,740

Accumulated depreciation at 
start of year -17 -3,026 -412 -797 -4,235 -12 -36 -48 -4,300
Depreciation for the year -3 -290 -37 -162 -489 -3 -13 -16 -508
Sales/disposals - 237 - - 237 - 1 1 238
Re-classifications - -221 130 91 0 - - - 0

Accumulated depreciation at 
year-end -20 -3,300 -319 -868 -4,487 -15 -48 -63 -4,570
 
Accumulated impairment 
losses at start of year - -31 -5 -1,567 -1,603 - - - -1,603
Impairment losses for the year - -19 -1 -8 -28 - - - -28
Accumulated impairment 
losses at year-end - -50 -6 -1,575 -1,631 - - - -1,631

Carrying amount at year-end 39 2,207 279 1,973 4,459 14 27 41 4,539

Construction in progress 2011
 
Group Rolling stock

Machinery and
equipment

Total construction
in progress

Carrying amount at start of year 1,689 20 1,709
Investments 406 31 437
Re-classifications -250 -11 -261
Carrying amount at year-end 1,845 40 1,885

Parent Company Rolling stock
Machinery and

equipment
Total construction

in progress

Cost at start of year 1,689 19 1,708
Investments 406 29 435
Re-classifications -250 -10 -260
Carrying amount at year-end 1,845 38 1,883

Impairments for the year relate to the acci-
dent in Malmö, in which an impairment loss 
of SEK 19 million was applied in respect of 
the rolling stock, which was then sold. An im-

pairment loss of SEK 9 million was also ap-
plied to SJ 2000s in connection with the re-
moval and replacement of pairs of trailing 
wheels. However, the removal and replace-

ment of pairs of training wheels had no im-
pact on income, since a reserve was utilised.
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Group 2010
Leased 

building

Own  
rolling  
stock

Own invest-
ments in 

leased rolling 
stock

Leased  
rolling 
stock

Total  
rolling 
stock

Building 
equipment

Other 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total plant, 
property and 

equipment

Cost at start of year 59 3,881 948 5,438 10,267 21 78 99 10,425

Investments - 132 40 1 173 5 8 13 186

Revisions - -305 - - -305 - - - -305
Sales/disposals - -95 -3 -38 -136 - 0 0 -136
Re-classifications - 1,338 -278 -894 166 - 4 4 170
Accumulated cost at year-end 59 4,951 707 4,507 10,165 26 90 116 10,340

Accumulated depreciation at 
start of year -14 -2,249 -542 -1,069 -3,860 -10 -27 -37 -3,911
Depreciation for the year -3 -215 -82 -209 -506 -2 -20 -22 -531
Revisions - 126 - - 126 - - - 126

Sales/disposals - 89 - 40 129 - 0 0 129
Re-classifications 0 -653 213 440 0 - - - 0

Accumulated depreciation at 
year-end -17 -2,902 -411 -798 -4,111 -12 -47 -59 -4,187

Accumulated impairment 
losses at start of year - -25 - -1,550 -1,575 - - - -1,575
Impairment losses for the year - -6 -5 -17 -28 - - - -28
Accumulated impairment 
losses at year-end - -31 -5 -1,567 -1,603 - - - -1,603

Carrying amount at year-end 42 2,018 291 2,142 4,451 14 43 57 4,550

Re-classifications for the year consist of both redemption of leases for rolling stock and re-classification in accordance with IFRS 5 (Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale).

Parent Company 2010
Leased 

building

Own  
rolling  
stock

Own invest-
ments in leased 

rolling stock

Leased  
rolling 
stock

Total  
rolling 
stock

Building 
equipment

Other 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total 
 machinery 

and 
 equipment

Total plant, 
property and 

equipment

Cost at start of year 59 3,876 947 5,438 10,261 21 59 80 10,400
Investments - 131 40 1 172 1 3 4 176
Revisions - -9 - - -9 - - - -9
Sales/disposals - -93 -2 -39 -134 - 0 0 -134

Re-classifications - 1,336 -278 -893 165 - 5 5 170
Accumulated cost at year-end 59 5,241 707 4,507 10,455 22 67 89 10,603

Accumulated depreciation at 
start of year -14 -2,248 -543 -1,067 -3,858 -10 -22 -32 -3,904
Depreciation for the year -3 -214 -82 -210 -506 -2 -14 -16 -525
Revisions - 0 - - 0 - - - 0
Sales/disposals - 89 0 40 129 - 0 0 129
Re-classifications - -653 213 440 0 - - - 0

Accumulated depreciation at 
year-end -17 -3,026 -412 -797 -4,235 -12 -36 -48 -4,300

Accumulated impairment 
losses at start of year - -25 - -1,550 -1,575 - - - -1,575
Impairment losses for the year - -6 -5 -17 -28 - - - -28
Accumulated impairment 
losses at year-end - -31 -5 -1,567 -1,603 - - - -1,603

Carrying amount at year-end 42 2,184 290 2,143 4,617 10 31 41 4,700
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Construction in progress 2010
 
Group Own rolling stock

Plant and 
 machinery

Total own 
 construction in 

progress
Leased rolling 

stock
Total construction 

in progress

Carrying amount at start of year 1,293 7 1,300 -19 1,281

Investments 580 18 598 - 598
Re-classifications -184 -5 -189 19 -170
Carrying amount at year-end 1,689 20 1,709 0 1,709

Parent Company Own rolling stock
Plant and 

 machinery

Total own 
 construction in 

progress
Leased rolling 

stock
Total construction 

in progress

Cost at start of year 1,293 7 1,300 -19 1,281
Investments 580 17 597 - 597
Re-classifications -184 -5 -189 19 -170
Carrying amount at year-end 1,689 19 1,708 0 1,708

12 Property, plant and equipment 

Group 2011 Brand Other intangible assets Total intangible assets

Cost at start of year 240 632 872

Investments - 84 84

Accumulated cost at year-end 240 716 956

Accumulated depreciation at start of year -240 -320 -560
Depreciation for the year - -82 -82

Accumulated depreciation at year-end -240 -402 -642

Carrying amount at year-end 0 314 314

Parent Company 2011 Brand Other intangible assets Total intangible assets

Cost at start of year 240 394 634

Investments - 29 29

Accumulated cost at year-end 240 423 663

Accumulated depreciation at start of year -240 -136 -376
Depreciation for the year - -77 -77

Accumulated depreciation at year-end -240 -213 -453

Carrying amount at year-end 0 210 210

Other intangible assets consist for the most part of expenditure on development of IT systems, such as for SJ Prio, HR planning and the SJ cus-
tomer relations programme.

Group 2010 Brand Other intangible assets Total intangible assets

Cost at start of year 240 572 812
Investments - 60 60

Accumulated cost at year-end 240 632 872

Accumulated depreciation at start of year -216 -236 -452
Depreciation for the year -24 -84 -108
Accumulated depreciation at year-end -240 -320 -560

Carrying amount at year-end 1 0 312 312

1 Of the carrying amount at year-end, SEK 109 million (72) is attributable to Intangible assets in development, such as in-house developed computer software.

Parent Company 2010 Brand Other intangible assets Total intangible assets

Cost at start of year 240 363 603

Investments - 31 31
Accumulated cost at year-end 240 394 634

Accumulated depreciation at start of year -216 -70 -286
Depreciation for the year -24 -66 -90
Accumulated depreciation at year-end -240 -136 -376

Carrying amount at year-end 0 258 258

Note 11 (cont.)



13 Participations in Group companies

Parent Company 2011 2010

Carrying amount at start of year 204 203

Investments 2 1

Carrying amount at year-end 206 204

Carrying amount

Schedule of shares and participations in Group companies Corp. Id. No. Reg’d office No. of shares Holding, % 2011 2010

SJ Event AB 556577-3008 Stockholm 1,000 100 0 0

Linkon AB 556577-2984 Stockholm 501,000 100 50 50

SJ Försäkring AB 516401-8458 Stockholm 30,000 100 54 54

SJ Invest AB 556022-1755 Stockholm 700,000 100 87 87

Vilma AB 556083-2098 Stockholm 5,000 100 1 1

SJ AdVenture AB 556064-8692 Stockholm 5,000 100 10 10

Entertrainment AB 556034-4235 Malmö 1,605 100 0 0

SJ Norrlandståg AB 556196-5418 Stockholm 1,000 100 1 1

SJ Service Academy AB 556596-9630 Stockholm 1,000 100 0 0

Stockholmståg KB 1 969704-4239 Stockholm 1,000 100 0 0

SJ Danmark A/S 33372477 Copenhagen 500 100 3 1

Total 206 204

The share of equity capital corresponds to the share of voting rights.

1 SJ AB is a full partner, and SJ Invest AB a general partner, in Stockholmståg KB. Participations are shared in the Group by SJ AB, 68%, and SJ Invest AB, 32%.

14 Participations in associated companies

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Accumulated costs at start of year 20 6 21 7

Purchases - 14 - 14

Sales 0 0 0 0

Accumulated costs at year-end 20 20 21 21

Accumulated shares in profits at start of year 6 14 - -

Share of associated company’s profit for the year -3 -8 - -

Accumulated shares in profits at year-end 3 6 - -

Accumulated impairment losses at start of year -3 -3 -5 -5

Impairment losses for the year - 0 - 0

Accumulated impairment losses at year-end -3 -3 -5 -5

Carrying amount at year-end 20 23 16 16

Schedule of Group’s and Parent Company’s participations in associated companies

2011 Corp. Id. No. Reg’d office
No. of 

shares
Partici- 

pation, %1

Carrying amount 
in Group

Carrying amount in 
Parent Company

Amadeus Sweden AB 556277-9461 Stockholm 13,050 22 8 1
Sveriges Kommunikationer AB 556005-5955 Stockholm 150 50 1 1
Kust till Kust AB 556481-7822 Karlskrona 60 25 0 0
Merresor i Sverige AB 556584-2134 Stockholm 500 50 2 0
Trafik i Mälardalen AB 556083-1959 Stockholm 400 50 1 0
Fly Rail AB 556773-5252 Stockholm 50,000 50 2 6
Botniatåg AB 556801-1828 Stockholm 100,000 40 6 8

Total participations in associated companies 20 16

Schedule of total assets, liabilities, provisions and income of associated companies 

2011 Corp. Id. No. Reg’d office Assets Liabilities Profit/loss Income

Amadeus Sweden AB 556277-9461 Stockholm 94 36 2 1
Sveriges Kommunikationer AB 556005-5955 Stockholm 5 1 1 -
Kust till Kust AB 556481-7822 Karlskrona 1 0 1 1
Merresor i Sverige AB 556584-2134 Stockholm 1 0 -1 0
Trafik i Mälardalen AB 556083-1959 Stockholm 3 1 0 6
Fly Rail AB 556773-5252 Stockholm 8 0 -2 3
Botniatåg AB 556801-1828 Stockholm 29 16 -5 40

Total associated companies 141 54 -4 51

Notes
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Schedule of Group’s and Parent Company’s participations in associated companies

2010 Corp. Id. No. Reg’d office
Number of

shares
Partici- 

pation, %1)

Carrying amount in
Group

Carrying amount in
Parent Company

Amadeus Sweden AB 556277-9461 Stockholm 13,050 22 8 1
Sveriges Kommunikationer AB 556005-5955 Stockholm 150 50 1 1
Kust till Kust AB 556481-7822 Karlskrona 60 25 0 0
Merresor i Sverige AB 556584-2134 Stockholm 500 50 2 0
Trafik i Mälardalen AB 556083-1959 Stockholm 400 50 1 0
Västtåg AB 556613-6577 Skövde 250 48 0 0
Fly Rail AB 556773-5252 Stockholm 50,000 50 4 6
Botniatåg AB 556801-1828 Stockholm 100,000 40 7 8

Total participations in associated companies 23 16

Schedule of total assets, liabilities, provisions and income of associated companies 

2010 Corp. Id. No. Reg’d office Assets Liabilities Profit/loss Income

Amadeus Sweden AB 556277-9461 Stockholm 101 57 0 1
Sveriges Kommunikationer AB 556005-5955 Stockholm 4 0 0 -
Kust till Kust AB 556481-7822 Karlskrona 1 1 1 1
Merresor i Sverige AB 556584-2134 Stockholm 25 8 -10 124
Trafik i Mälardalen AB 556083-1959 Stockholm 2 1 -1 6
Västtåg AB 556613-6577 Skövde 1 1 0 3
Fly Rail AB 556773-5252 Stockholm 10 0 -2 3
Botniatåg AB 556801-1828 Stockholm 22 2 -2 2

Total associated companies 166 70 -14 140

1 The share of equity capital corresponds to the share of voting rights.

The associated companies do not have any contingent liabilities. No items have been accounted for directly against equity in  
associated companies.

15 Securities held as non-current assets

Holdings of unlisted shares in companies other than Group or 
 associated companies Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Carrying fair value amount at start of period 0 1 0 1

Sales 0 -1 0 -1

Carrying amount at year-end 0 0 0 0

16 Non-current receivables

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value
Bank 
 deposits 454 454 412 412 311 311 311 311

Total 454 454 412 412 311 311 311 311

 

Notes
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Non-current receivables relate to deposits of 
SEK 311 million (311) in respect of finance 
leases with Nordea Finans Sverige AB.

The deposits are in part tied up in non-cur-
rent investments, with a term to maturity of 

up to 3.5 years, which are measured at mar-
ket value. SJ Försäkring AB has made long-
term investments to guarantee actuarial com-
mitments. The market value of the invest-
ments totalled 143 million (101) on the 

 balance-sheet date. In addition, there is a de-
posit of SEK 0 million (5) as security for a 
service contract.

Note 14 (cont.)
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17 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Prepaid rolling stock expenses 4 4 4 4

Prepaid lease expenses 66 31 33 28

Maintenance expenses 15 20 0 0

Station fees 10 10 10 10

Other prepaid expenses 64 24 49 15

Accrued interest income 18 15 18 13

Other accrued income 40 44 8 15

Total 217 148 122 85

Management of financial risks
SJ’s financial policy is approved by SJ AB’s 
Board of Directors and mandates the Treas-
ury function to manage the Group’s financial 
risks.

Market risk
SJ’s business is capital-intensive and aspects 
of its property, plant and equipment are 
debt-financed via leases.

Market risk is the risk associated with the 
Company’s exposure to fluctuations on fi-
nancial markets. This risk consists of cur-
rency risk, interest rate risk and other price 
risks

Currency risk
SJ’s currency risk consists exclusively of 
transaction exposure, that is, payments in 
foreign currencies resulting from invest-
ments and purchases or sales of goods and/
or services.

SJ’s transaction exposure in day-to-day op-
erations is limited.

The finance policy states that SJ’s exposure 
in foreign currency held for other than hedging 
purposes may not exceed the equivalent of 
SEK 50 million.

Major investments are continuously hedged 
using currency forwards via the currency mar-
ket.

The value of SJ’s currency forwards 
changes constantly, as exchange rates 
change. When foreign currency transactions 
are entered into, the purpose is to secure 
payment flows.

When hedge accounting is used and hedge 
accounting is applied, value changes are rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income.

On the balance sheet date, SJ had outstand-
ing currency derivatives, relating to major in-
vestments, to a nominal value of SEK 287 mil-
lion (336). The fair value of these positions was 
SEK -7 million (-4). In addition, SJ had cur-
rency derivatives to a nominal value of SEK 
397 million (388) pertaining to financial in-
vestments in foreign currencies. The fair val-
ue of these positions was SEK 18 million 
(21).

Interest rate risk
The Group’s finance costs and yield on cash 
and cash equivalents are influenced by 
changes in market interest rates.

Borrowings consist mainly of non-current 
finance leases at floating rates of interest.

However, the Company’s finance policy 
stipulates that the average fixed-interest 
term in its debt portfolio shall be in the 
range of 1-2 years.

Interest rate swaps are used to manage 
interest rate exposure and achieve the de-
sired fixed-interest period. The swaps con-
vert floating interest rates into fixed rates for 
parts of the debt portfolio.

The average interest fixed-interest term for 
the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings was 
1.4 years (1.7) on the balance-sheet date.

The value of the interest rate swaps held 
by SJ to extend the average fixed-interest 
term is immediately affected by changes in 
market interest rates.

SJ’s outstanding interest rate derivative 
instruments had a market value of SEK -18 
million (-5) at year-end.

Other price risks
Other price risks refers to the risk that the 
fair value of a financial instrument could be 
affected by factors other than currency and 
interest rate fluctuations.

SJ is exposed to other price risks in the 
valuation of its bond portfolio, in that an is-
suer’s credit risk premium could change, or 
in that the general trend of market credit 
spreads could change. SJ only holds bonds 
with a high rating, which means a lower 
credit risk premium and less extreme fluctu-
ations.

SJ’s holdings of bonds with a maturity of 
more than 1 year amounted to SEK 956 mil-
lion (954) on the balance-sheet date.

Credit and counterparty risk
Credit and counterparty risk is the risk of a 
transaction counterparty being unable to ful-
fil its undertakings, as a result of which SJ in-
curs a financial loss.

SJ is exposed to this risk when investing 
surplus cash in financial assets, but also in fi-

nancial derivatives contracts, in guarantees 
and in extending credit to commercial cus-
tomers.

Financial credit risk
SJ’s finance policy regulates how liquidity is 
to be invested. Counterparties in short-term 
investment must have a credit rating of K-1 
or higher.

Ratings are not required for central gov-
ernment, municipalities, county councils and 
State-owned enterprises.

Long-term investments of maturities of up 
to 5 years may be made in banks with a 
rating of not lower than A.

To limit concentration risk, restrictions ap-
ply in respect of amount per counterparty.

On the balance sheet date, 31 December 
2011, total counterparty exposure in invest-
ments totalled SEK 1,130 million (1,192).

Of the total counterparty exposure, finan-
cial assets measured at fair value amounted 
to SEK 1,082 million (1,145).

All of SJ’s balances can be valued on the 
basis of prices in an active market, and are 
therefore included in either level 1 or level 2 
of the hierarchy set out in IFRS 7.

Commercial trade credits
SJ’s trade receivables are made up of a large 
number of small outstanding amounts with 
private individuals, as well as receivables 
from companies in various sectors.

With the aim of reducing the risk of bad 
debt losses, the credit information neces-
sary is obtained from external sources, in 
line with SJ’s credit policy.

Credit losses in the SJ Group totalled SEK 
17 million (12). The increase is attributable 
to a higher level of credit card fraud. Losses 
noted in relation to SJ’s net sales were less 
than 0.3% (0.2). Bad debts on the balance-
sheet date totalled SEK 2 million (2) and 
provisions during the year totalled SEK 2 
million (3).

18 Financial instruments and financial risk management



Maturity structure – trade accounts receivable Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

< 30 days 219 259 119 152

30–60 days -8 -12 -8 -12

60–90 days 1 -5 1 -5

> 90 days 0 2 0 0

Total 212 244 112 135

Notes
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Financing risk and liquidity risk
Financing and liquidity risk arises in relation 
to rescheduling of loans or in meeting pay-
ment commitments; it is the risk of financing 
opportunities being limited or of major 
changes taking place in prices.

SJ’s main sources of finance are cash flow 
from operating activities and borrowings.

Interest-bearing borrowings consist of 
non-current finance leases with the Statens 
Järnvägar public service corporation and 
Nordea Finans Sverige AB, at floating inter-
est rates.

In addition, SJ has a lease on a main-
tenance workshop from Jernhusen. In view 
of the long fixed-interest period, this is 
 accounted for as a fixed-rate finance lease. 
Financing and liquidity risks are managed 
within the framework of the finance policy.

To ensure that the Group has liquidity 
available at any given time, the finance pol-
icy states that SJ must at any one time be 
able to access a liquidity reserve amounting 
to not less than SEK 500 million. 

It must be possible to access this reserve 
within three business days. The reserve in-

cludes cash, market-listed financial invest-
ments that can be sold within three business 
days, and unutilised but confirmed credits.

On the balance sheet date, sources of fi-
nance available to the business within three 
days totalled SEK 926 million (1,001). In ad-
dition, SJ had on the balance sheet date un-
utilised credit facilities totalling SEK 100 mil-
lion (100).

SJ limits its financing risk by managing 
the terms to maturity of its loans to ensure 
that the loan portfolio has an appropriate 
structure over time.

Group/Parent Company
Terms to maturity of outstanding financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2011-12-31 2010-12-31
Interest Amortisation Cash flow Interest Amortisation Cash flow

Within 1 year 54 1,067 1,121 68 140 208

1-2 years 32 146 178 69 1,067 1,135

2-3 years 24 748 772 42 146 188

3-4 years 6 377 383 27 748 775

4-5 years 2 3 5 8 377 385

5 years or more 7 24 31 9 27 36
Total 125 2,365 2,490 223 2,505 2,728

Less current portion -54 -1,067 -1,121 -68 -140 -208

Total non-current portion 71 1,298 1,369 155 2,365 2,520

Financial derivative instruments

Group/Parent Company 2011 2010

Nominal value Fair value Nominal value Fair value

Interest rate swaps 1,100 -18 1,102 -5

Currency forward contracts, positive value 397 18 388 21

Currency forward contracts, negative value 287 -7  336 -4

Total 1,784 -7 1,826 12

Total market value of derivative instruments held for hedging purposes, including financial hedging, totalled SEK -7 million (12) at the end of 2011. 
Of these, the market value of derivatives qualifying for hedge accounting totalled SEK -25 million (-9).

Group
Bad debts 2011 2010

Bad debts at start of year 3 17

Provision for anticipated losses 18 12

Receivables collected -2 -4

Confirmed losses -17 -22

Bad debts at year-end 2 3

Note 18 (cont.)
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With a net debt of SEK 1,106 at year-end, a 
1% change in market interest rates gener-
ates annual exposure of SEK 11 million (11) 

in the long term.
With SEK 11 million (5) in foreign curren-

cy-denominated assets at year-end, a 10% 

change in the value of the Swedish krona 
against other currencies would have an im-
pact of SEK -1 million on SJ’s profit or loss.

Sensitivity analysis
Change in interest rates, +1%, all interest rates (SEK m) Volume Value change

Impact on profit/ 
loss, 1-year horizon

Interest-bearing borrowings 2,365 -24
Interest hedging instruments 1,100 25 11

Transaction exposure in debt portfolio 1,265 -13

Short-term investments and FRNs 859 9

Total transaction exposure 406 -4

Fixed-interest bond portfolio -14

Classification of  financial instruments

Valuation Note

2011 2011 2010 2010

Group Category
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Non-current assets
Securities held as  
non-current assets

Financial assets measured at fair 
value via income

Fair value
15 0 0 0 0

Other non-current securities Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value 16 454 454 412 412

Total financial assets 454 454 412 412

Current assets
Trade receivables and  
other receivables 

Loan receivables and  
trade receivables

 
Amortised cost 18 487 487 853 853

Short-term deposits
Commercial paper Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value 18 57 57 90 90
Bonds Financial assets measured at fair 

value via income
Fair value

18 864 864 954 954

Total current assets 921 921 1,536 1,536

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash in hand and on deposit Loan receivables and  

trade receivables
 

Amortised cost 18 48 48 47 47

Total cash and cash equivalents 48 48 47 47

Group/Parent Company Interest rate swaps Currency forward contracts

Maturity structure of derivatives 2011 2010 2011 2010

Within 1 year 250 202 527 525

1-2 years 250 158 54

2-3 years 550 - - 145

3-4 years 300 550 - -

4-5 years 100 - -

5 years or more - - -

Total 1,100 1,102 685 724

Sensitivity analysis
Borrowings consist mainly of non-current fi-
nance leases at floating rates of interest 
based on 3- or 6-month STIBOR.

In order to manage the interest rate ex-
posure and achieve the desired fixed-interest 
period, derivative instruments such as inter-
est rate swaps are used to convert a floating 
rate to a fixed rate. SJ’s interest-bearing bor-
rowings amount to SEK 2,365 million. Since 
SJ has purchased interest rate swaps for a 

 total nominal amount of SEK 1,100 million, 
SJ’s direct transaction exposure at a change 
in interest rates of +1% amounts to an annual 
loss of approximately SEK 13 million. SJ’s in-
terest rate swaps totalling SEK 1,100 million 
have an average term to maturity of 2.4 years, 
which involves an instantaneous value in-
crease of approximately SEK +25 million in 
response to a movement of the curve of +1%. 
When hedge accounting is applied, the value 
change affects other comprehensive income.

Of SJ’s financial investments in fixed-in-
terest securities, totalling SEK 1,422 million, 
SEK 859 million is invested in instruments 
with a term to maturity of less than 1 year, or 
in FRNs.

A 1% increase in interest rates would cause 
SJ’s direct transaction exposure to total 
around SEK 4 million annually. A +1% shift in 
the interest rate curve would cause the value 
of SJ’s fixed-interest bond portfolio to fall in-
stantaneously by about SEK 14 million.

Note 18 (cont.)
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Classification of  financial instruments

Valuation Note

2011 2011 2010 2010

Group Category
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Derivatives
Interest rate swaps Derivatives identified as  

hedging instruments
Fair value

18 -18 -18 -5 -5
Currency forwards Derivatives identified as  

hedging instruments
Fair value

18 -7 -7 -4 -4
Currency forwards Financial hedging, held for  

trading
Fair value

18 18 18 21 21

Total derivatives -7 -7 12 12

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost
Amortised cost

21 2,365 2,365 2,505 2,505
Trade payables Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost
Amortised cost

18 545 545 569 569
Other liabilities Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost Amortised cost 20 164 164 141 141

Total financial liabilities 3,074 3,074 3,215 3,215

Hierarchy level for financial instruments measured at fair value 2011 2010

Hierarchy level 1 0 0

Hierarchy level 2 1,368 1,468

Total 1,368 1,468

Non-current assets
Securities held as non-current assets consist 
of shares in other companies (see Note 15). 
Fair value refers to the share of the com-
pany’s book equity that the holding repre-
sents.

Other non-current receivables include 
long-term deposits that serve as collateral 
for the lease financing of double-decker 
trains, totalling SEK 311 million (306).

Parts of the deposits are tied to non-cur-
rent investments with a term to maturity of 
up to 3.5 years, which are measured at mar-
ket value (see Note 16).

SJ Försäkring AB has made long-term in-
vestments totalling SEK 143 million (101) to 
guarantee actuarial commitments. Addition-
al deposits amount to SEK 0 million (5).

Current assets
Trade receivables are carried to the extent 
that they are expected to result in full pay-
ment. The total amount has been adjusted 
for anticipated credit losses.

Short-term deposits included in the cate-
gory of current assets are investments with a 
term to maturity of more than three months.

Bonds are held in order to increase the re-

turn on SJ’s financial assets. Bond holdings 
are classified as being held for trading and 
their fair value is measured regularly via in-
come.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances comprise balances 
in SEK and foreign currency. The fair value of 
these assets is the amount receivable by SJ 
on the balance sheet date. Commercial 
 paper is classified as cash and cash equiva-
lents, if its original term to maturity is less 
than three months.

Derivatives
Derivatives refer to derivatives outstanding on 
the balance-sheet date; these were valued at 
SEK -7 million (12).

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost comprise lease liabilities, bank loans, 
trade payables and other liabilities. SJ’s 
lease loans are recognised at amortised cost. 
The fair value of the loan amount is consid-
ered to equal the carrying amount. Since 
SJ’s credit terms for these loans are in line 
with market norms, and since the liabilities 
carry floating-rate STIBOR-based interest 

rates, this measurement is considered to be 
accurate.

Trade payables and other current liabil-
ities are carried to the extent that the 
amounts are expected to be settled.

Fixed-interest and borrowing
On 31 December 2011, the average interest 
rate on total long-term interest-bearing liabil-
ities outstanding was 2.9% (2.1) excluding, 
and 3.4% (2.8) including, interest-rate deriv-
atives.

In addition, there is a risk-reflecting charge 
of 0.5% established by the National Debt Of-
fice on lease loans taken before conversion to 
limited-liability company status on 31 Decem-
ber 2000.

The charge is paid to the Statens Järnvägar 
public service corporation.

In addition, SJ had on the balance sheet 
date an unutilised credit facility of SEK 100 
million (100) with Nordea Bank AB.

The average fixed-interest term in the over-
all loan portfolio, including interest rate deriva-
tives, was 1.4 years (1.7).

The Group’s total granted loan commit-
ments at the balance sheet date had an aver-
age term of 2.1 years. 

Note 18 (cont.)
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19 Equity

GROuP

Share capital
Under SJ AB’s Articles of Association, the 
share capital has to be no less than SEK 400 
million and no more than SEK 1,600 million. 
All the shares are fully paid up. No shares 
are held by the Company itself or its subsid-
iaries. There are no A shares, B shares or 
preference shares in SJ AB.

The number of shares is 4,000,000 and 
the quota value is SEK 100 per share.

Reserves
For certain derivatives, interest-rate swaps 
and currency forwards, hedge accounting is 
applied, which means that any change in val-
ue is taken to equity in the balance sheet via 
other comprehensive income. The reserve on 
31 December 2011 totalled SEK -27 million.

Cash-flow hedging and Available-for-sale finan-
cial assets
Any change in value of derivatives, that is to 
say profits and losses attributable to non-
settled cash flow hedges, is recognised 
against reserves within equity in order to be 
later taken to the income statement as a 
hedged transaction. Any change in the value 
of available-for-sale financial assets is recog-
nised in other comprehensive income. De-
ferred tax on cash-flow hedges and avail-
able-for-sale financial assets is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Retained earnings including profit for the 
year
Profit brought forward includes profit for the 
year and the part of untaxed reserves that 

constitutes equity, as well as non-distributed 
profit in associated companies.

Other contributed capital
Contributed capital consists of capital that 
SJ received from its owner in the years 2001, 
2003 and 2004.

Schedule of reserves, other comprehensive income

Group/Parent Company, SEK m Reserves Cash flow hedges
Reserves Available-for-sale  

financial assets

01-01-2010 -40 0

Change in value of available-for-sale assets - 9
Change in value of cash flow hedges -9 -
To income statement 51 -
To balance sheet 0 -

Tax effect -11 -2

31-12-2010 -9 7

Change in value of available-for-sale assets - -4
Change in value of cash flow hedges -28 -
To income statement 9 -
To balance sheet 5 -

Tax effect 4 1

31-12-2011 -19 4

2011 2010

Financial liabilities (interest-bearing) 2,529 2,646

Financial assets (interest-bearing) -1,423 1,502

Net liability 1,106 1,144

Total equity 4,434 4,488

Less: amounts in equity related to cash-flow hedges and available-for-sale financial assets -15 -2

Adjusted equity 4,419 4,486

Debt/equity ratio 0.6 0.6

The debt/equity ratio in 2011 was marginally lower than in 2010. SJ’s equity/assets ratio rose in 2011, from 48.4% to 49.6%.

PARENT COMPANY
Under Swedish law, equity is divided into re-
stricted and unrestricted equity.

The amount available for distribution is 
subject to both a specified limit and a prin-
ciple of prudence. The specified limit means 
that no dividend is paid unless there is full 

cover for restricted equity immediately after 
the dividend is paid. In addition, under the 
principle of prudence, dividend may only be 
paid if justifiable in view of the risks repres-
ented by the nature and scale of the operation 
to the equity of the Parent Company and 

Group.
The restricted equity consists of share 

capital of SEK 400 million (400) and a statu-
tory reserve of SEK 200 million (200).



Accident annuities 
Accident annuities relate to compensation 
paid to just over 60 people injured mainly be-
fore SJ was converted to limited liability sta-
tus. Accident annuities are life-long, but at the 
age of 65 the annuity is in almost all cases re-
duced by half, or if the individual was very 
young at the time of the injury the annuity is 
reduced by up to two-thirds. All accident an-
nuities are updated annually in line with the 
change in Sweden’s price base amount. The 
payments to annuity holders are expected to 
continue for a further just over 50 years. Cal-
culation of the reserve is based on assump-
tions on life expectancy, discount rate and the 
index by which the index-linked annuities 
have been uprated. The discount rate used is 
based on the yield curve.

Insurance contracts
When SJ was converted to limited liability 
status, a lump-sum premium was paid to SJ 
Försäkring AB to cover the commitment for 
compensation of injuries, settlement of 
which had not been completed at the time of 
conversion. These injuries are known as run-
off injuries.

Loyalty programme
SJ Prio, SJ’s customer loyalty programme, 
was launched in 2007. Today, SJ Prio has 
around 800,000 members, of whom 125,000 
joined in 2011. Revenue relating to SJ Prio is 
recognised in accordance with IFRIC 13, Cus-
tomer Loyalty Programmes. This requires the 
initial sale to be allocated using the com-
ponent method, in which a portion of the rev-
enue is reserved as a payment obligation for 
the future bonus commitment.

The customer loyalty programme pro-
vides rewards in the form of points when the 
member buys from SJ and selected part-
ners. The points can then be redeemed, for 
example, as payment for travel and hotel ac-
commodation. Membership is free and is 
available on three levels, white, grey and 
black, of which black is the highest. The pro-
gramme promotes and rewards loyalty. The 
more that customers travel with SJ, the more 
offers and benefits they receive.

Other
The provision of SEK 48 million for the year 
relates primarily to the travel-time guaran-
tee.

Notes
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20 Provisions

Group

Provisions
Accident 
 annuities Restructuring

Insurance  
contracts

Loyalty  
programme Other Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Provision at start of year 141 130 19 46 104 92 95 83 35 18 394 369

Provisions 25 14 1 1 22 31 78 72 245 114 320 192

Estimated interest rate 4 4 - - - - - - - - 4 4

Dissolved/utilised -6 -7 -15 -28 -46 -19 -74 -60 -232 -98 -321 -172

Re-classification - - - - - - - - 1 - 1

Total 164 141 5 19 80 104 99 95 48 35 397 394

Distribution in balance sheet

Non-current provisions 158 136 0 1 25 18 60 79 2 0 245 234

Current provisions 6 5 5 18 55 86 40 16 46 35 152 160

Total 164 141 5 19 80 104 99 95 48 35 397 394

Parent Company

Provisions
Accident 
 annuities Restructuring

Loyalty  
programme Other Total

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Provision at start of year 99 97 19 46 95 83 32 18 245 244

Provisions 17 3 1 1 27 32 244 110 289 146

Estimated interest rate 4 4 - - - - - - 4 4

Dissolved/utilised -5 -5 -15 -28 -22 -20 -232 -96 -274 -149

Re-classification - - - - - - - - - -

Total 115 99 5 19 99 95 44 32 264 245

Distribution in balance sheet

Non-current provisions 110 94 0 1 60 79 2 0 172 174

Current provisions 5 5 5 18 40 16 42 32 92 71

Total 115 99 5 19 99 95 44 32 264 245



21 Lease liabilities and bank loans

Group 2011 2010

Future minimum lease payments 2,524 2,688

Interest -159 -183

Present value of future minimum lease payments 2,365 2,505

Group 2011 2010

Maturity structure of leases

Future  
minimum lease 

payments

Present value 
 of future minimum 

lease payments

Future  
minimum lease 

payments

Present value of  
future minimum 
lease payments

Within 1 year

Total current lease liabilities
Within 1 year, but less than 5 years 1,358 1,239 2,456 2,284

More than 5 years 31 24 36 29

Total non-current lease liabilities 1,389 1,263 2,492 2,313

Total lease liabilities 2,524 2,365 2,688 2,505

Minimum lease payments include interest and contractual amortisation, plus the residual value of existing lease liabilities.

Operating leases

Group

Future payment commitments in nominal values 31.12.2011 Rolling stock Premises Total

Within 1 year 405 326 731
1-2 years 369 307 776
2-3 years 320 287 607
3-4 years 320 226 546
4-5 years 160 136 296
5 years or more 0 8 8
Total 1,575 1,290 2,865

Group

Future payment commitments in nominal values 31.12.2010 Rolling stock Premises Total

Within 1 year 400 132 532
1-2 years 385 92 477
2-3 years 349 56 405
3-4 years 313 40 353
4-5 years 313 13 326
5 years or more 313 13 326
Total 2,073 346 2,419

The Group’s operating leases relate for the most part to rolling stock and commercial premises. The contract period varies from 0 to 5 years.
The lease contracts are based on standard market terms. In 2011, rental payments of SEK 725 million (724) were made.

SJ’s borrowing consists mainly of financial 
lease contracts, which run until 2012–2015. 
The lease contracts do not contain any cov-
enants - that is, any financial credit terms. 
On the other hand, they do contain non-fi-
nancial credit terms. SJ rents rolling stock 
from the Statens Järnvägar public service 
corporation, which holds the financial lease 
contracts that were entered into prior to con-
version to limited liability company status on 
31.12.2000. On 31.12.2011 they totalled 
SEK 924 million (924). These lease contracts 
have a remaining term up to 2012 and are 
reflected in the SJ balance sheet.

There is an additional risk-reflecting 
charge for lease liabilities, established by the 
National Debt Office, which is paid to the 
Statens Järnvägar public service corporation. 

For 2010, it was set at 0.5% (0.5).
SJ has a lease on a workshop for the 

maintenance of double-deckers. The lease 
runs until 31.12.2024. It is classified as a fi-
nance lease.

An annual amortisation expense for the fi-
nance lease liability of SEK 3 million is rec-
ognised in respect of the workshop for roll-
ing stock maintenance.

In 2011, rolling stock was rented out for 
the amount of SEK 0 million (0). SJ rents 
workshop premises in Olskroken and 
Hagalund, which are sub-let to SJ’s main-
tenance suppliers. The contracts run through-
out 2012, with annual rent of SEK 26 million.

SJ has contracts with Nordea Finans Sver-
ige AB (Nordea Finans) for financial leases 
relating to 42 double-deckers.

The total finance lease liability pertaining 
to the double-deckers totalled SEK 1,402 
million (1,539) on the balance-sheet date. Of 
this liability, SEK 1,263 million (1,402) is 
non-current, while SEK 139 million (137) is 
current and relates to the portion of liability 
that falls due for payment within one year. 
The lease contracts entered into expire in 
2014 and 2015.

SJ’s total lease liabilities on 31.12.2011 
were SEK 2,365 million (2,505).

SJ’s finance leases involve obligations of 
long duration. The rolling stock is covered by 
SJ’s plans for maintenance and overhaul.

The rolling stock must not be rented out 
for extended periods. In special circum-
stances, SJ can enter into negotiations with 
counterparties on change of collateral.

Notes
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22 Accrued expenses and deferred income

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Personnel-related expenses 188 232 169 208

Electricity and infrastructure charges 76 106 61 83

Rolling-stock related expenses 86 98 86 98

IT expenses 17 18 17 18

Accrued interest expenses 4 3 4 3

Other accrued expenses 107 162 76 119

Prepaid annual season and other tickets 286 279 286 279

Market value of derivatives 25 10 25 10

Other deferred income 9 15 4 13

Total 798 923 728 831

23 Pledged assets

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Deposits 311 311 311 311

Total 311 311 311 311

Deposits consist of cash and cash equivalents and primarily serve as security to finance double-decker trains.

Notes
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24 Contingent liabilities

Group Parent Company

 2011 2010 2011 2010

Contingent liabilities 429 933 631 1,069

Total 429 933 631 1,069

The bulk of SJ’s investment commitment relates to the new fast trains, for which upcoming payments total SEK 408 million (928). As full part-
ner, the Parent Company also has a commitment totalling SEK 202 million (136) in relation to Stockholmståg KB.

Net profit for the year for Stockholmståg KB is included in the Group’s income. The risk formerly associated with the dispute with Tåg i 
Bergslagen ceased with the settlement agreed by the parties in September 2011.

SJ AB has received invoices totalling currently SEK 18 million from Jernhusen AB, relating to capital cost compensation payments from AB 
Storstockholms Lokaltrafik. In SJ AB’s view, the agreement cited by Jernhusen AB will not in the course of any legal proceedings be found to 
represent any basis of obligation to pay compensation.



Notes
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25 Investing activities

During the year, property, plant and equip-
ment and intangible assets totalling SEK 869 
million in the Group and totalling 810 in the 
Parent Company were acquired. The invest-

ments mostly consist of part-payments for 
the new SJ 3000 fast trains to be delivered. 
Upgrading of passenger carriages from the 
1980s continued during 2011. In addition, 

increased investments SJ 2000 fleet contin-
ued during the period.

Investments Statement of cash flows
Investments Group Parent Company Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

Investments in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets
Investments in intangible assets 84 60 29 31 84 60 29 31

Other investments in property, plant and equipment 785 784 781 773 785 784 781 773

Total investments in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets 869 844 810 804 869 844 810 804

Financial investments
Acquisition of shares and participations - 14 3 14 - 14 -3 14

Total financial investments - 14 - 14 - 14 -3 14

Total investments 869 858 813 818 869 858 807 818

Sales – cash flow Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

Sale of property, plant and equipment
Sale of rolling stock/components 243 35 242 35

Total sales of property, plant and equipment 243 35 242 35

Total sales 243 35 242 35

26 Non-current assets for sale

In November 2010, SJ AB was informed in an arbitration judgment that 5 “Öresund Trains” have to be sold to the Skånetrafiken transport oper-
ator. These non-current assets had been classified as Non-current assets for sale, and had been measured at the lower of either market value or 
fair value. The sale was completed at the end of March 2011.

28 Income from subsidiaries

Group

 2011 2010 20101

Group contributions received 37 - 68

Group contributions paid -80 - -42

Dividend 37 - 0

Total -6 - 26

1 Adjusted figures provided for comparison in accordance with RFR 2, issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, regarding Group contributions.

29 Events after the financial year-end

On 12 January 2011, SJ AB entered into a framework agreement with Nordea regarding a loan facility limited to a maximum amount of SEK 
500 million. Delivery of SJ 3000 vehicles has been hit by major delays in relation to the agreed timetable. As a result, SJ has invoked its right to 
a delay penalty of around SEK 210 million in accordance with the conditions stated in the delivery contract. The supplier, Bombardier Transpor-
tation, has made certain objections regarding SJ’s right to penalties. However, SJ maintains its right to the said penalties. On 1 May, SJ will take 
over  regional and commuter train services in Västra Götaland, except for the Kinnekullebanan service.

27 Other receivables

Group Parent Company

2011 2010 2011 2010

VAT and other tax assets 155 480 109 473

Insurance claim 29 29 28 29

Unrealised exchange gain 19 22 19 22

Damage, rolling stock 41 25 41 21

External receivable 13 24 - -

Recourse 18 28 - -

Total 275 608 197 545



Directors’ declaration

The undersigned affirm that the consoli-
dated accounts and the annual  report 
have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Stand-
ards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and 
in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practice; that they provide a 
true and fair view of the financial posi-
tion and results of the Group and the 
Parent Company; and that Directors’ re-
port provides a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations, financial posi-

tion and results and describes material 
risks and uncertainties faced by the 
companies included in the Group

  Stockholm, 30 March 2012

  Jan Sundling

  Chairman of the Board

 Eivor Andersson Lars-Olof Gustavsson Lena Olving

 Board member Board member Board member

 Mikael Thorén Siv Svensson Gunilla Wikman 

 Board member Board member Board member

 Per Hammarqvist Thomas Winäs Erik Johannesson 

 Board member Board member Board member

  Jan Forsberg

  Chief Executive Officer

  

  Our Audit Report was submitted on 30 March 2012

  

   

 Ernst & Young AB

 Lars Träff   Per Redemo

 Authorised Public Accountant  Authorised Public Accountant

   Appointed by Riksrevisionen  

   (the Swedish National Audit Office)
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Auditors’ Report
To the Annual General Meeting of SJ AB, corp. id no. 556196-1599

Report on the Annual Report and 
 Consolidated Accounts
We have audited the annual report and con-
solidated accounts for SJ AB for 2011. The 
annual report and the consolidated ac-
counts are included on pages 41–91 of the 
printed version of this document.

Respective responsibilities of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) with regard to the annual report and 
the consolidated accounts
The Board of Directors and the CEO are re-
sponsible for preparing an annual report 
that provides a true and fair view in accord-
ance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act 
and consolidated accounts that provide and 
true and fair view in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Swed-
ish Annual Accounts Act, as well as for the in-
ternal systems of control that the Board of 
Directors and CEO deem to be necessary in 
order to prepare an annual report and con-
solidated accounts that are free of material 
misstatement, whether caused by irregular-
ity or error.

Responsibilities of the auditor
Our responsibility is to express our opinion 
on the annual report and consolidated ac-
counts on the basis of our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Inter-
national Standards on Auditing and gener-
ally accepted auditing practice in Sweden. 
Those standards require that we observe 
the requirements of professional ethics and 
that we plan and perform the audit to ob-
tain reasonable assurance that the annual 
report and the consolidated accounts are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit includes obtaining, by variety 
of measures, accounting evidence support-
ing the amounts and disclosures in the an-
nual report and consolidated accounts. The 
auditor decides which actions should be 
taken, for example by determining the risks 
of material misstatements in the annual re-
port and the consolidated accounts, 
whether caused by irregularity or error. In 
determining risks in this way, the auditor 

considers which aspects of internal systems 
of control are relevant to how the company 
prepares the annual report and the consol-
idated accounts in order to provide a true 
and fair view, in order to devise audit meas-
ures that are fit-for-purpose with regard to 
the circumstances, but not in order to state 
an opinion as to the efficacy of the com-
pany’s internal systems of control. An audit 
also includes an assessment of the suitability 
of the accounting policies applied and of the 
reasonableness of the estimates by the 
Board of Directors and the CEO in the ac-
counts, as well as an assessment of the over-
all presentation of the annual report and the 
consolidated accounts. We believe that the 
accounting evidence we have obtained pro-
vides an adequate and appropriate basis for 
our opinions.

Opinions
In our view, the annual report has been pre-
pared in accordance with the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act and provides in all material re-
spects a true and fair view of the parent com-
pany’s financial position on 31 December 
2011 and of its financial results and cash 
flows for the year in accordance with the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act, and the con-
solidated accounts have been prepared in ac-
cordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts 
Act and provide in all material respects a true 
and fair view of the Group’s financial position 
on 31 December 2011 and of its financial re-
sults and cash flows in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards, as 
adopted by the EU, and the Swedish Annual 
Accounts Act. The statutory administration 
report is consistent with the other parts of the 
annual accounts and the consolidated ac-
counts.

We therefore recommend to the Annual 
General Meeting that the income statements 
and balance sheets of the parent company 
and the statement of comprehensive income 
and the statement of changes in financial 
position of the group be adopted.

Report on other requirements under 
 legislation and other regulations
In addition to our audit of the annual report 
and the consolidated accounts, we have also 

reviewed the proposed treatment of the 
company’s profit or loss and the administra-
tion of the affairs of SJ AB by the Board and 
the CEO in the year 2011.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and 
the CEO
The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
proposed arrangements for the company’s 
profit or loss, and the Board and CEO are re-
sponsible for administration under the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

Responsibilities of the auditor
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
with a reasonable degree of assurance as to 
the proposed treatment of the company’s 
profit or loss and as to the administration 
based on our review. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with generally accept-
ed auditing practice in Sweden.

As a basis for our opinion on the Board’s 
proposed arrangements for the company’s 
profit or loss, we have examined whether 
the proposed arrangements are consistent 
with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.

As a basis for our opinion concerning 
discharge from liability, we examined, in ad-
dition to our review of the annual report and 
the consolidated accounts, significant deci-
sions, actions taken and circumstances of 
the company in order to be able to deter-
mine the liability, if any, to the company of 
any Board member or the CEO. We also ex-
amined whether any Board member or the 
CEO has, in any other way, acted in contra-
vention of the Swedish Companies Act, the 
Swedish Annual Accounts Act or the com-
pany’s Articles of Association.

We believe that the accounting evidence 
we have obtained provides an adequate 
and appropriate basis for our opinions.

Opinions
We recommend to the Annual General 
Meeting of shareholders that the profit be 
dealt with in accordance with the proposal 
in the administration report and that the 
members of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO be discharged from liability for the fi-
nancial year.

  Stockholm, 30 March 2012

 Ernst & Young AB  Per Redemo

 Lars Träff  Authorised Public Accountant

 Authorised Public Accountant  Appointed by Riksrevisionen (the Swedish National Audit Office)
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Statistics

PASSENGER SERVICES (millions) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Number of journeys excluding contract rail services 31.1  37.8 36.3 40.1 38.4

SJ tickets 28.0 31.0 29.7 31.9 29.5

Contracts with regional public transport authorities 3.1 6.8 6.6 8.2 8.9

Passenger kilometres excluding contract rail services 6,431 6,774 7,038 7,156 6,467

SJ tickets 6,258 6,400 6,678 6,698 5,997

Contracts with regional public transport authorities 173 374 360 458 470

Train kilometres 55.1 59.0 59.9 67.5 65.2

SJ rail services and contracts with regional public transport authorities 39.0 42.8 42.8 44.1 43.3

Contract rail services 16.1 16.2 17.11 23.4 21.9

ROLLING STOCK 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Electric locomotives 115 121 119 113 102

Multiple units (rolling stock available to SJ) 97 113 177 242 243

Fast train sets 42 43 43 43 43

Electric multiple units 55 70 134 199 190

Diesel multiple units - - - - 6

Diesel railcars - - - - 4

Passenger carriages 473 498 506 506 429

Day carriages and dining carriages 336 342 350 350 318

Sleeper and couchette carriages 137 156 156 156 111

Mail and luggage carriages 1 1 2 2 2

Exhibition, conference and special-purpose carriages 16 16 16 16 16

ENVIRONMENTAL DATA (Parent Company unless otherwise stated) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Electricity consumption (kWh/pkm, electric trains) 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.07 0.09

Diesel consumption (kWh/pkm, diesel trains) - - - 0.21 0.31

CO2 emissions from electric trains (g/pkm, electric trains) 0.0011 0.0022 0.0018 0.0018 0.0022

CO2 emissions from diesel and biogas trains (g/pkm) 2 - - - 52 55

Emissions from rail transport

CO2 electric trains in Sweden (tonnes), SJ AB 12 15 14 16 14

CO2 electric trains outside Sweden (tonnes) 3 673 792 1,828 - -

CO2 electric trains (tonnes), Stockholmståg KB 4 4 4 4 4

NOX electric trains in Sweden (tonnes) 0.05 0.06 0.06 0.07 0.06

NOx electric trains outside Sweden (tonnes) 3 2.3 2.3 1.9 - -

CO2 diesel trains (tonnes) - - - 1,117 2,675

NOX diesel and biogas trains (tonnes) - - - 18 41

Emissions from other transport services

SJ buses/coaches (CO2 tonnes) 4 - 2,064 2,219 1,997 1,828

Rental cars (CO2 tonnes) 6.8 10 25 48 31

Replacement services – coach/bus and taxi (CO2 tonnes) 5 2,696 4,962 1,756 2,406 3,947

Other emissions

Business travel (CO2 tonnes) 125 138 149 166 60

Refrigerants (CO2 tonnes) 6 107 164 - - -

Total emissions (CO2 tonnes) 3,623 8,184 6,252 6,072 8,786

1 The fall is attributable to the loss of the Öresund contract.
2 Diesel operations ceased in June 2008.
3 Since 2010, SJ has been buying hydro power for rail services in Norway and wind power in Denmark. In Germany, power is supplied from the national electricity mix.
4 SJ stopped operating bus/coach services at year-end 2010.
5 Requirements for replacement services vary from year to year, depending on weather conditions, planning etc.
6 As of 2010, C02 equivalents have also been included to take emissions of refrigerants into account.
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Board of Directors

Mikael Thorén
Year of birth 1969. Master of Business Administration. Non-executive 
director, SJ AB since 2012. Deputy Director, Ministry of Finance 
Board member, Infranord AB, AB Svenska Spel and Samhall AB.

Eivor Andersson
Year of birth 1961. Degree in Marketing. Consultant. Non-executive 
director, SJ AB since 2005. Formerly CEO, Ving Sverige AB/Thomas 
Cook Sweden and MyTravel Sweden AB. Board member, Coop Butik-
er and Stormarknader AB. Non-executive director, SkiStar AB and 
 European Travel Intractive.

Siv Svensson
Year of birth 1957. Degree in International Economics, Uppsala 
University. Non-executive director, SJ AB since 2012. Formerly 
CEO, Sefina Finance AB, before that 25 years in the Nordea Group, 
including Senior Vice-President and Director of Regional Banking. 
Non-executive director, Swedbank.

Lars-Olof Gustavsson
Year of birth 1943. Master of Business Administration, School of 
Business, Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg. Non-exec-
utive director, SJ AB since 2005. Chairman, Four Seasons Venture 
Capital AB, Boule Diagnostics AB, Fouriertransform AB. Board mem-
ber, Mikroponent AB, Siem Capital AB,  Industrifonden Foundation, TA 
Associates AB.

Gunilla Wikman 
Year of birth 1959. Master of Business Administration, Stockholm 
School of Economics. Non-executive director, SJ AB since 2011. 
Formerly Director of Communications at Riksbanken (Central 
Bank of Sweden) and Head of Group Communications, SEB. Con-
sultant, Carrara Communication and Ekmand & Partners. Board 
member, HMS Network, AMF Fonder and Flyinge AB; Deputy 
Chairman, the Swedish Equestrian Federation.

Jan Sundling, Chairman of the Board
Year of birth 1947. B. Sc. in Nautical Science, Higher Business Ad-
ministration programme at the Frans Schartau Business Institute. 
Consultant. Non-executive director, SJ AB since 2011. Formerly 
CEO, Green Cargo AB Chairman, Swedish Maritime Association, 
Infranord AB, the Association of Swedish Train Operating Com-
panies, Jan Sundling i Ytterkvarn AB; member, CoremProperty 
Group AB, CER Management Committee, Brussels.

Lena Olving
Year of birth 1956. M. Sc. in Engineering. Non-executive direc-
tor, SJ AB since 2011. Deputy Chairman and COO (Chief Oper-
ating Officer), Saab AB; Board Member at Alfa Laval AB, Norsk 
Hydro A/S (Norway), Gunnebo AB, Green Cargo AB; current 
duties at Novozymes A/S (Denmark).

Per Hammarqvist 
Year of birth 1958. Traffic planner. Non-executive 
 director, SJ AB since 2011. Employee representative, 
SACO/TJ (the Swedish Confederation of Professional 
Associations/Transport & Rail). Chairman, SACO sec-
tion at SJ AB; Chairman, TJ section at SJ AB.

Thomas Winäs
Year of birth 1952. Train driver. Non-executive director, 
SJ AB since 2003. Chairman, ST-spårtrafik SJ AB. 
Member of the departmental board of ST-spårtrafik.

Erik Johannesson
Year of birth 1957. Train driver. Non-executive direc-
tor, SJ AB since 2005. Chairman, SEKO (the Union of 
Service and Communication Employees) SJ’s Negoti-
ation Unit, member of SEKO West Branch Board.

Board of Directors



  

95S J  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 1 

Management

Management Peter Blomqvist
Year of birth 1954.
Director of Human Resources.
Degree in Social Work.
Employed at SJ since 1982.
Chairman, SJ Danmark A/S, Denmark, Chairman of 
Railbound Transport Board, Almega.

Britta Dalunde
Year of birth 1958.
Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Master of Business Administration.
Employed at SJ since 2009.
Board member, Boule Diagnostics AB, Linkon AB. 
Chairman, SJ Försäkring AB and SJ Invest AB; non-ex-
ecutive director, SJ Danmark A/S.

Claes Broström
Year of birth 1954.
Director of Rolling Stock.
Mechanical engineer/Degree in Marketing.
Employed at SJ since 2006.
Chairman, Linkon AB.

Jan Forsberg
Year of birth 1951.
Chief Executive Officer
Master of Engineering, KTH (Royal Institute of Technol-
ogy).
Employed at SJ since 2002.
Board member, Samtrafiken i Sverige AB, Apoteket 
Omstrukturering AB, Almega and the Confederation of 
Swedish Enterprise. Chairman, Stockholmståg KB, SJ 
Event AB, SJ Service Academy AB and SJ Norrland-
ståg AB.

Lars Svensson
Year of birth 1948.
Director of Traffic Safety.
Master of Engineering, KTH  
(Royal Institute of Technology).
Employed at SJ since 1999.

Nina Hornewall
Year of birth 1956.
Director of Sales.
Degree in Marketing.
Employed at SJ since 2005.
Non-executive director, SJ Event AB, SJ Service 
Academy AB, SJ Norrlandståg AB, KF Fas-
tigheter.

Håkan Ahl 
Year of birth 1955.
Director of Traffic and Service.
MBA, University of Leicester.
Employed at SJ since 2007.

Elisabeth Lindgren
Year of birth 1963.
Vice President Corporate Communications. 
Degree in Marketing.
Bachelor of Arts in Marketing, MBA Stockholm 
School of Economics.
Employed at SJ since 2007.
Non-executive director, Magelungen AB.

Jan Olson
Year of birth 1950.
Director of Business Development.
Master of Business Administration.
Employed at SJ since 2003.
Board member, Stockholmståg KB, SJ Event 
AB, SJ Service Academy AB, SJ Norrlandståg 
AB; non-executive director, SJ A/S Danmark.
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Definitions

Definitions of key financial ratios

Return on equity Net profit for the year calculated on a rolling 

12-month period as per income statement, as a percentage of 

average equity over the same period.

Return on capital employed Profit after financial items plus fi-

nancial expenses calculated on a rolling 12-month period, as a 

percentage of average capital employed over the same period.

Balance sheet total Total assets as per the balance sheet.

Short-term deposits In the Parent Company balance sheet, 

short-term deposits are investments with a term to maturity of 

less than 1 year. In the Group, the term to maturity ranges from 

3 months to 1 year. Longer-term bonds held for trading pur-

poses are also included in Short-term deposits, regardless of 

their term to maturity.

Cash and cash equivalents This is the sum of cash in hand 

and on deposit, plus interest-bearing deposits with a term to 

maturity of 90 days or less on the acquisition date.

Net debt The net sum of interest-bearing provisions and li-

abilities, less interest-bearing assets.

Earnings per share Profit for the period divided by the aver-

age number of shares outstanding.

Operating margin Operating profit expressed as a percent-

age of total sales.

Debt/equity ratio Interest-bearing liabilities divided by equity.

Equity/assets ratio Equity, including owner’s holdings with-

out controlling influence, as a percentage of the balance sheet 

total.

Capital employed The balance sheet total less non-interest-

bearing liabilities and non-interest-bearing provisions, includ-

ing deferred tax liabilities.

Profit margin Profit after financial items as a percentage of 

total sales.

Profit for the year Profit after tax.

Industry definitions

Number of journeys Total of one-way journeys with SJ, with 

or without changes.

Capacity utilisation Ratio of passenger kilometres (pkm) to 

seat kilometres expressed as a percentage.

SJ rail services Rail services operated by SJ on a commercial 

basis or contract rail services financed wholly or partially by 

ticket sales. An example of a commercial service is the SJ 

2000 service between Stockholm and Gothenburg. An ex-

ample of a contract rail service is the service operated under 

contract with Rikstrafiken (the National Public Transport 

Agency) to and from Upper Norrland. Rikstrafiken was 

phased out on 31 December 2010 and its duties transferred 

to Trafikverket.

Contract rail services Services operated by SJ on behalf of 

regional transport authorities. An example is the Alingsås 

commuter service that SJ operates on behalf of Västtrafik.

Passenger kilometres Number of trips multiplied by journey 

length.

Seat kilometres The number of seat kilometres offered for 

sale, i.e. the number of available seats multiplied by distance 

travelled.

Punctuality In the case of fast trains, this is defined as the 

time stated for arrival + 15 minutes, while for regional trains 

the definition is the time stated for arrival + 5 minutes.

SJ passengers The volume measured in passenger kilo-

metres.

Travel time guarantee SJ’s commitment to compensate pas-

sengers for delays. For more, up-to-date information, go to 

www.sj.se.

Rail service income Income from SJ’s own rail services and 

those performed under contract.

Train kilometres The sum total of the distance travelled by 

all trains.

Yield Income from SJ rail services divided by SJ passenger 

volume, measured in passenger kilometres.

Definitions
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SJ AB 105 50 Stockholm
Address for visitors: Centralplan 19, Stockholm

Corp. id. no: 556196-1599
+46 10-751 60 00

info@sj.se, www.sj@.se

Contact Information
SJ AB
www.sj.se
Address for visitors:
Centralplan 19, Stockholm
Postal address:
SE-105 50 Stockholm
Tel: +46 10-751 60 00
info@sj.se

SJ Norrlandståg AB
Address for visitors:
Centralplan 19, Stockholm
Postal address:
Box 255
SE-105 50 Stockholm
Tel: +46 10-751 60 00
norrlandstag@sj.se

Stockholmståg KB
www.stockholmstag.se
Address for visitors:
Klarabergsviadukten 49,
Stockholm
Postal address:
Box 505
SE-101 30 Stockholm
Tel: +46 8-562 242 00
info@stockholmstag.se

SJ Service Academy AB
www.sjserviceacademy.se
Address for visitors:
Telegrafgatan 8A, Solna
Postal address:
Box 3147
SE-169 03 Solna
Tel: +46 10-751 87 70
bokning@sjserviceacademy.se

SJ Event AB
www.sjevent.se
Address for visitors:
Telegrafgatan 8A, Solna
Postal address:
Box 3117
SE-169 03 Solna
Tel: +46 8-522 504 50
event@sj.se

Linkon AB
www.linkon.se
Address for visitors/ 
Postal address:
Vasagatan 11
SE-111 20 Stockholm
Tel: +46 8-789 33 00
kontakt@linkon.se
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Reports 2012

For the 2011 financial year, SJ publishes an Annual 

Report, a Sustainability Report and a Corporate Gover-

nance Report. All reports are available at www.sj.se

The printed version of the annual report is available 

from: SJ AB Kommunikation, SE-105 50 Stockholm, 

Sweden; or info@sj.se

If you have any questions, please contact Ulrika Lindell on 

+46 (0) 10-751 50 84.

The Annual Report was produced by SJ in association with 

Publicera Information AB.

Layout and illustrations: Dan Larsson.

Graphic production: Nina Gylling.

Photos: Bsmart, Kasper Dudzik, Patrik Engström,  

Stefan Nilsson, Claes Salomonsson and Erik Svensson.
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Thanks to all customers and employees who contributed 

to this Annual Report.




